
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

Children's Service Advisory Committee 

 
 
THURSDAY, 5TH JANUARY, 2006 at 18:00 HRS - CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH ROAD, WOOD 
GREEN. 
 
 
MEMBERS: Councillors Meehan (Chair), Harris, Adamou, Adje, Bax, Jean Brown, 

Hoban, Engert, Santry and Stanton 
 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
 
1. URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 The Chair will consider the admission of any late item (s) of urgent business. Late 

item (s) will be considered under the agenda item where they appear. New items will 
be dealt with at item 12 below 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)    
 
3. MINUTES  (PAGES 1 - 4)  
 
 To confirm and sign the minutes of the Advisory Committee held on 28 November 

2005 (copy attached) 
 

4. DEPUTATIONS/PETITIONS/PRESENTATIONS/QUESTIONS    
 
 To consider any requests received in accordance with Standing Orders.  

 
5. MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  (PAGES 5 - 86)  
 
 A) To inform Members of the findings and recommendations of the Tavistock 

Clinic’s CAMHS Looked After Children and Adolescents Needs 
Assessment report; and 

B) To inform Members of the process of making the “Care Stories” video of 
looked after adolescents and progress in developing this into a formal 
training package. 

 



 

2 

6. NOVEMBER 2005 PERFORMANCE DATA FOR THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES  
(PAGES 87 - 100)  

 
 (Report of the Director of Children’s Services): To inform Members of the 

performance of the Children’s Service against national and local indicators. 
 

7. THE ADOPTION AND CHILDREN ACT 2002  (PAGES 101 - 108)  
 
 (Report of the Director of Children’s Services) To provide Members with an 

understanding of the key changes brought about by the implementation of the 
Adoption and children Act 2002. 
 

8. APA ASSESSMENT REPORT: CHILDREN'S SERVICES  (PAGES 109 - 126)  
 
 (Report of the Director of Children’s Services): The report on the APA final 

judgements 2005 is attached. 
 

9. FRAMEWORK I - UPDATE  (PAGES 127 - 132)  
 
 (Report of the Director of Children’s Services): To provide members with a briefing on 

the training and support provided to Children’s Services staff prior to and since the 
implementation of  Framework i. 
 

10. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN IN EDUCATION  (PAGES 133 - 138)  
 
 (Report of the Director of Children’s Services) - To update Members on progress 

towards implementing the DfES guidance “Safeguarding Children in Education” 
specifically in relation to the responsibilities of schools. 
 

11. DISCRIMINATORY INCIDENTS  (PAGES 139 - 158)  
 
 (Report of the Director of  Children’s Services) 

 
12. URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 To deal with any new item (s) of urgent business admitted at item 2 above. 

 
 
 
YUNIEA SEMAMBO  
Head of Member Services  
5th Floor 
River Park House  
225 High Road  
Wood Green  
London N22 8HQ 
 

Roy Wade 
Principal Support Officer 
Tel: 020-8489 2919 
Fax: 020-8881 5218 
Email: roy.wade@haringey.gov.uk 
 

 
 



 

3 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
28 NOVEMBER 2005 

           
Councillors *Meehan (Chair), Adamou, *Adje, *Bax, Jean Brown, *Engert, *Harris,*Hoban, 
*Santry and Stanton. 
 
* Members present 
 
  
 
MINUTE SUBJECT/DECISION               ACTION  
NO.                  BY  
 

CSAC27. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Councillor Adamou 
   

 
 
HMS 

CSAC28. MINUTES (Agenda Item 4 ) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2005 were confirmed 
and signed by The Chair 
 

 
 
 
 
HMS 

CSAC29. SEPTEMBER/OCTOBER 2005 - PERFORMANCE DATA FOR 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES (Agenda Item 6 ): 
 
We received the report of the Director of Children’s Services on 
performance details for September and October, which contained key 
performance data relating to children looked after, child protection, 
referrals and assessments, family support and staffing for members of the 
committee to consider.  The data was compared to key performance 
indicators, which the Council was obliged to meet and contained the 
statutory requirements and local time scales for meeting these targets. 
 
We were informed that there had been 195 referrals received in the month 
of September and 227 in October. The outturn for 2004/5 was 50.6% and 
the average of the Council’s comparator was 55.4% and the current year 
to date position was 57.5%. The Committee had conveyed its concern at 
the speed of which assessments were being completed at the last meeting 
and the Officers were pleased that the situation continued to improve and 
was now above 60%. We were informed by the Officers that this issue 
continued to be a priority and that measures introduced to improve 
performance in this area would continue to be monitored.  
In response to a question raised by a Member the Officers undertook to 
include within future reports to Committee the information placed before 
Fostering Panels especially in respect of the views of the children placed. 
David Holmes referred to the concerns raised by the Leader and indicated 
that he would report to the next meeting preparation of the project plan 
prior to its implementation. The Officers undertook also to address the 
issues highlighted by the Chair on the need for a protocol to encompass 
all the agencies involved in the protection of children and young persons.   
 
 In respect of paragraph 9.5 and “key thresholds” we noted the excellent 
results that had been obtained and the Officers confirmed to the Chair that 
a progress report would be submitted to the January 2006 meeting.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
28 NOVEMBER 2005 

We discussed the difficulties of recruiting permanent staff and noted the 
need to rely on the appointment of agency staff. We noted that the 
position in Haringey was mirrored across pan London authorities. 
The Officers were requested to report in detail to the January 2006 
meeting on the use of agency staff and the conversion of such staff to 
permanent employees directly appointed by the Council. The report would 
also set out the findings of the joint working party on the exit strategies 
undertaken when staff resign. In discussing this aspect of the employment 
of agency staff we noted the assurances of the Officers that agency staff 
were fully qualified and committed to caring for children. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1.  That we note and endorse the contents of the report. 
 
2. That future reports to Committee contain details of the views 

of children in a similar way to the reports made to the 
Fostering panels.  

3. That a report be submitted to the next meeting on the 
progress in formulating and implementing a Project Plan. 

4. That a report be provided to the committee in January setting 
out protocols that ensure that the various Council child 
agencies/departments are aware of any possible overlap in 
dealing with a child’s case.  

5. That a report on staffing be made to the January 2006 
meeting to include details of the long term employment of 
agency staff and the conversion rate of agency to permanent 
members of staff. 

6. That a report be submitted to the next meeting of the 
committee on all aspects of the adoption service. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CH/DH 
 
 
 
DH/CH 
 
 
CH/DH 
 
 
 
CH/DH 
 
 
CH/DH 
 

CSAC30. IMPACT OF THE ADOPTION ACT – Report of the Director of Children’s 
Services withdrawn. (Agenda Item 7). 
 

 
 
 

CSAC31. FRAMEWORK 1 UPDATE -  (Report of the Director of Children’s Services 
– not circulated or tabled - Agenda Item 8):  
 
The Director of Children’s Services to report to the next meeting and to 
advise also on why the report was not circulated to this meeting. 
 

 
Dir CS 
 
 
 
 

CSAC32. UPDATE ON CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN (Agenda item 9) 
Following discussion of the report the Chair, Councillor Meehan asked that 
the Officers report to the next meeting on the impact of these proposals on 
health service requirements for information sharing. 

Dir CS 

CSAC33. THE MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
We received a video presentation on the mental health needs of 5 looked 
after children from the area of the Borough of Haringey. 
Following the presentation the Officers responded to a series of questions 
raised by Members. The questions dealt with 

 

Page 2



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
28 NOVEMBER 2005 

i) Whether a child had a comprehensive case file that covered the 
child regardless of the various placements whether inside or 
outside of Haringey. 

ii) An ethnic breakdown of the numbers of children in care, 
iii) The need to ensure continuity and consistency of care for children, 
iv) The continual need for the Council to review its services to reflect 

particularly the needs of vulnerable children, 
v) The need for more adequate accommodation to allow for the 

recruitment and retention of staff to provide the service. (The 
Chair reported upon initiatives being pursued to address this 
problem). 

vi) In response to interruption from members of the public the officers 
reported that their primary objective was to care for troubled 
children and that in doing so they had regard to the children but 
to the parents, foster parents, carers and the children’s and 
social services. 

 
The Chair thanked the officers for the video presentation and for 
responding to the questions raised by Members and also placed 
on record the council’s appreciation for the professional service 
they were providing and for the building of a secure and sound 
relationship with vulnerable children.  

 
 
GEORGE MEEHAN 
Chair 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



  

1 

       
      Agenda Item   

 

 Name of Meeting    CSAC         On   5 January 2006 

 

 
Report title:   Child and Adolescent Mental Health – 
                      LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN & ADOLESCENTS  

NEEDS ASSESSMENT REPORT 
 

 
Report of: Director of The Children’s Service  
 

Ward(s) affected:  All  
  

Report for: Information 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To inform members of the findings and recommendations of the Tavistock Clinic’s 
 CAMHS Looked After Children & Adolescents Needs Assessment Report. 
1.2 To inform members of the process of making the ‘Care Stories’ video of looked after 
 adolescents and progress in developing this into a formal training package. 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That members note the report and support the conclusions and recommendations. 

 
Report authorised by:   Sharon Shoesmith 
              Director 
    The Children's Service 
 
  
           
 

 
Contact officer:   Marion Wheeler (Service Manager, Children & Families)  
marion.wheeler@haringey.gov.uk 0208 489 1084 

3. Executive Summary 
   
3.1 In January 2003, Haringey Social Services, in partnership with the Haringey Teaching 
 Primary Care Trust and the Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health Trust, 
 commissioned the Tavistock Clinic to set up a small CAMHS team to provide clinical 
 services to Haringey’s looked after children and adolescents (LACA) and to undertake 
 a needs assessment of their emotional and mental health needs.  
3.2  Previous Committee reports have outlined the establishment and development of the 
 LACA CAMHS team; this report sets out the background, methodology, findings and 
 conclusions of the needs assessment report, including the making of the ‘Care Stories’ 
 video. 

Agenda Item 5Page 5



  

2 

 
4. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 
4.1 The development of the new service followed issue of the government guidance on 
 the National Service Framework for CAMHS and development of national CAMHS 
 priorities as set out in the CAMHS modernisation fund guidance. 
 

5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 Framework for the Assessment of Children In Need (2000) 
Every Child Matters: Outcomes Framework 
www.everychildmatters.gov.uk  
Haringey Children  & Young People’s Plan 2005/06 
Children’s National Service Framework 2004 
CAMHS Standards National Framework October 2004 
 
 

 
6.   Background 
6.1 National research has consistently demonstrated the high level of mental health 

problems experienced by looked after children and the lack of adequate resources 
to meet these needs. Within Haringey those difficulties have been compounded by 
demographic features, a high level of placement breakdowns and the historically 
low level of CAMHS provision for LACA. 

 
6.2 Concerns about this gap in provision led Haringey Children’s Service to 

commission the Tavistock Clinic to establish a small looked after children CAMHS 
team, whilst also undertaking a detailed needs assessment. 

 
7.    Description 
 
7.1 Research aims:  

• To identify and consider what needs to be provided for Haringey LACA to ensure 
their emotional well being. 

• To provide a starting point for dialogue and exchange between all those involved 
in the care of looked after children and adolescents within Haringey. 

 
The intention was to address, not only the facts and figures, but also the 
perceptions and views of key stakeholders; whilst at the same time providing an 
intervention into the ‘looked after’ system.  

 
The following summarises findings from different components of the needs 
assessment project, before outlining key conclusions and recommendations.  

 
7.2 Care Stories: The Voice of the Young People:  

7.2.1 It was crucial to hear what the main “users” thought about the services; what 
they thought was needed. We wanted to make this the cornerstone of the 
needs assessment and to enable them to make a powerful intervention into the 
system. It can, however, be difficult to elicit views from young people, and we 
thought they would find it easier to talk to people not involved with the 
provision of any of the services. 

 
7.2.2  We used links with staff/students working on documentary making at London 

Metropolitan University; obtaining all necessary consents to make a video 

Page 6



  

3 

about their experiences of being in care. The video was made with 7 young 
people from the Leaving Care Service, using an oral history/narrative 
methodology. Many hours of footage were shot and edited by staff and 
students into key themes. The final product, a twenty-minute video, is a moving 
description of the experiences of these young people. Longer narrative 
excerpts from individual young people were subsequently extracted and 
digitally recorded. 

 
7.2.3 The video has been shown at different screenings, including the local 

Stakeholder Conference for the emotional and mental health needs of LACA. It 
emphasises the importance of addressing the emotional aspects of being in 
care; highlighting, not only the distress and trauma of looked after children, but 
also their desire to be listened to and heard. We believe it crucial that the voice 
of young people be heard when planning services and transcribed their words 
for Chapter 1 of the full report. 

  
7.3 Facts and Figures: The Voice of the Researcher:  

Chapter 2 pulls together research data about the service in Haringey and across 
Britain.  We start by defining what is meant by mental health, and draw on 
research data to look at the mental health needs of looked after children/young 
people, including unaccompanied minors and refugees. Taking into account 
Haringey’s demographic profile, we estimate resource requirements of a mental 
health service for Haringey LACA and compare this to that provided in the first 
year of the new LACA CAMHS team.  

 
7.4  Focus Groups: The Voice of Local Stakeholders:  

Nineteen focus groups were held representing different teams within the service, 
from the Adoption team to the Youth Offending Service Managers.  Children in 
one of the Haringey Council residential homes had a focus group of their own; 
similarly there was a focus group for local foster carers.  Participants were asked 
about their experiences and about the needs of children and adolescents in care.  
As a focal point, key stages of care were identified around which needs could be 
discussed and there was space for general and specific discussion.  Chapter 3 
provides a detailed account of the findings of these groups. 

 
7.5 The Conference: Bringing Colleagues together:  

We became aware of the numbers of professionals and agencies involved in the 
looked after care system and of the many misconceptions about each other’s 
contributions and focus.  Accordingly, we organised a conference, with the title: the 
Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents. We saw the 
conference as an opportunity for people across the borough to meet up and talk 
about the contributions made by different teams. It was also an opportunity to show 
the video of the young people to a large audience. The report on the conference is 
the focus of Chapter 4. 

 
7.6 Working with Emotional Well-being in mind: The LACA CAMHS team:  

While providing a CAMHS service, we tried to bear in mind how this fitted into the 
service as a whole.  We saw it as another way of undertaking a needs assessment, 
by examining and reviewing the impact of providing mental health resources. We 
provided a range of interventions, responding to referrers’ needs as well as those 
of carers and LACA.  Chapter 5 gives examples of our work in response to different 
types of referrals, providing a flavour of our clinical interventions and our reactions 
to the work.    

Page 7



  

4 

 
7.7 Summary of focus groups and conference:  

• Resources: Whilst the short-fall in resources is real, providing the context for many of 
the difficulties and complaints raised by young people and stakeholders, feelings 
about resources (particularly money) also symbolised the enormous difficulty of the 
work and the insatiable needs which resources alone cannot meet.    

• The ongoing impact of the death of Victoria Climbié and the Laming Inquiry: Though 
often unspoken, the other reality that pervaded the focus groups and conference was 
the ongoing impact of the death of Victoria Climbié.  People felt blamed, criticised for 
doing too much or for not doing enough. There was a general sense of not being 
able to get it right. 

• ‘Splitting’ between teams: This culture of blame and criticism mirrored the conflict 
within the families of origin of many looked after children.  However, it also created a 
splitting between different teams that was particularly evident from the focus groups.  

• Fragmentation: The vast array of professionals and agencies fragments care and 
adds to the potential for ‘splitting’.  Many staff did not fully understand the working of 
the care system with all the interconnecting groups and teams. Communication was 
a problem throughout. We wondered whether the system of care, with so many 
teams working independently, aided or hindered communication between groups. 

• Helplessness, powerlessness and impotence: Many of these difficulties were 
acknowledged by staff at all levels in the system.  Powerlessness to influence the 
system was mirrored by helplessness in relation to the multitude of emotional needs 
that the young people present.   

• Pain: Dealing with these young people has its price for workers.  The plea of the 
young people in the video was, “Care for us”.  It seemed clear that workers did care. 
There was a wish to look after children better, but a feeling of being unable to do so 
and disappointment that their care, at times, did not make anything better.  We 
wondered what additional support systems might be necessary for staff.   

• Mental health needs: The focus groups and conference confirmed not only the high 
level of need, but also the lack of adequate resources to meet the mental health 
needs of looked after children and young people and to support the carers and staff 
involved.  

• The future: There was some – if muted – optimism about future possibilities; the 
conference ended with a positive atmosphere, a sense that it is possible for 
professionals to connect with each other and with the children.   

 
8.   Summary and Conclusions  
 
8.1 Recommendations for the LACA CAMHS team: 

The needs assessment exercise identified a significant shortfall within Haringey in 
the provision of CAHMS services to support primary care workers in offering tier 1 
provision or to enable a sufficient (and sufficiently diverse) response to the 203 
LACA requiring tier 2 or 3 services.  

• To provide a robust and responsive service that can combine offering support to 
primary care workers (tier 1) with direct services for LACA with mental health 
disorders (tier 2/3), the LACA CAMHS service needed to be increased and 
diversified. 

• Increased diversity within the staff group would enable the team to extend the 
range of services provided to LACA and to workers/ carers and permit increased 
accessibility of and to the team. 

• We recommended a 150% increase in funding to allow the service to reach 42% 
of the LACA population.  With the additional service provided by the BEH MHT St 

Page 8



  

5 

Ann’s team and the Adolescent Outreach Team this would bring service provision 
closer to the 67% prevalence rate of mental health need.   

 
 
8.2  Developing other parts of the looked after children system: 

Supporting the emotional well-being of LACA:  

• Reducing the numbers of different professionals working directly with each child, 
thus providing a more integrated service;  

• Ensuring LACA get sufficient, timely and accessible information about themselves, 
plans for their care, their options and where to get further and specific support;  

• For emotional well being to be a prioritised part of assessments, reviews and other 
progress reports undertaken by professionals. 

 

Supporting workers and carers in providing care:  

• Training in child/ adolescent development and mental health; creating interagency 
training/ development programmes to promote integration; post-qualifying training 
for social workers on the needs of LACA and their carers.   

• Clinical supervision and staff support: To provide opportunities for front-line 
workers to acknowledge feelings/ difficulties, learn from mistakes and explore the 
impact of the work, issues of role and the use of authority. 

• Policy and procedures: Reviewing work loads; developing a more empowering 
culture where professional judgement can be used and risk owned and managed.  

 
Strengthening the system:  

To consider ways of promoting integration of different staff groups:   

• Strengthen procedures for communicating facts; disentangling fact from fantasy. 

• Creating greater links between parts of the system and improving transition 
between parts.  

• Regular meetings across services to increase communication/understanding and 
think about ways of improving effectiveness.   

• Establishing groups of practitioners from different agencies to focus on corporate 
parenting and developing a model that reduces the numbers of staff involved.   

 
8.3 Recommendations for reducing placement breakdowns: 

• Providing consultancy to foster carers/residential staff to explore the factors 
underlying placement breakdowns and develop strategies to reduce the rate of 
breakdown. 

• Increasing the involvement of CAMHS staff in foster care selection/ training, 
matching processes, post-placement support 

 
8.4 Disseminating the video and report: 

To build on the Needs Assessment and the interest it has generated, the findings of 
this report need wide dissemination – not only to those who participated in the focus 
groups and/or conference – but also to staff at all levels within the looked after 
children network.  One way of doing this would be to have a dissemination 
conference; this, in itself, would be an additional intervention to take the work forward.  

  
8.5 Subsequent developments 

• Since this report was published, Haringey Children’s Services, via the CAMHS 
grant, has significantly increased funding to the LACA CAMHS team from £130k 
to £280, i.e. 115%, thus enabling a significant increase in staffing for the project.  
This large increase in staffing is gradually being fulfilled, although not all are yet in 

Page 9



  

6 

place.  This goes a long way towards the recommended 150%.  The project, now 
115% bigger, has accommodation problems, which need also to be resolved.   
This in turn may have financial implications.   

• With additional funding from the Tavistock Clinic and Haringey Children’s Service, 
the Care Stories video is in the process of being developed into a national training 
package. 

 
 
9. Legal and Financial Comments  
 
9.1 Comments of Head of Legal Services 
 

Under section 10 of the Children Act 2004, the children’s services authority is 
required to promote co-operation with its partners and others with a view to 
improving the physical, mental health and emotional well-being of children in its area. 
 
The recommendations in this report will help facilitate the discharge of that and other 
statutory duties towards looked after children and also assist the implementation of 
Standard 9 of the National Service Framework for Children, Young People and 
Maternity Services which requires that: 
 

All children and young people, from birth to their eighteenth birthday, who have 
mental health problems and disorders, have access to timely, integrated, high 
quality, multidisci8plinary mental health services to ensure effective assessment, 
treatment and support, for them and their families. 

 
Although these standards are not statutory, they set out good practice and the local 
authority should have regard to them when designing, commissioning and delivering 
services. 

 
9.2 Comments of Director of Finance 
 

The CAHMS grant has already increased funding to the LACA.  The subsequent 
developments particularly related to accommodation may or may not have financial 
implications; however, these are yet to be quantified. 

 
 
10. Equality Implications 
 
10.1 Looked after children have for many years had statistically considerably worse life 

chances in terms of health, mental health, educational achievement, employment 
chances, homelessness and risk of offending and imprisonment than children in 
the general population. Children from black and other ethnic minority groups are 
over represented in the care population and can experience a ‘double jeopardy’ 
effect. Strategies to improve support and services to these children and their 
families and carers are essential if the improvement in their life chances is to be 
achieved and sustained. 

 
 
   

Page 10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The Emotional Well-Being of Looked 

After Children and Adolescents  
 

 
 

 
 

 

            Gabriella Braun    Independent  Focus  Group  Consultant 

Deirdre Moylan    CAMHS – LACA Team (Tavistock Clinic ) 

Liz Webb               CAMHS – LACA Team (Tavistock Clinic ) 
 

                                              December 2004 

 

NEEDS ASSESSMENT REPORT: 

 

Commissioned on behalf of  

Haringey Social Services 
 

Page 11



 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prologue:          Page 2  

 

Introduction: Purpose and Design of this Report      Page 3  

 

Chapter 1: Care Stories: The Voice of the Young People   Page 8  

 

Chapter 2: Facts and Figures: The Voice of the Researcher   Page 14 

  

Chapter 3: Focus Groups: The Voice of the Local Stakeholders   Page 30 

 

Chapter 4: Report on the Conference: Bringing Colleagues Together  Page 50 

 

Chapter 5: Working With Emotional Well-Being in Mind: 

  The Voice of the Tavistock/Haringey LACA-CAMHS Team Page 57 

 

Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations:  Looking to the Future  Page 65 

 

 

 

Appendix 1: Acknowledgements       Page 74 

 

Appendix 2: References         Page 75 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CONTENTS: 
 

 

Page 12



 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tasks of the Report: 
 

• To identify and consider what needs to be provided for Looked 

After Children and Adolescents (LACA) to ensure their emotional 

Well-Being.   
 

• To provide a starting point for dialogue and exchange between all 

those involved in the care of children and adolescents who are 

Looked-After.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      Who is the Report For? 

 

• All those involved in the care of Looked After Children and 

Adolescents   

 

• and who are concerned to ensure that emotional well-being is at 

the forefront when planning services, day-to-day care and 

interventions in relation to Looked After Children and Adolescents   
 
  

 

 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

PROLOGUE: 
 

 

Page 13



 3 

 

 

 

 

The commissioning of this Needs Assessment Report came about following discussions 

between the Service Manager, Marion Wheeler, authorised by David Derbyshire, Deputy 

Director of Children’s services, and some of the team from the Tavistock Clinic who had 

been involved in a very small project offering on-going psychotherapy to interested Looked 

After adolescents in Haringey.   Not many Looked After young people are attracted to this 

option, as at this point in their lives there is often too much disruption, and they cannot see 

the point of it.   We became aware, however, during the course of this project, of a huge 

unmet need in relation to mental health / emotional well-being in the looked-after population.  

We thought we could go some way towards meeting this need by providing a different type 

of service.  However, we were approaching it from the perspective of a specialist mental 

health team.  We were conscious that there were other perspectives, and planning a service 

would need to take into account viewpoints different to our own.   

 

Meanwhile, Haringey commissioning plans included a similar wish to develop a different 

type of service, which would be responsive to the needs of those who were Looked After.  

We agreed to work together, and the Haringey – Tavistock LACA-CAMHS team was 

developed, initially commissioned for one year (2003-2004), and then re-commissioned for a 

further three years (2004-2007).  The brief included provision of a service, but also 

undertaking a needs assessment exercise.  This Report is the result of that exercise.  Our brief 

was to undertake a needs assessment specifically in relation to emotional well-being in 

children and young people who are Looked After.  There are many other aspects to a Looked 

After service; these are beyond the scope of the Report.  We would like to acknowledge the 

creativity of the commissioners, particularly Marion Wheeler and David Derbyshire, in 

requesting and supporting a needs assessment exercise that would cover not only the facts 

and figures but also seek out the opinions of people involved in all the layers of the service, 

to be integrated into the final picture of what is needed.    

 

Throughout, we have worked with and reported to a Steering Group, consisting of Marion 

Wheeler in role, together with the lead workers in relevant Social Services Departments, 

Alison Botham, Clive Preece, Rachel Oakley, and the Service manager for Haringey 

CAMHS at St Ann’s, Shaun Collins.   

 

We approached the project from a number of different perspectives, trying to incorporate 

views from across the service, including the service users, the young people themselves; the 

various teams involved in working with Looked After children and adolescents; our own 

perspective as a mental health service provider; the foster carers; and previous research into 

this area.   

 

 Terminology: 
Before proceeding, we’d like to say a work about the terms used to describe the services:  

nationally and locally people refer to LAC, i.e. Looked After Children.  However, as the 

statistics later will indicate, many of those who are Looked After are adolescents.  It is our 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

INTRODUCTION: 
 

The purpose and design of this Report 
 

Page 14



 4 

experience in work in mental health that often the needs of adolescents, particularly the older 

adolescents, are given less priority than the needs of younger children.   We think it is 

important to keep the distinctive needs of adolescents firmly in mind, and so we have 

adopted the acronym LACA, standing for Looked After Children and Adolescents.  Where 

we refer to other reports and to services other than our own, we retain the usual term of LAC, 

as this is the term they have used.   

 

 

 The User Perspective: 
Firstly we wanted to hear what the main “users” of the service thought about it, and what was 

needed.  It is not however easy to just elicit views from young people, particularly those who 

have had such a history of disruption and who may be suspicious of our motives.   We 

thought it would be easier for them to talk to people who were not involved with any part of 

the services, who could be seen as neutral.  We also wanted to ensure that what they had to 

say was the cornerstone of the needs assessment, and wanted to enable them to make a 

powerful intervention into the system of which they were a part.    

 

We made links with staff and students working on documentary making at London 

Metropolitan University (Sir John Cass Department of Art and Design and the Department of 

Applied Social Sciences).  We obtained all the appropriate consents to go ahead and make a 

video about the experience of being in care with a Local Authority.   During a series of social 

encounters which we arranged, students from the University got to know the volunteers who 

had agreed to participate in the project.  The video was made with  7 young people from the 

Leaving Care Service.  Many hours of footage were shot, and this was edited by the students 

into themes.  The final product was twenty minutes long, and was a moving description of 

the experiences of these young people, who had each spent many years being looked after in 

residential and foster homes.
 1

      

 

The video has been shown to a variety of people working in this field in different screenings, 

including a conference (see below).   We believe it helps emphasise the importance of taking 

into consideration the emotional aspects of being in care, and those who have seen it have 

commented on how much they have learned from it.  As we believe that the voice of the 

young people themselves should be heard clearly when planning services, we have 

transcribed their words, and include them in full as the first chapter of this Report: Care 

Stories: the Voice of the Young People.    

 

 

 Putting it all into Context:   
No needs assessment can ignore the context in which a service survives or thrives.  Chapter 

Two, Fact and Figures: the Voice of the Researcher, pulls together significant amounts of 

data, both about the service in Haringey and across Britain.   We start with attempting to 

define what is meant by mental health, and then look at what might be the specific mental 

health needs of the populations of young people who are looked after, unaccompanied minors 

and refugees, based on research data.  Taking the demographic profile of Haringey’s 

population into account, we try to estimate the resource requirements of a mental health 

service for Haringey and then compare this to the service we provided in the first year of the 

new Tavistock-Haringey LACA-CAMHS team.     

 

 

  

                                                 
1
 Video footage was also shot of foster carers’ experiences.  This material was not edited in time for the 

Conference and was not included in the original video available; a later version does include this material.  

However it was not on hand when this Report was being prepared.  

Page 15



 5 

 

What do those who work with LACA in Haringey think about the service provided? 

 
Chapter Three, Focus Groups: the Voice of the Local Stakeholders, relates a very important 

piece of work that was undertaken as part of this exercise.  We wanted to hear from those 

intimately involved in the work at all levels of the service.  What was their experience of 

working with this population, and within this service?   We tried to arrange a Focus Group 

for each team involved, conducted by independent consultants who have nothing to do with 

the service.  In all, nineteen focus groups 
2
 were held representing disparate teams within the 

service, from the Adoption team to the Youth Offending Team Managers.  Once again it was 

important to us to include those who were Looked After themselves in this exercise, and the 

children in one of the residential homes had a Focus Group of their own.  Similarly there was 

a Focus Group for Foster Carers so that the views of this group, hugely important to this 

work, could be represented.   Participants were asked about their experiences, and asked in 

the context of needs assessment to identify key needs for children and adolescents in care.  

As a focal point, key stages of care were identified around which needs could be discussed. 

There was space for general and specific discussion with the neutral consultants who were 

both professionals without connections to either social services or health.    

 

Summarising the information obtained in nineteen focus groups is no easy task, and the 

participants had plenty to say.  The chapter tries to group the results under key needs which 

were identified.  Direct quotes from participants are used where possible, and links are made 

to similar ideas quoted by the young people in the video, to underline the similarity of 

positions from givers and receivers of the service.   

 

This chapter concludes with some personal views from the consultant (Gabriella Braun) who 

conducted eighteen of the nineteen Focus Groups.   She was in a unique position to obtain an 

overview of the services, and she has given us her reactions to her findings in a candid and 

sincere account.   

 

 

 Interprofessional and Interagency communication and cooperation: 
Very early on in our work we became aware of the numbers of professionals and agencies 

involved.  We made links with relevant groups, both as part of the on-going work around 

particular clients referred to us, but also to engage in general discussions about the work we 

were all involved in.  One of these interagency groups still continues, where the LACA-

CAMHS team meets bi-monthly with LAC Health and LAC Education.   Discussions about a 

shared assessment framework contributed to the formation of a new interagency group which 

also now meets regularly with development of shared assessment as one of its primary tasks.   

 

However, we became aware that many of the groups do not necessarily meet up, and that 

there were many misconceptions about each others’ contributions and focus.  Accordingly, 

we organised a Conference, with the title: the Emotional Well-Being of Looked After 

Children and Adolescents.  Participants from every part of the service were invited.   We saw 

the Conference as an opportunity for people all across the Borough to meet up and hear about 

or tell about the contributions made by the different teams.  It was also an opportunity to 

show the video of the young people to a large audience.  The Report on the Conference is the 

focus of Chapter Four. 

 

                                                 
2
 Within the timeframe, unfortunately it was not possible to make the arrangements for a Focus Group for every 

team we had wanted to include, and a few were left out.  However we are reasonably sure that we have covered 

a sufficiently wide range of services to gain a good overview of how the service is seen, and what people would 

like to see in a service focusing on the mental health needs of LACA in Haringey.    

Page 16



 6 

 

 The dedicated mental health intervention 

 
While providing a CAMHS service, we tried to keep in mind how this fitted into the service 

as a whole for LACA.  We saw it as another way of undertaking a needs assessment, by 

examining and reviewing the impact of providing mental health resources, and noting the 

responses to this as we went along.   We tried to provide a range of interventions, in a service 

that tried to be responsive to referrers’ needs as well as the needs of carers and LACA.  What 

we did is described in Chapter 5: Working with Emotional Well-Being in Mind: the Voice of 

the Tavistock / Haringey LACA-CAMHS team.   Examples of our work in response to 

different types of referrals are given, to give the reader a flavour of our clinical interventions 

and our reaction to the work.    

 

 

 Recommendations: 

 
Finally, in Chapter 6, we offer some recommendations, coming out of the variety of needs 

assessment activities reported in the preceding chapters.   We, inevitably perhaps, found this 

the hardest chapter to write.  Along the way, we have had all sorts of “weird and wonderful” 

ideas about how a service might incorporate emotional well-being of its clients into its 

structures and thinking.  The reality of course is that if it were that easy, it would have been 

done long ago.  We are aware of the particular difficulties for large organisations that have 

statutory responsibilities.  We know that resources are limited, and there is great competition 

for what is available.  And we know about “restructuring fatigue” that besets Public Sector 

organisations these days.    

 

We have tried therefore to offer ideas that have a realistic expectation of achievement, that 

incorporate thinking from many sectors, and that we hope will seem sensitive to the ideas we 

have heard as we went along.   

 

We hope our suggestions will be helpful, and that they might be incorporated into an organic 

development of the overall service that is already underway. 

 

Our recommendations about a potential mental health service for LACA are more specific, as 

this is a newly developing service.   In relation to other areas of the service we offer ideas 

about what we think might be helpfully included in strategy discussions and policy fora, 

where those intimately involved in the developments of the future have a voice.  We will be 

happy to discuss any of these ideas and recommendations further in any appropriate contexts.   

 

The Report concludes with two appendices: our acknowledgements of those who helped,  

and a Referrence list.   

 

 

Confidentiality  

 
It was important to us to respect confidentiality throughout.  However the young people in 

the video have given permission for their first names to be used and so we have attributed 

their own comments to them.   

 

Where we have used examples from clinical work, we have given fictitious names and 

changed details, in order to protect identities.   

 

Page 17



 7 

In the reports from the focus groups and also from the conference, we have not named any 

individuals or attributed any quotes to particular people.  Where it seemed necessary we 

attributed quotes to particular groups, but generally left them unattributed.  We have tried to 

quote exact words, as clearly as they were remembered when writing up notes after the 

sessions, but inevitably there will be some inaccuracy in this.  However we have tried to 

convey the spirit of what was said as clearly as possible.    

Page 18



 8 

 

 

 
At least sit down and listen them and try to work them out, they want it, you know, 

those kids in care do want to be heard. (Mehmet). 

 

 
Listening to children 
 

Please … when you’re working with a young adult or a young kid, please first of all sit down 

and listen them, please try to understand them, then even if they are in a way wrong or right, 

judge them with them, not just judge on their behalf and … please try to like them, because if 

you don’t like them and if you don’t like what you’re doing and you’re only doing it for the 

pay check at the end of the month, please just don’t do it. (Mehmet). 

 

If Haringey just listened to people and actually made the people feel like they were going to 

do something about what these people are telling them, not just listen and go away and do 

nothing and think ‘oh, this is just another problem child’. (Catherine). 

 

What workers do affects that child, it’s going to affect that child for … the rest of his or her 

life. So they should take the time to think the decisions they make through. (Richard). 

 

 

 

Entering care  
 

I never really got to know my mum or dad. I don’t even know my Mum’s name. In a way, 

she’s more like an un-existent person who just gave birth to me. (Suad) 

 

I lived with my mum and we never got on and so I lived with my dad, we never got on, so the 

only option he had was to put me with foster people. (Linda). 

 

I was in secondary school at the time, so I come back from my PSE lesson and …they did all 

like the violence in the home and … something clicked in my brain and said to me ‘I 

shouldn’t be going through what they do at home. I’m supposed to be reporting this’. So I 

went to a police station and I didn’t want to go back home, so I didn’t go back home. (Carol). 

 

Basically, that was around the time my Mum died and it was me and my younger brother and 

it wasn’t a very happy time. But we got put into care because, you know, there was a whole 

lot of problems with the person that we were staying with, so basically, yeah, we both got put 

into care. (Catherine). 

 

My mum told me that the reason that she had to put me in care was because my dad was sort 

of hitting her and, ‘cos I was so young, she was worried that he was going to start … 

mistreating me as well. So then she put me in care. (Richard). 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 1:  CARE  STORIES: 
 

The voice of the young people 
 

Page 19



 9 

And at that time I was still 12, I was just near enough to my thirteenth birthday party and 

that’s when I went into hospital and everything came out and … Social Services really got 

involved and I met my foster mum on the 6
th

 March 1998. (Edna). 

 

How do I say it, I had to leave home. I had to break away from the people I love and the 

people I hate. Basically, it was quite tough in the first place moving to live with strangers. 

(Mehmet). 

 

 

 

Living with strangers 
 

I didn’t know this woman, I felt very uncomfortable, I mean she was really nice and all that, 

but because … I didn’t know her and she wasn’t my family, I didn’t feel right, I didn’t want 

to take off my jacket when I was in the house, I slept in my jacket, I woke up in my jacket, I 

wouldn’t even want to use her bathroom or nothing like that, but after a while, I got used to 

her still, so. (Linda) 

 

My first foster carer system was in Finsbury Park. I remember that one because that one I did 

not understand at all … I was about 10 years old and I moved into her house and the lady was 

very nice, but she had an older daughter and at that time she was attending college or 

whatever it was and she was nice to me, but she was … like a person who would say to you: 

‘Here’s your bedroom, here’s your knife, here’s your fork, here’s your spoon and here’s your 

plate and here’s your bowl and here’s your cup’. She would name everything after you and 

she would tell you: ‘Right and you’re not allowed to touch this and you’re not allowed to 

touch that and you’re not allowed to touch this’. That’s the kind of rules she gave me, instead 

of saying: ‘Hullo, hi, how are you doing’. It wasn’t that kind of conversation. It was more 

like a bed and breakfast. It was really strange to me, ‘cos I’m only 10 years old and I’m 

meant to have someone who’s acting more like a parent to me, more than acting like a 

hostess. (Suad). 

 

Christmas time I believe is the hardest for children in care, because everyone wants their 

family. OK, you’re with people and you’re going to get presents, but at the back of every 

child’s mind – they might be like, yeah, I’m happy, I’m happy – they’re not happy, ‘cos 

Christmas is supposed to be a time with their family and … underneath the truth is somebody 

was trying to play like your parent or somebody is trying to go all out to try and make you 

happy rather than just … being relaxed or just being themselves. But its just the fact that 

somebody is going around fussing over you because you see that they’re trying to make you 

happy, but why are they trying to make you happy, it’s because you’re not really a part of 

them. (Edna). 

 

 

 

Being fostered 
 

I don’t think looking after a child for money is the best thing either, so my ideal foster carer 

would be a person who doesn’t care about money, who cares about you and puts you the 

first. Because that’s what … children in care are missing is somebody putting them first. 

(Suad). 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



 10 

 

You have to have the love, you can’t be selfish if you want to become … a foster carer … 

you have to love and care for children. You have to know it’s not about the money … it’s all 

about love and you’re just trying to help the person. It’s not just about the money, so that’s 

all I can say’. (Linda) 

 

It can’t just be like plonk them in between, in the middle of a family and hope everything’s 

going to be alright. I was moved round from different families and it was always the same. 

But then they moved me to this family who I still keep in contact with now, so they treated 

me like I wasn’t a foster child. They treated me like I was actually part of their family and I 

think that’s the way it’s got to be. Because, then you stop thinking, ‘I’m just a foster child 

and you don’t really care about me’ and you start to think, ‘well you do care about me and, if 

you’re saying stop being bad, its for reasons, ‘cos you care about me, not because you’re 

going to get in trouble with my social worker’. (Richard)   

 

She was a good thing, because she took the time to sit down, reading me. When I was going 

to school, she was the first one to actually ask me about my homework, if I’d got anything 

and if I needed help … she would sit on the table and actually help me with everything and 

then afterwards she would say ‘right then, go to bed or something’… She was the first one to 

put those kind of, and I followed it for like about a year and a half and then she said that she 

couldn’t take care of me anymore because she wanted to take care of kids that are disabled or 

less able to be cared for, … and she was having a whole career change and I had to deal with 

that and it was like I had to move from somewhere that was perfectly nice and nothing wrong 

with it at all to, back to the same children’s home again. (Suad). 

 

She did do a lot, I lived with her for about 2 years and once I got to her it was, ‘Edna you’re a 

child and you’re going to learn to do things that children do’. I mean, she pushed me and she 

pushed me and she just changed a lot of things about me. She taught me how to speak more 

about my feelings. She taught me how to relax, even though she didn’t quite accomplish 

everything that she wanted to do with me, and that’s because she couldn’t really break me 

out of what I was used to and the environment I was used to and I’d grown up in. I had my 

own room and I had everything and she always used to give me stuff and I loved her and I 

still do, because it was like she showed me so much different things, but at the back of my 

mind it was like ‘why can’t my mum do this’. (Edna) 

 

 

 

Placement and culture 
 

I lived with a white family in Surrey, no not Surrey, yeah Hertfordshire, so there wasn’t that 

many black people around and so I got confused about what I was and I think that if I’d lived 

with a black family as well as a white one, it would have balanced the culturing out, I guess. 

(Richard). 

 

I was always paired with the … same background, with black people from Trinidad. I didn’t 

like it, because I felt that, at the time I probably thought why they placed me with 

Trinidadians, just because I’m Trinidadian doesn’t mean you need to place me back with a 

Trinidadian family, because any person who is suitable to look after a child, I’m quite happy 

with. (Carol) 

 

 

Page 21



 11 

 

Placement disruptions/ moves 
 

You can’t keep track of how many people you meet and you can’t keep track of how many 

parents or trying to act like parents to you or how many people that social services has given 

to you. (Suad) 

 

I think 13 foster carers and 2 children’s homes. (Suad) 

 

Walthamstow, my aunt’s house, Hackney for a night, Crouch End, Muswell Hill again, about 

5. Oh yeah, Mitcham and Bedford. (Carol) 

 

Well, everything, all the children’s houses and all I’ve been through, I must have been going 

around with loads, like I can say about 15 ‘till 20 of different places for different stretch of 

times. I’ve been, kind of, pushed around a bit. (Mehmet). 

 

The hardest one was, I was living in a children’s home for 3 years and they gave me a half an 

hour notice to go out of the house, to come and pack my clothes – ‘you’re moving in half an 

hour notice’. That was the hardest thing. (Suad). 

 

 

Challenging behaviour 
 

Until you get used to them, those nice people, you kinda make their life hell as well, whether 

you want to or not, because you can’t trust them straight away, because your heart or … your 

feelings been broken before and your trust has been lost and … the first thing that … you 

know when you’re off from you family, … that’s the point when you break up, that’s the 

point when you realise that you’re all your self, that you won’t get no one to love you, your 

family never loved you, that’s why you’re in care now, that’s why, as I say, if you never 

received love from your family no one else will give it to you, you go with that brain. 

(Mehmet). 

 

You’ve had so many houses that you’ve gone though and so many, I don’t know, you lose 

the value of a place of your own, you lose that whole thing, … and plus you lose your 

respect, your self respect in a way. When you keep moving from place to place you lose your 

self, and your self-respect as well goes along with it, and once you lose that, I think that’s 

why most kids actually ended up in criminal stuff, because they lost themselves in that way. 

(Suad) 

 

The fact that they hear that you’re in care, to them kids in care are bad and some kids are in 

care because, I don’t know how they’ve been brought up, but because they act bad, people 

see that every child in care is bad as well. (Linda). 

 

 

Social workers 
 

To tell you the truth, Social Services are my family. They are my family. I mean my social 

worker, Joy, before I actually became Leaving Care or independent life or independent, you 

might as well say, she was always like telling me ‘I’m not going to be your social worker 

anymore, you’re going to have to keep going to duty’. You could ask her now, I’m still 

pestering her and it’s not the fact that I’m scared to go to somebody else, duty or whatever, 

but its just the fact that they’re my family, I could call any one of them when I need help. I 

mean … they’re the ones that have taught me how to become a woman, how to live  

Page 22



 12 

independently and any complicated questions, questions that your parents are supposed to be 

answering, they answer it for me, so I don’t know’ (Edna). 

 

I find the more you change the social worker, the harder it is for the young person, because 

the less they open up to them and the less the social worker’s able to help them. Some social 

workers they’re OK, but some, they’ll tell you, … ‘we’re going back to Australia or we’re 

going back to Japan or Timbuktu. I mean, what’s the point of telling someone if you know 

they’re not going to stay there to help you through your problem’. (Carol). 

 

Oh God, I’ve had about 6 social workers to tell you the truth. Yeah, I mean, my first social 

worker she’s a social worker I can say, no matter what, … she’s there, I can always still get 

help from her, even though she’s not my social worker. But apart from that, I’ve had various, 

6 or so. (Edna) 

 

And it’s very hard for a new person to come in and then have to tell them all over again and 

then they don’t do nothing, because they leave and then another one, so nothing ever got 

sorted out basically. So, it’s very frustrating. (Catherine) 

 

I don’t feel there’s any good social workers out there, they do their job with young people, 

their job is never completed, but they move on to a better paid and better job and their job 

with the young person is not completed and another person pick up their mess and it is never 

done properly. (Linda) 

 

 

 

Other agencies/ staff 
 

You can’t keep track of how many people … that social services has given to you or how 

many people that you see in your board meeting that you actually never even met in your 

whole entire life and you’re there with 12 other people, all talking about the same subject and 

that’s just you. (Suad) 

 

When you leave the house and you’re packing your clothes and you’re packing your books 

and you’re packing everything in your life, you’re also packing an invisible package there as 

well, which is the piece of papers, that you can’t see, because they’re obviously floating 

around you and everybody else is reading about you and they know about you, they’re doing 

courses about you … You don’t know what to say or what to do about it, ‘cos if it was right 

in front of your face, then you … could just say ‘look here I don’t think that’s right’, but they 

don’t show it to you, they share that information amongst themselves. (Suad). 

 

 

 

Leaving care 
 

I do have … loads of worries … like even if I say I do feel strong enough to move on, I 

actually really don’t. (Mehmet). 

 

For myself, I do worry, because like I said to Haringey, I wasn’t ready for this whole semi-

independence thing, you need the support and I don’t feel that I’m really getting that from 

Haringey, so I’d rather have been with the family … because I was getting that when I was 

there and I’m still getting that with them anyway, so. (Catherine). 

 

 

Page 23



 13 

Therapy 
 

I wanted to stop because the Tavistock was bringing out the wrong side of me. It was making 

me talk about everything that happened, but it just used to bring up too much and I just 

couldn’t handle it because I would leave Tavistock crying, I would go home crying and it just 

used to bring up so much emotion, I just wanted to hide it. (Edna) 

 

Doing the counselling, if you can do it with a proper person and …you can work with your 

counsellor and you can get on with it, and you can build a friendship with it, I mean it does 

help you, it does get you forward. I would consider it to anyone to at least try counselling, at 

least try it once. At least you get the things out of your systems, at least you say what’s in 

you, at least you can express it to someone. It does take a loads and loads of hard time to get 

used to that person though. (Mehmet). 

 

 

Identity: loss of trust 
 

Yeah, alright, you have to have this … feeling where you say ‘alright, I’m not going to have 

a relationship basis with you, I’m not going to let you in my life, so therefore you cannot do 

anything to me’… That’s how I’ve grown up, and still am, ‘cos it’s still with me, it’s just, I 

can’t trust someone, if I trust someone I feel as if ‘this is going to happen and that’s going to 

happen’ and … it just kind of … messed up my whole basis of relationships with others, 

because I’ve moved so many times and had a relationship with so many people. (Suad). 

 

The only person I consider is important to me now is only me, because my whole life I went 

through teaching that teach me the only person I can depend on is me. (Mehmet). 

 

I don’t know, its like, imagine living on planet earth … and you’ve got different people that 

you have to live with, but you remember this is not your home, that’s how I look at it, as if I 

live out in space or something and planet earth is not my home. I have to keep looking at it 

that way, because I think when I say its my home, my home will be somewhere where I put 

my footprint on it, where its actually my home, my home. (Suad). 

 

 

The future 
 

When I’m strong, I feel that I’m strong enough to go forward, I’m going to start running, I’m 

walking now, but basically I’m going to start running. (Mehmet). 

 

I hope to do a PA course and with them 2 certificates, it’s my ticket out of this country. It’s 

just my way of leaving bad memories behind. (Edna). 

 

I’d like to have completed my book and had it published and for it to be a success, so I can 

carry on writing and do another book. (Richard). 

 

I hope to become either an MP or a social worker or a mentor. Only because I want to be a 

good social worker for these young people, because I don’t feel there’s any good social 

workers out there, they do their job with young people, their job is never completed, but they 

move on to a better paid and better job and their job with the young person is not completed 

and another person pick up their mess and it is never done properly, so I think that I’d be a 

good social worker and set a good example. Or become an MP, so I could speak up for black 

people. (Linda).  

 

Page 24



 14 

 

 
 

2.1 Definitions of Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The definition of child and adolescent mental health difficulties is complex and contested – 

being subject to varying cultural perceptions and to the differing definitions of different 

social services and health professionals. Firstly, the concept of mental health or illness is 

influenced by psychological, social and cultural factors and has been differently defined at 

different times or within different cultures and communities (HAS 1995, James 2000). 

Secondly, different professionals use different definitions of mental health or emotional and 

behavioural difficulties. Where Health workers emphasise ‘disorders’ or problems, Education 

staff refer to ‘educational and behavioural difficulties’. In contrast, social workers are often 

reluctant to apply the term ‘mental health’ to children and young people, as they perceive it 

as stigmatising (HAS 1995, James 2000).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emphasising the importance of shared definitions of need, the 1995 HAS review of child and 

adolescent mental health services, Together We Stand, outlines both positive and negative 

components of mental health (chapter 4).  This report first identifies the following indicators 

of mental health in children and young people: 

 

• A capacity to enter into and sustain mutually satisfying personal relationships 

• Continuing progression of psychological development 

• An ability to play and learn so that attainments are appropriate for age and intellectual 

level 

• A developing moral sense of right and wrong 

• The degree of psychological distress and maladaptive behaviour being within the 

normal limits for the child’s age and context 

 

Whilst acknowledged as ‘something of an ideal state’, these indicators provide the 

benchmark for identifying mental health difficulties. Mental health problems are thus defined 

as ‘difficulties or disabilities in these areas which may arise from any number of congenital, 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 2:  FACTS AND FIGURES: 
 

The voice of the researcher 
 

‘The identification of need in child and adolescent mental health services is hampered by different 

definitions of children’s problems and the tendency to group children according to administrative 

or service categories rather than focusing on what the children, young people and their families 

need in order for stresses to be alleviated’  (Tunnard 2000). 

‘A shared understanding between different agencies may be reached by recognising the interplay 

of factors that influence children’s mental health. These include social, family and individual child 

factors that determine a child’s level of risk or resilience and the carer’s ability to care for them 

appropriately’ (James 2000 p6).  

 

Page 25



 15 

constitutional environmental, family or illness factors’ (p15). A continuum of mental health 

difficulties is identified. Firstly, the term ‘mental health problems’ is used to refer to ‘a very 

broad range of emotional or behavioural difficulties which may cause concern or distress’. 

These are perceived as ‘relatively common’ and as encompassing ‘mental disorders, which 

are more severe and/or persistent’ (p15). Finally, this report draws on Kurtz (1992) to 

identify the following diagnosable (ICD 10 or DSM4) mental health disorders in children and 

young people: 

 

Table 1 
A Classification of Mental Disorders 

• Emotional Disorders eg. phobias, anxiety states and depression. These  

      may be made manifest in physical symptoms  

      such as chronic headache or abdominal pain. 

• Conduct Disorders eg. stealing, defiance, fire-setting, aggression and  

      anti-social behaviour. 

• Hyperkinetic Disorders eg. disturbance of activity and attention, and  

      hyperkinetic conduct disorder. 

• Developmental Disorders eg. delay in acquiring certain skills such as speech,  

      social ability or bladder control. These may  

      affect primarily one area of development or  

      pervade a number of areas as in children with  

      autism and those with pervasive developmental 

      disorders. 

• Eating Disorders eg. pre-school eating problems, anorexia nervosa  

      and bulimia nervosa. 

• Habit Disorders eg. tics, sleeping problems and soiling. 

• Post Traumatic syndromes eg. post traumatic stress disorder. 

• Somatic Disorders eg. chronic fatigue syndrome. 

• Psychotic Disorders eg. schizophrenia, manic depressive disorder or  

     drug-induced psychoses. 

 

 

 

2.2 The mental health needs of looked after children and young  

people 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since the 1990s, research reports have identified the high level of mental health problems
3
 

amongst looked after children and young people, together with the relatively low level of 

provision to meet these needs.  

 

Firstly, McCann et al (1996) uncovered high levels of mental health problems amongst 

young people (aged between 13 and 17 years) looked after by Oxfordshire local authority. 

They also identified the failure of recognition of, potentially severe, psychiatric disorders by 

staff and agencies involved.  

                                                 
3
 Comorbidity refers to “the simultaneous appearance of two or more psychiatric or physical illnesses”.   

‘Adolescents in the care system showed particularly high levels of psychiatric disorder compared 

with adolescents living with their own families. Not only did they suffer from serious psychiatric 

disorders – notably, major depressive disorder; they also showed high levels of comorbidity … One 

of the most worrying findings was that a significant number of adolescents were suffering from 

severe, potentially treatable, psychiatric disorders which had gone undetected’ (McCann et al 

1996). 

Page 26



 16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The study by Dimigen et al (1999) revealed a similar pattern amongst 89 children (aged 5 to 

12 years) at the point of entry into care. The most common disorders were conduct disorder 

and depression, with comorbidity being found in over a third of the children.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Like McCann, these authors identified a high level of unmet need amongst children in the 

care system:  

 
‘The study shows that a considerable proportion of young children have a serious 

psychiatric disorder at the time they enter local authority care but are not being referred 

for psychological help’ (p675).  

 

A study of social workers’ perceptions of the mental health needs of foster children 

confirmed these difficulties:  

 
‘Eighty percent of children were considered by social workers to require treatment from a 

child mental health professional, but only 27% had received any input. The reasons given 

… for not referring were placement instability, inadequate child mental health resources 

and insufficient local authority funding’ (Phillips 1997 p249).  

 

Other small-scale studies have highlighted this convergence of high levels of mental health 

disorder, with inadequate diagnosis and treatment: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The recently published ONS survey (Meltzer et al 2004) focused on the prevalence of mental 

health problems amongst looked after children and young people aged 5 to 17 years. Their 

sample of 2,500 looked after children provided a response rate of 1,039 – of whom 909 

(88%) were white, 63 (6%) were black and 67 (6%) from other ethnic groups. Whilst there 

67% of adolescents in the care system had a psychiatric disorder – compared to 15% in a 

comparison group  

28% had a conduct disorder;   26% were overanxious;   23% suffered from major depressive 

disorder (compared to 4% in the control group);   8% were diagnosed as having unspecified 

functional psychosis (including auditory hallucinations).  
 

96% in residential units had psychiatric disorders, compared to 57% of those in foster care.  

 

13 (38%) boys and 12 (33%) girls had severe conduct disorder and a similar proportion suffered 

from severe depression. 

21(30%) had severe attention difficulties;   18(26%) had autistic-like detachment;   15(21%) had 

elevated levels of acute problems and   11 (16%) had anxiety disorders. 
 

Elevated levels of depression were significantly more common among children in residential 

settings than those in foster care.  

 

Of 32 looked after children referred to a Birmingham service, all but 3 had ICD-10 diagnoses – 

mostly mixed affective-conduct disorders – yet only 10 had had any previous psychological input 

(Butler & Vostanis 1998).  

The authors conclude: ‘The current system had failed to provide stability and nurturing for these 

very needy children with emotional and behavioural difficulties’ (cited in Richardson & Lelliot 

2003 p249). 

 

Page 27



 17 

appeared to be some differences in the prevalence of mental disorders by ethnicity, none of 

these proved statistically significant. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This study again confirmed the high level of unmet need amongst LACA with clinically 

assessed disorders. Whilst most had accessed front-line services in the previous year (80% 

had been in contact with a social worker, 49% had seen a teacher and 20% had received 

advice or treatment from a GP), only 34% of those with clinically assessed disorders were in 

touch with a specialist in child mental health.  

 

Finally, based on the HAS report, Wallace et al (1997) have estimated the percentage of the 

childcare population likely to require services at each tier of provision. Drawing on Meltzer’s 

comparison between looked after children and those living in private households, the 

following table outlines the projected level of need for different services within the LACA 

population: 

Overall, 45% were assessed as having a mental disorder: 

• 37% had clinically significant conduct disorders  

• 12% had emotional disorders (anxiety and depression)  

• 7% were hyperactive 

• 4% had pervasive developmental disorders, tics or eating 

disorders.   

Placement type proved significant: 

• 68% of those in residential care had a mental disorder, compared 

with 51% of those living independently and 40% of those in foster 

care or with their own parents. 

• 20% of children living with natural parents and 18% of those in 

residential care had emotional disorders – compared to 9% of 

those in foster care.  

• 56% of children in residential care had conduct disorders 

compared to 33% of those in foster care and 28% of those living 

with natural parents.  

 

Placement stability was also important:  

• 49% of LACA in their current placement for less than a year had a mental disorder, 

compared to 31% of those in the same placement for at least 5 years.  

 

LAC were 4 to 5 times more likely to have a mental disorder than those living in private 

households.  

42% of looked after 5 –10 year olds had a mental disorder compared to 8% in private households.  

49% of looked after 11-15 year olds had a mental disorder compared to 11% in private 

households.  

The incidence of mental disorder was greater amongst looked after boys than girls (49% 

compared with 39%).  

 

Page 28



 18 

Table 2: Tiers of Service 

Estimated levels of need:  

 

Tiers/ Providers 

 

Total 

childcare 

population  

LACA 

population 

Tier 1: Mild emotional and behavioural difficulties or the early 

stages of disorders. 

 

Primary care services 

 

 

 

15% 

 

 

 

67.5% 

Tier 2: Common disorders with one or two risk factors. 

 

Individual specialist/ uni-professional care 

 

 

7% 

 

 

31.5% 

Tier 3: Less common problems indicating a more severe, 

complex or persistent condition. 

 

Multi-disciplinary teams in a community child mental health 

clinic or child psychiatry outpatient service 

 

 

 

 

1.85% 

 

 

 

 

8.33% 

Tier 4: Potentially severe disorders. Intensive and highly 

specialised care usually provided for older children and 

adolescents who are severely mentally ill or a suicidal risk. 

 

Tertiary services such as day centres, highly specialised 

outpatient teams and in-patient units 

 

 

 

 

0.075% 

 

 

 

 

0.34% 

 

 

To conclude, whilst there is considerable variation between the epidemiological rates 

suggested by different studies, there is broad agreement both about the high levels of mental 

health needs amongst LACA and about the lack of adequate provision to meet these needs. 

Table 3 provides an overview of the key findings from the research literature, with the 

following summarising the key issues: 

 

• Between 45% and 67% of looked after children and adolescents have mental health 

problems of clinical significance 

• This increases for those in residential care (to between 68% and 96%) 

• Stability of placement is significant: 49% of those in placement for less than 1 year 

have a mental disorder, as compared to 31% of those in the same placement for more 

than 5 years. 

 

Table 3 
Prevalence of specific mental health disorders amongst looked after children and adolescents 

 McCann et al 

13-17 yrs 

Dimigen et al 

5-12 yrs 

Meltzer et al 

5-17 yrs 

Anxiety 26% 11% 

Depression 23% 37% 

12% 

Conduct Disorders 28% 37% 37% 

Hyperkinetic Disorders  30%  7% 

Developmental Disorders   

Eating Disorders   

Habit Disorders   

 

 4% 

Post Traumatic syndromes  26%  

Somatic Disorders    

Psychotic Disorders  8%   

 

 

 

Page 29



 19 

2.3 The mental health needs of unaccompanied minors and refugee 

children  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Literature on the mental health needs of refugees and unaccompanied minors emphasises the 

relatively high levels of need – given, not only the history of trauma, loss and separation, 

followed by ‘sometimes hazardous and prolonged journeys in pursuit of safety’ but also the 

privation and hardship of life within resettlement countries (Hodes 2002 p367).  

 

However, researching the health (and mental health) needs of refugees raises methodological 

difficulties: ‘In considering the mental health needs of young refugees in the UK it is 

important to bear in mind that there is no population-based information available and only 

extremely limited data resulting from contact with mental health services’ (Hodes 2002 

p367). User involvement is also problematic and Murphy et al (2002) note the lack of 

‘evidence of consultation with refugees themselves about their mental health needs’ (p223). 

These difficulties are further compounded by the relationship of the refugee to their host 

country:  

 

 

 

 

 

Despite such difficulties, several small-scale studies provide some indicator of need. 

Referring to refugees as a whole, Murphy et al note a wide variation in rates of disorders, 

according to the focus of study: ‘The prevalence of PTSD is lowest in epidemiological 

samples (3-12%) and may rise to 90% in psychiatric clinic populations’ (p222). Summarising 

several studies, Aldous et al report: ‘There are high levels of mental health problems reported 

amongst groups of refugees and asylum seekers. Where PTSD criteria are used …  

prevalence figures suggest that conditions exist in 25 to 50% of cases in the sample under 

study. However, it is not clear how these samples relate to the wider population of refugees 

and asylum seekers’ (p44).   

 

Focussing on refugee children, Hodes (2002 p368)) cites a Swedish study of 50 young 

Iranian children, most of whom had been ‘exposed to bombardment from missiles or seen 

assaults on parents’.  Twelve months after arrival in Sweden, only 26% had ‘good 

psychological adjustment’. Thirty months later, 38% had ‘good psychological adjustment’, 

18% had severe post-traumatic stress symptoms and a further 18% reached the criteria for 

PTSD. The prevalence of PTSD did not diminish over time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To summarise, despite considerable variation, these studies underline the high level of unmet 

need amongst refugees and asylum seekers (including unaccompanied minors) – with 

‘The most distinctive health problems for refugees are psychological and may be linked to either 

trauma or isolation from friends, family and community whilst in the UK. There are broadly two 

types of problems – most common are problems of adjustment, whilst a smaller proportion … may 

experience persistent post traumatic mental health problems’ (Aldous et al 1999 p27). 

‘For refugees and asylum seekers, suspicion is a survival skill. Therefore, refugees may distrust a 

researcher or, for that matter, any official’   (Aldous et al 1999 p28).  

 

A Canadian study found that, even amongst refugee children not exposed to war, rates of mental 

disorder were significantly higher than amongst their peers: 

In a group of 200 adolescents from 35 countries, the rate of psychiatric disorder among the 

refugee children  was 21%, compared to 11% in a comparison group (cited in Hodes 2002 p368).  
 

Page 30



 20 

difficulties in accessing mental health resources being compounded by cultural variations in 

perceptions of mental illness and associated feelings of ‘shame and stigma’ (Murphy et al 

2002 p223).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.4 Demographic profile of Haringey’s looked after population 

 

This section details the demographic profile of Haringey’s looked after children – as the basis 

for subsequent projections of mental health need.
 4 

 

Total numbers of looked after children:  

• At  31.04.03, Haringey had 526 looked after children 

• By 31.03.04, this number had slightly reduced to 510 

 

Age profile: The majority of Haringey LAC are 11 years or older. However, as detailed in 

table 4, at 31.03.04 there were significantly more LAC aged 16 years and over than in the 

previous year.  

 

 

Table 4 
Age profile of Haringey LAC 

 At 31.04.03 At 31.03.04 

 Numbers Percentage Numbers Percentage 

0-5 years 95 18% 83 16% 

6-10 years 92 17% 91 18% 

11-15 years 288 56% 197 38% 

16+ years 51 10% 139 27% 

Totals 526  510  

 

 

Gender: At 31.03.03, there were approximately equal numbers of males and females in the 

looked after population, with the number of males being slightly higher for those aged 

between 6 and 16 years. By 31.03.04, the proportion of males had increased to 56.5% of the 

total LAC population.  

 

Ethnicity: Haringey’s looked after children come from a range of ethnic backgrounds, with 

the 31.03.04 returns listing a total of 34 different ethnic groups. In Table 5, these groups are 

classified according to the Office of National Statistics (1999) categories:   

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
4
 The information in this section is drawn from the following sources: 

• Haringey performance information for year ending 30.04.03 

• Haringey performance information for year ending 31.03.04 

• Performance data, Haringey Asylum Service, June 2003 

Page 31



 21 

Table 5 
Ethnicity of LACA at 30 March 2004 

Ethnic Group Number Percentage 

White – British 83 16% 

White Irish 16 3% 

Other White
5
 71 14% 

Sub Total White 170 33% 

White & Black Caribbean 35 7% 

White & Asian 7 1% 

Other mixed 49  10% 

Sub Total Mixed 91 18% 

Indian  3 1% 

Pakistani 3 1% 

Asian or Asian British – Other 10 2% 

Sub Total Asian & Asian British 16 3% 

Caribbean 92 18% 

African 118 23% 

Black or Black British – Other 8 2% 

Sub Total Black or Black British 218 43% 

Chinese 7 1% 

Other Ethnic Group 8 2% 

Sub Total Chinese or Other Ethnic Group 15 3% 

TOTAL 510 100 

 

  

 

Unaccompanied minors: There were 272 unaccompanied minors (at 30 June 2003). Of 

these, 186 (68%) were under 16 years and 86 (32%) were 16 years or over. Seventy-six 

(28%) of these were LAC.  

 

Type of placement: Between 2002 and 2004, the proportion of Haringey LACA in foster 

placements remained fairly stable, however the numbers in residential care had reduced, 

whilst those in semi-independent and independent placements had increased. This latter 

change reflects the increased number of looked after young people aged 16 years or over. 

Table 6 outlines these changes. 

 

 

Table 6 
Profile of LAC by type of placement 

 At 31.04.03 At 31.03.04 

Type of placement Numbers Percentages Numbers Percentages 

Foster care 324 61.6% 325 64% 

Residential care 113 21.5% 77 15% 

Placed for adoption 15 2.8% 19 4% 

Placed with parents 21 4% 25 5% 

In semi-independent, 

independent care   (or missing) 

34 6.5% 64 13% 

Not known/ missing data 19 3.6 %  0 0% 

Total 526  510  

 

 

 

                                                 
5
 Includes Albanian, Croatian, Greek Cypriot, Kosovan, Kurdish, Serbian, Turkish, Turkish Cypriot & White 

Other 

Page 32



 22 

Stability of placement:   

• The proportion of Haringey LAC experiencing 3 or more placement moves has 

increased over recent years. In 2000/01 17% of LAC had 3 or more placement moves. 

By 2002/3, this had increased to 20%. At year ending 31 March 2004, 100 LAC 

(19.6%) had experienced 3 or more placement moves during the preceding year. 

 

• Adoptions for Haringey LAC increased from 2.4% in 2002/3 to 4.4% in 2003/4 (of all 

children looked after for more than 6 months, excluding unaccompanied minors). 

 

• Long-term stability of Haringey LAC has reduced – from 79% in 1999/00 to 45% in 

2002/3. At 31.03.04, 49% of children looked after for 4 years or more were in a 

placement where they had spent at least 2 years. 

 

 

2.5 Projected levels of mental health need in Haringey’s looked  

after children population 
 

Key factors: To re-cap, the mental health needs of looked after children and young people 

are significantly higher than in the general childcare population – with the research evidence 

identifying the following as exacerbating factors: 

 

• Placement type: LACA in residential care had significantly higher levels of assessed 

mental health difficulties.  

• Placement instability increased the risk of mental health problems.  

• Whilst none of the cited studies demonstrated a statistical link between ethnicity and 

mental health disorders amongst LACA, the ethnically diverse character of Haringey 

LACA would seem likely to further exacerbate the risk of mental health difficulties. 

• The research evidence suggests an increased level of mental health need amongst 

Haringey’s refugee and asylum seeking children and young people (including 

unaccompanied minors).  

 

In the following, this evidence is used to project possible levels of mental health difficulties 

within Haringey’s LACA population
6
. 

 

Projected mental health disorders: Table 7 outlines the projected level of mental health 

need for the total Haringey LAC population. 

 

Table 7 
Projected mental health need in Haringey LAC population 

Type of disorder Estimated prevalence rates of 

mental health need 

Projected need for Haringey 

LAC (numbers) 

Overall level of need 45 - 67% 230 - 342 

Anxiety 11 - 26% 56 - 133 

Depression 12 - 37% 61 - 189 

Conduct Disorders 28 - 37% 143 - 189 

Hyperkinetic disorders 7  - 30% 36 - 153 

Developmental disorders 

Eating disorders 

Habit disorders 

4% 20 

Post traumatic syndromes 26% 133 

Psychotic disorders 8% 41 

                                                 
6
 Projections based on numbers of looked after children in Haringey at 31.03.04 

Page 33



 23 

 

Placement type: As detailed above, there is a significant variation in the levels of mental 

health difficulties experienced by children and young people in different placement types, 

with Table 8 summarising the implications of the epidemiological evidence for Haringey 

LACA.  

 

Table 8 
Projected mental health need in Haringey LAC population by placement type 

 Estimated prevalence 

rates of mental health 

need 

Numbers of Haringey 

LAC (March 2004) 

Projected mental 

health need for 

Haringey LAC 

(numbers) 

Total LAC 

population 

45-67% 510 230 - 342 

LAC in Residential 

care 

68-96% 77 52 - 74 

LAC in foster care 

 

40-67% 325 130 - 218 

 

 

Placement stability: Whilst the data for placement stability is less easily matched against the 

research evidence, the relative instability of Haringey’s LAC population would suggest an 

increased level of mental health need:  

 

• Meltzer’s research identified higher rates of mental disorders amongst LAC in less 

stable placements: 49% of those in their current placement for less than 1 year were 

assessed as having a mental disorder, as compared to 31% of those in the same 

placement for at least 5 years. 

• In Haringey, 100 children (19.6%) had experienced 3 or more placement moves 

during 2002/3. Forty-nine percent (of those in care for at least 4 years) had been in 

the same placement for at least 2 years.  

 

Unaccompanied minors: Whilst the research evidence makes it difficult to identify 

prevalence rates for this group of the population, all the studies confirmed an increased level 

of mental health need amongst refugee populations. Thus, the relatively high number of 

unaccompanied minors known to Haringey Social Services would suggest a further increased 

level of mental health need amongst the LACA population.  

 

Tiers of provision: Finally, based on Wallace and Meltzer, the following table estimates the 

numbers of Haringey LAC requiring different tiers of provision.  

Page 34



 24 

 

Table 9 

Tiers/ Providers 
 

 

Estimated rates of 

need within LAC 

population 

Estimated numbers 

within Haringey’s 

LAC population 

Tier 1: Mild emotional and behavioural difficulties 

or the early stages of disorders. 

 

Primary care services 

 

 

67.5% 

 

 

344 

 

Tier 2: Common disorders with one or two risk 

factors. 

 

Individual specialist/ uni-professional care 

 

 

31.5% 

 

 

161 

Tier 3: Less common problems indicating a more 

severe, complex or persistent condition. 

 

Multi-disciplinary teams in a community child 

mental health clinic or child psychiatry outpatient 

service 

 

 

8.33% 

 

 

42 

 

Tier 4: Potentially severe disorders. Intensive and 

highly specialised care usually provided for older 

children and adolescents who are severely mentally 

ill or a suicidal risk. 

 

Tertiary services such as day centres, highly 

specialised outpatient teams and in-patient units 

 

 

0.34% 

 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.6 Referrals to the Tavistock/Haringey LACA team 
 

The Haringey LACA CAMHS team was established in May 2003 with a staff team of 2 child 

psychotherapists, 2 adult psychotherapists, 1 systemic family therapist and a clinical social 

worker (all part-time). Psychiatric consultations (including assessments of children/young 

people) have been provided on a sessional basis from staff within the Tavistock Clinic.  

 

At the outset, it was envisaged that the clinical activities of this team would provide a further 

source of information about the mental health needs of looked after children and young 

people and the kinds of difficulties faced by the carers and professional staff involved in their 

care.  

 

• This section outlines the demographic characteristics of LACA referred to the team 

and provides a comparison with Haringey’s total LAC population. 

• Chapter 5 draws on qualitative data to illustrate the types of referrals to the team and 

the varying clinical, consultancy and training activities undertaken by members of the 

team. 

 

Pattern of referrals: The rate of referral to the team steadily increased between May 2003 

and August 2004.  

Page 35



 25 

 

Table 10 
By August 2004, there had been a total of 88 referrals to the team: 

 

Before May 2003:   6 referrals  

May-July 2003:  12 referrals 

August-Oct 2003:  11 referrals 

Nov 2003-Jan 2004:  18 referrals 

Feb-April 2004:  24 referrals 

May – August 2004: 17 referrals 

 

 

 

Source of referrals: The vast majority of referrals (76) have been made by children’s social 

workers, residential staff or fostering link workers. In recent months, however, there have 

been a number of referrals from other sources – including 6 from paediatricians, 1 from a GP, 

4 from health staff (including LAC nurse, health visitor and school nurse) and 2 from LAC 

education staff.  

 

Age and gender: Table 11 details the age and gender characteristics of those referred to the 

team, with table 12 providing a comparison with Haringey’s total LAC population. 

Compared to Haringey’s total LAC population, referrals to the team have involved a higher 

proportion of children/ young people aged 6 to 16 years and a significantly lower proportion 

of those aged over 16 years.  

 

 

 

Table 11 
Referrals to LAC CAMHS team by age and gender 

 Age bands Totals 

 0-5 6-10 11-16 Over 16  

Male 7 11 22 2 42 

Female 4 12 20 7 43 

Totals 11 23 42 9 85 

 

 

Table 12 
Comparison with age profile of all Haringey LAC 

 All Haringey LAC (at 31.03.04) LAC CAMHS referrals  

 Numbers Percentages Numbers Percentages 

0-5 years 83 16% 11 13% 

6-10 years 91 18% 23 27% 

11-16 years 197 38% 42 49% 

Over 16 years 139 27% 9 11% 

Totals 510  85 i.e. 17% of all 

Haringey LACA 

 

 

Placement type: Table 13 details referrals to the LAC CAMHS team by placement type. 

Whilst placement types approximately matched those in the total LAC population, the lower 

percentage of young people in semi-independent or independent care reflected the relatively 

low rate of referrals for the over-16 age group. 

 

Page 36



 26 

Table 13 
Referrals to LAC CAMHS team by placement type 

 All Haringey LAC (at 

31.03.04) 

LAC CAMHS referrals  

Type of placement Numbers Percentages Numbers Percentages 

Foster care 325 63% 45 53% 

Residential care 77 15% 11 13% 

Placed for adoption 19 4% 2 2% 

Placed with parents 25 5% 4 5% 

In semi-independent, 

independent care (or 

missing) 

64 13% 5 6% 

Not known/ missing data   18 21% 

Total 510  85  

 

 

Placement stability: Table 14 compares the stability of placements for children and young 

people referred to the LAC CAMHS team with those in Haringey’s total LAC population. 

Compared to Haringey’s total LAC, referrals to the team included a particular concentration 

of those with 4 or more placement moves.   

 

 

Table 14 
Referrals to LAC CAMHS team by placement stability 

 All Haringey LAC (at 31.03.04) LAC CAMHS referrals  

 Numbers Percentages Numbers Percentages 

One placement 237 46% 12 14% 

Two placements 171 34% 23 27% 

Three placements 51 10% 9 11% 

Four or more 

placements 

49 10% 15 18% 

Unknown/ missing 

data 

2 0.4% 26 31% 

Total with 3 or more 

placements 

100 20% 24 28% 

Totals 510  85  

 

 

 

Requests for training and consultation: In addition to offering professional consultations 

to staff involved with the children and adolescents referred to the team, members of the 

Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team have been involved in offering consultations and 

training to social work staff in various agency settings. These are described in greater detail 

in Chapter 5, but include the following:  

• Consultation and training to staff in Haringey’s residential homes 

• Training for social workers on ‘Child Development and Emotional Deprivation’ 

• Training for foster carers on the emotional needs of looked after children and the 

particular needs of refugee children 

• Training for staff in the Asylum teams 

• There have also been various requests for training from other agencies and staff 

which we have been unable to meet, due to staffing constraints.  

 

 

 

Page 37



 27 

2.7 Summary and conclusions 
  

National research evidence highlights the gap between need and provision for the mental 

health needs of looked after children and adolescents. Whilst research studies consistently 

reveal a high level of mental health problems amongst LACA, they also confirm a continuing 

lack of adequate provision to meet these needs. Within Haringey, these difficulties have been 

compounded by various factors: 

 

• Demographic features – including, for example, the diversity of the population and 

relatively high numbers of refugee and asylum seeking children 

• Placement characteristics – including the high level of placement disruptions 

• The historically low level of CAMHS provision for LACA 

 

The establishment of the Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team and the commissioning 

of this needs assessment report was informed by a commitment to resolve this area of unmet 

need. However, despite these increased resources, the above research suggests a continuing 

gap between the projected mental health needs of Haringey’s looked after children and 

adolescents and rates of referral to the Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team: 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 15 
 Projected levels of mental 

health need amongst 

Haringey’s LAC population
7
  

Referrals    to 

Tavistock/Haringey LACA 

CAMHS
8
 

Overall numbers/ projected 

need 

230-342          i.e. 45% - 67% 88         i.e 17% 

 

  

Level of need amongst LAC 

in residential care
9
 

52-74 11 

Level of need amongst LAC 

in foster care
6
 

130-218 45 

Level of need amongst LAC 

with 3 or more placement 

moves
6
 

50 24 

 

 

As summarised in table 16, the projected need for tier 2-4 services similarly suggests a 

significant gap between need and provision for the mental health need of Haringey’s looked 

after children and adolescents: 

  

 

 

                                                 
7
 Based on returns for 31.03.04 

8
 Between May 2003 and August 2004 

9
 Missing data on placement type and stability means that these figures represent minimum numbers for each 

category 

 

Page 38



 28 

 

 

Table 16 

Tiers/ Providers 
 

 

Estimated levels 

of need within 

LAC population 

Estimated 

numbers   of  

Haringey’s LACA  

Tier 1 

Primary care services 
 

Mild emotional and behavioural difficulties or the early 

stages of disorders. 

 

 

67.5% 

 

 

344 

 

Tier 2 

Individual specialist/ uni-professional care 

 

Common disorders with one or two risk factors. 

 

 

31.5% 

 

 

161 

Tier 3 

Multi-disciplinary teams in a community child mental 

health clinic or child psychiatry outpatient service 

 

Less common problems indicating a more severe, 

complex or persistent condition.  

 

 

8.33% 

 

 

42 

 

Tier 4 

Tertiary services such as day centres, highly 

specialised outpatient teams and in-patient units 
 

Potentially severe disorders. Intensive and highly 

specialised care usually provided for older children and 

adolescents who are severely mentally ill or a suicidal 

risk. 

 

 

0.34% 

 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

A number of factors need to be taken into account when interpreting these figures. Firstly, a 

number of Haringey’s LACA are placed at a significant distance from Haringey and some of 

these will be children and adolescents requiring (and receiving) more intensive therapeutic/ 

residential in-put. Secondly, therapeutic interventions for looked after children can be 

delayed by ongoing court assessments and proceedings. Thirdly, several other providers are 

involved in offering counselling and therapeutic services to Haringey’s looked after children 

and adolescents: 

 

i) Within the St Ann’s CAMHS team, a clinical psychologist offers consultation and 

short-term interventions in relation to social work referrals to the team (including 

looked after children). 

ii) The Adolescent Outreach team offers clinical services to adolescents (including 

looked after adolescents) presenting with severe and enduring mental health 

problems – though children and adolescents within this category are also referred 

to the LACA CAMHS team.  

iii) The two proposed LAC Senior Practitioner posts will offer consultation and 

support to front-line social workers and provide an important mediating role 

between LAC Social Workers and staff within the LACA CAMHS team. 

iv) Open Door offers psychotherapy and counselling to adolescents in Haringey, 

including some looked after adolescents. 

v) Other community services (including, for example, drug or pregnancy counselling 

or counselling for specific ethnic groups) may also offer therapeutic or 

counselling support to looked after children within Haringey. 

Page 39



 29 

 

Despite these provisos, the gap between referrals to the team and the numbers of Haringey’s 

looked after children would suggest a significant shortfall in the provision of tier 2 and 3 

services. Whilst the projected levels of need identify just over 200 of Haringey’s LACA as 

having a degree of mental disorder requiring tier 2 and 3 services, rates of referral to the 

Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team suggest an annual referral rate of 66
10

. This figure 

is likely to be an under-estimate (given the newly established nature of the team), however 

the size of the team would place severe constraints on any significant increase in referrals. 

Further, the large numbers (344) of Haringey LACA requiring tier 1 provision would also 

suggest an additional increased need for consultation and training and one which is unlikely 

to be wholly accounted for by the new senior practitioner posts.  

 
 

 

 
 

 

                                                 
10

 Based on the 88 referrals to the team between May 2003 and August 2004 

Page 40



 30 

 

 

 
3.1 INTRODUCTION 
 

The Focus Groups were run as a specific piece of work, using independent, external 

consultants
11

 and assistants in order to ensure neutrality.  Those involved were not clinicians, 

had no connection with the Tavistock Clinic’s work in Haringey and were not social workers.   

 

The willingness and openness in which Haringey staff, foster carers and other agencies 

engaged in this process was noticeable and led to the amount of material that it was possible 

to obtain.  As well as meeting the intended aim of gathering information, it seemed that the 

Focus Groups also provided a welcome opportunity for thinking and expressing views and 

concerns. 

 

The needs identified in section 3 of this chapter, and issues arising are a synthesis of the 

findings from the Focus Groups.  Quotations from the video made with young people (see 

chapter 2) have been included, so that their voice is integrated as part of the findings from 

key stakeholders.  The Observations (Section 4) are my views as the consultant running the 

Focus Groups.  

 

 

3.2 METHOD 
 

Nineteen Focus Groups were run with the following teams: 

 
Adoption; AOT; CAMHS; Disabilities; Education (LEA); Foster Carers (Under 11s); Fostering 

Service; Haringey Park children; Haringey Park staff; Health; Hornsey Long term child care 

team; Hornsey Management; Hornsey Referral and Assessment team; Leaving Care Service 

managers; Muswell House staff; Placements and reviewing team; Tavistock team
12

; 

Unaccompanied minors and refugees; Youth Offending team (managers). 

 

The groups were asked to identify key needs for children and adolescents in care and issues 

arising from the work.  Needs were identified against key stages of care. Some overall needs 

and issues throughout care were also identified.  Reports were completed for each Focus 

Group and checked with the teams. 

 

 

3.3 NEEDS AND ISSUES IDENTIFIED 
 

1.   Some needs were identified as critical throughout care:  
These overall needs for children and young people identified by the Focus Groups were: 

• Boundaries 

• Consistency (of relationships) 

                                                 
11

 Due to the timing of the work, the second consultant could only do one Focus Group. 
12

 The feedback from that Focus Group is included in the main body of the Tavistock Report. 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 3:  FOCUS GROUPS: 
 

The voice of the local stakeholders 
 

Page 41



 31 

• Containment 

• Education (including its importance in providing stability). 

• Faster and more comprehensive response by services (including CAMHS) 

• Good placements/foster carers 

• Health 

• Information (for young people, workers and carers) 

• Safety 

• Stability (and so less disruption) 

• To maintain contact with family 

 

Better care planning was identified as critical in meeting these needs: 

 
“Kids need to be clear about where they are going to be and clear about their plan.  If social 

workers aren’t clear, the child can’t possibly be.” 

 
“… my ideal foster carer would be a person who doesn’t care about money, who cares about you 

and puts you the first. Because that’s what … children in care are missing is somebody putting them 

first.” (Suad). 

 

 

2. Other needs identified throughout care 

 

Dealing with attachment, separation and loss was identified by eight Focus Groups (42%): 

 
“The kids are searching for love, in the face of such extreme rejection by parents.” 

 
“Forming an attachment is the key need for the child throughout.  This is difficult for older 

children.  Placement moves and delays hinder this process.” 

 

“Sometimes delays in court or changes in placement are not made for good reasons.  During the 

legal process the children are in limbo – how do we expect them to carry that? ” 

 

One Focus Group identified the need for children not to feel judged  

 
“…and for us to try to get across to them that what has happened is not their fault.” 

 

A particular concern for the Children’s Homes is safety – children abscond and staff are left 

feeling very anxious and helpless. 

 
“These kids are so young and vulnerable, on the streets for several days and nights.  We talk to 

them, but what else can we do?  No-one does anything.  Until there is a tragic death –which is 

waiting to happen – no-one will.” 

 

 

Young people in the Home complained about uncertainty and delays - delays in getting into 

education, and not knowing what was happening to them.   

 

 

3. Mental health services 
 

There is great frustration about difficulties in accessing mental health services: problems 

were identified of CAMHS intervening too late, of services not taking LACA until 

permanency has been established, or because they are too difficult, or too young (one team 

identified a struggle to get CAMHS for children under 12, who often need it so badly).   

Page 42



 32 

 
“The refusal of therapeutic services to see children until permanency has been established is 

hugely frustrating.  They need some sort of help and emotional support NOW.” 

 

“No-one will take some of our children.  For example, a ten year old boy, who has had 12 

placements and was excluded the first day of school.  Now his foster parents are being seen, but 

what about the boy himself?” 

 

“We can’t get help with an eight year old suicidal girl.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One Focus Group identified the difficulty for both social workers and foster carers in dealing 

with issues of mental illness, as they lack the knowledge to do this.  One team raised the 

question of identifying mental health issues:   

 
“Who is responsible for identifying a mental health problem?  And when it is suspected, what do 

we then do?  There is a real gap in the system at the moment.”   

 

Difficulties in getting LACA to use mental health services was raised.  One Focus Group 

thought that having a range of therapies available would be helpful (e.g. play therapy), since 

many children refuse psychotherapy.  Another Group also raised the issue of some 

youngsters not being able to make use of psychotherapy even if they do attend, in which 

case, it was suggested, simple supportive interventions would be more helpful.   

 

The stigma attached to psychotherapy can sometimes be cultural, which effects 

unaccompanied minors; the needs of this group are recognised but workers find it very 

difficult to get them to accept any form of therapeutic intervention.  In some cases this is 

probably also about the fear of losing their ability to maintain a false story about their lives – 

a story which they have learnt/been taught in order to protect themselves and, they believe, 

increase their chances of asylum. 

 

Two Focus Groups were concerned about the lack of feedback from CAMHS to workers, 

teachers, carers etc..  While the issue of confidentiality was understood, it was felt that some 

feedback would allow other professionals or carers to better support the youngster in therapy.  

Two Focus Groups (one of whom was not part of CAMHS) wanted CAMHS to be involved 

throughout the Care process, i.e. in matching, placements etc.. 

 

One team identified the very good therapeutic work which can be done in secure placements, 

but said that little support is then given when the young person leaves.  It would helpful they 

suggested, if interventions started in secure placements, could in some way be continued.  

 

 

4. Communication 
 

All the Focus Groups identified –either directly or indirectly – problems with 

communication:  

• Communication being hindered through the array of different services. 

• Lack of information provided to workers and carers (or provided at the right time). 

“I wanted to stop because the Tavistock was bringing out the wrong side of me. It was making me 

talk about everything that happened, but it just used to bring up too much and I just couldn’t 

handle it because I would leave Tavistock crying, I would go home crying and it just used to bring 

up so much emotion, I just wanted to hide it.” (Edna) 

Page 43



 33 

• Problems in liaison, e.g. between mental health and social services. 

• Problems in communication stemming from a duty system:  “Liaising with a duty 

system means there is little consistency.” 

• Foster carers pointed to the lack of information to children (for instance about their 

siblings, who may be taken into care and they don’t know). 

• Young people reporting to workers that they are not heard enough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Overall needs and issues identified for workers and carers 

 

The following key overall needs for workers and carers were identified:   

• Stability of staff (see below). 

• Sufficient, timely information. 

• Support, education and training for carers (e.g. re mental health issues and 

attachment; to help with the challenges of maintaining relationships with LACA; 

what to expect when a child is newly placed; support through respite care etc.). 

• Support, education and training for workers (e.g. consultation about cases; training in 

mental health issues; education in attachment (identified by two teams). 

• Education and consultation for other professionals: LAC Education suggested 

education in attachment would be very helpful for teachers, as would a forum for 

teachers to get practical advice re handling difficult behaviours etc.. 

• General information about mental health services – what is available, how to access 

it, criteria etc. (identified by one Focus Group). 

 

 

 

 

Stability of staff 
 

Turnover of social workers clearly has an immeasurable impact within the system.  

Comments were made about the speed with which social workers change, which also hinders 

information and communication.  One team commented about how much more disruptive it 

is when a child, let alone other staff, is not even told that a worker is going.  There is also 

concern about the resulting lack of knowledge in the system, where so many workers do not 

know either the system or the children they are responsible for.  Those who have little direct 

contact with children and young people, such as reviewing officers, who only see the child 

every 6 months, find that they now know the children best.  Turnover of staff also means that 

reviews are often postponed because a worker has left or the plans are so inadequate.   

 
“I find the more you change the social worker, the harder it is for the young person, because the 

less they open up to them and the less the social worker’s able to help them.  Some social workers 

they’re OK, but some, they’ll tell you,…‘we’re going back to Australia or we’re going to Japan or 

Timbuktu.’  I mean, what’s the point of telling someone if you know they’re not going to stay there 

to help you through your problem.” (Carol). 

 

 

“Please … when you’re working with a young adult or a young kid, please first of all sit down and 

listen them, please try to understand them, then even if they are in a way wrong or right, judge 

them with them, not just judge on their behalf and … please try to like them, because if you don’t 

like them and if you don’t like what you’re doing and you’re only doing it for the pay check at the 

end of the month, please just don’t do it.”  ( Voice of the Young People: Mehmet). 

Page 44



 34 

Pressure and performance 
 

The pressure of work loads and performance targets is seen as detrimental to the work.  One 

team thought that this can contribute to assessments and reviews overlooking emotional well-

being.  Another team was concerned that when a child begins to disclose, there is not time to 

deal with this, and that children do not get the chance to talk about the trauma of being taken 

into care.  Other workers and carers recognise the immense pressure that there is on district 

social workers now; one team commented that the work now seems to be reduced to meeting 

statutory requirements.  

 

Some teams commented on the style of management, which is felt to be heavy handed and 

controlling.  Two teams commented on the considerably increased numbers being taken into 

care as a result of anxiety after Climbie (though another team thought that there is no longer 

an increase in numbers).   

 
“Work now is reactive rather than preventative.” 

 

“Workers are undermined by management and then do not own decisions…. So much now is about 

crisis.  We then try to reconstruct something suitable out of a mess.  Some of this is our own 

doing.” 

 

The issue of so much being resource-led was raised repeatedly.  Staff feel extremely 

frustrated by this.  Problems with placements – using inappropriate foster carers, moving 

children back into Borough, poor matching - are seen as related to this.  Two teams 

commented on the cost of private carers/agencies – which is bitterly resented among some 

teams.  There is an implicit question about how well Haringey uses its financial resources.   

 

One Focus Group thought that the Service is too often about the anxieties and needs of carers 

rather than the children (e.g. carers needs to “save the young person.”).  One team identified 

the enormity of pressure on them as social workers in dealing with conflicting demands and 

trying (and failing) to keep everyone happy. 

 

The question of whether more harm than good is done was raised by three Focus Groups, 

who also acknowledged the poor chances kids from care have (statistics in prisons; homeless, 

etc.). 

 

 

Effective working and emotional well-being of workers 
 

The need identified for support and consultation for workers was not only to help them, but 

also to protect the LACA service.  One team mentioned the danger of workers colluding with 

children and adolescents.  They suggested that the culture of social work, in which you are 

seen as a failure if you let something affect you, does not help.  The effects on workers 

arising from what the children and adolescents bring, was raised by another team.  One group 

identified the danger of workers not being able to think because of the pressure of work and 

the need for consultation to help them stand back and remain reflective.   

 
“Workers get overwhelmed by the feelings of failure and hopelessness that the young person brings 

with them.  If workers were supported with this it would help them to support the young people 

better.” 

 

“You can get caught up in a merry-go-round of finding, trying to maintain, finding placements the 

whole time and not have the chance to step back and think.”   

 

Page 45



 35 

“You may be plugging away at something that is not the key issue – it is good to see it from a 

different perspective.” 

 

 

 

3.4 NEEDS IDENTIFIED AGAINST KEY STAGES OF CARE  

The following is a description of the needs and issues arising identified by the Focus Groups 

at each stage of care. 

 

 

1. PRE-ENTRY INTO CARE (referral; initial assessment; planning) 

 

Available information 

 

Eight Focus Groups (42%) identified the need for proper information, clear care plans, initial 

checks and risk assessment.  Information is needed in order to make a suitable match, 

identify needs, make decisions and plans.  In the children’s homes this information is vital so 

that routines and boundaries can be quickly set up.  One Focus Group was concerned about 

the lack of care and planning while court proceedings are ongoing.  

 

The lack of adequate or timely information was highlighted as a major frustration and 

difficulty.  Linked to this is the issue of inadequate planning.
13

  There are problems with 

information to workers (in social services and other agencies), carers and LACA (who, one 

team said, are often left uninformed about what is happening to them).  Three Focus Groups 

said that information to pre-warn those concerned about what to expect would be very 

helpful.  For example, letting foster carers or children’s homes know that a child wets the 

bed; letting teachers know what to expect if a child goes into therapy.  Essential gaps in 

information were identified.  For instance, contact arrangements; not knowing a child is 

Looked After; children disappearing into other boroughs for months with no information 

given to a team.  The problematic nature of confidentiality was raised by one Focus Group, 

who thought that it was not always in the interest of the child.  The question they said, is 

whether different professional groups trust each other or: 

 
Is confidentiality being used as a blanket to withhold information?  

 

 

Supporting families  

 

The importance of supporting families in order to maintain the child at home was identified 

as the key need at this stage by two Focus Groups (11%). 

 

One group identified the need for support for the family of origin around contact with the 

child, and how difficult this is.  The emphasis they said, is quite rightly on the child, but all 

family members need support around contact.  Two other groups identified the need for more 

involvement of parents at this stage.   

 
“Intensive rehabilitation for parents is needed so that the bond with the child is not destroyed.  

Many kids are in and out of care, yet there is no work done to rehabilitate their parents and make 

returning to the family easier and less traumatic.” 

 

For the adoption and fostering link teams there is an additional need to recruit adoptive 

families and carers.  Assessment of adoptive families or foster carers is “very intense and 

                                                 
13

 This is also connected to the turnover of social workers.  

Page 46



 36 

intrusive”, probing into the backgrounds of potential adoptive families or carers.  It is a 

demanding and emotional experience for people, needing sensitivity and support from 

workers.  One team identified the lack of follow up for potential carers/adoptive parents, for 

whom very difficult issues may have been raised, such as their own infertility or experience 

of past abuse.   

 

Support to the family and child at this stage is also important for the Disabilities team, since 

it often takes a long time to find the right placement, which can be very difficult for families 

to deal with.  On the positive side, this provides a period of adjustment by the child and their 

parents. 

 

 

Protection 

 

Two Focus Groups identified the issue of protection, safety and building trust.  For the 

Referral and Assessment team the short timescale for completing the initial assessment (7 

days) – a difficulty in its own right - compounds the difficulty of trying to establish trust with 

the child, particularly in child protection cases.   

 

Protection is also a significant, complex and ongoing issue in work with unaccompanied 

minors (e.g. in the case of traffickers).  For these young people basic needs - money, food, 

clothing, accommodation, physical health, education – have to be met at the initial 

assessment stage.   

 

 

Mental Health involvement 

 

Three Focus Groups (not CAMHS) identified the need for CAMHS involvement at this 

stage.  One of these said there needed to be a CAMHS input from the beginning of the care 

process as these children are more likely to have mental health issues that can cause further 

damage.  Another group said there should be CAMHS involvement where emotional 

difficulties are apparent, requiring prompt intervention to identify and address the problems.  

The third group was concerned with the need for CAMHS to be involved where abuse is 

suspected; they are extremely frustrated by the lack of this:  

 

“There is a need for CAMHS input to help the child to verbalise abuse.  There is a real lack of 

interagency work in this, which means that the abuse continues longer than it need.” 

 

Another Focus Group identified the importance of speed in getting support and counselling 

for the child.   

 

 

Seeing the child/young person  

 
“When you leave the house and you’re packing your clothes and you’re packing your books and 

you’re packing everything in your life, you’re also packing an invisible package there as well, 

which is the piece of papers, that you can’t see, because they’re obviously floating around you and 

everybody else is reading about you and they know about you, they’re doing courses about you … 

You don’t know what to say or what to do about it, ‘cos if it was right in front of your face, then 

you … could just say ‘look here I don’t think that’s right’, but they don’t show it to you, they share 

that information amongst themselves.” (Suad). 

 

Page 47



 37 

An issue for the Disabilities team is that youngsters can often become invisible, with their 

needs being identified by parents, carers, teachers.  Similarly, in child protection cases, the 

wishes of the child need to be kept in mind and represented in court. 

 

 

 

 

Inappropriate referrals 

 

This can be an issue for the children’s homes who sometimes get youngster referred to them 

that they are not equipped to deal with.  At other times, the referral may be appropriate, but 

the child would be too disruptive/unsafe within the particular community at that point in 

time. 

 

 

 

2. ENTRY INTO CARE 

 

Seven Focus Groups (37%) identified needs relating to placements – better matching; the 

importance of getting the right placement to avoid future problems and placement 

breakdown; the need for continuity in placements.  One Focus Group commented on how 

continuity gets stopped at this stage: 

 
“Continuity is needed but at the moment there is a change of social worker as the child goes from 

the assessment stage to long term care.  Further loss is generated by placing children out of 

borough.  The children routinely lose contact with their community of origin.” 

 

One Focus Group commented that on the lack of understanding of the emotional issues 

relating to placement moves, such as attachment issues that get provoked with every 

placement.  They thought that carers could be given much more preparation about what to 

expect when a young person takes up a new placement, for example the “acting out” that 

may happen at the beginning, or once a youngster feels safe enough to challenge carers. 

 

Another team suggested that placement breakdown is a key stage for foster carers as well as 

for LACA.  Carers often feel guilty and blamed.  Workers need to be very sensitive about 

how they handle this.  One team mentioned the use of the disruption meeting - there were 

different views as to whether this was in order to try to repair a placement, or whether it was 

called after a placement has already broken down.   

 

One Focus Group suggested that matching needed be related to LACA’s attachment patterns.  

Two groups (one non-CAMHS) thought that CAMHS should be involved in the matching 

process. 

 
“Sensible placements are very difficult to make, but the wrong placement leads to a much more 

disturbed child further down the line (so making it more expensive in the long term).  Lack of care 

about placements and disrupting young people causes serious damage and can jeopardise their 

futures.”  

 

The crudeness of matching was raised by a number of teams.  It was recognised that given 

the shortage of carers, and turnover and pressure on social workers, this is often all that can 

be done, but that it leads to much greater problems. 

 
If a black child is placed with a black family it is seen as a good placement, but it could be a 

Muslim child with a Christian family, with different food etc.. It’s all about resources though. 

Page 48



 38 

 

For unaccompanied minors out of Borough placements may mean that they are the only 

young person of their ethnic origin in their local area.  Racism, including racial violence, can 

be part of what they have to deal with. 

 

For younger children in homes, there is a real issue about the speed of finding foster care:  

 
“It is very important for placements to happen fast as there is a brief window of opportunity when 

the child is still hopeful about their future.  This often does not happen.  There is a lot of drift; it is 

very frustrating watching a child deteriorate because plans for their care simply do not 

materialise.  The reality is they have to deteriorate in order to get placed.  And they know it.” 

 

Permanency 

 

The impact on placements of the uncertainty while court proceedings are ongoing was raised 

by one team.  Another focus group identified the problematic issue of when a decision about 

permanency is made: 

 
 “The decision about permanency is a key stage, but at what point do you do that? Apart from 

anything else, long term planning often gets delayed by the courts (and Guardians).” 

 

 

Supporting children 

 

One group identified the need for support/therapy during the initial period of uncertainty 

while the court case is pending. 

 

Two teams identified the need to deal with the trauma of going into care.  For Foster Carers, 

this means it is important to deal with emotions about not being at home: 

 
“Some kids need counselling to cope with loss and separation.  Most are traumatised – we need to 

recognise that.” 

 

 
“I didn’t know this woman, I felt very uncomfortable, I mean she was really nice and all that, but 

because … I didn’t know her and she wasn’t my family, I didn’t feel right, I didn’t want to take off 

my jacket when I was in the house, I slept in my jacket, I woke up in my jacket, I wouldn’t even 

want to use her bathroom or nothing like that, but after a while, I got used to her still, so.” (Linda) 

 

Young people in the children’s home said they wanted more to do and things you could do 

together (e.g. monopoly), when they first went into the home.  They also implied how 

frightening the children’s home is initially, suggesting how important that entry stage is for 

them: 

 
“I just said yes to everyone when I first came here.”  

 

Staff in homes identified the need to establish a routine and boundaries for youngsters as 

soon as possible when children come into the home; getting thorough and speedy information 

is vital to this.  Establishing a routine, and minimising the disruption of existing routines, 

especially for younger children, is also very important at entry into foster care; one focus 

group identified the importance of the placement agreement meeting in this, so that vital 

information can be passed on and an agreement made between the child, foster carers, 

parents and social worker about practical issues and contact arrangements.   

 

Page 49



 39 

 

Supporting families 

 

For the Disabilities team this is a time of on-going support for parents – dealing with their 

loss and extreme feelings.  As at pre-entry, there is a need to try to communicate directly 

with children.  

 

When a child is first adopted, support to the adoptive family is key.  It is linked to the 

particular needs of that child (e.g. attachment, experience of early parenting, neglect).  Also 

in adoption a key point is the last contact meeting with parents: 

 
“This goodbye visit is a key stage for the child.  Sometimes parents don’t come – it is just too final. 

For everyone –workers too – it is hard to keep the goodbye visits in mind – maybe because it is so 

painful.” 

 

 

 

Long term work 

 

Ensuring adequate care plans, including contact and links with the birth family, is vital for 

long-term teams at this stage.  Another key need for them is to balance all perspectives, 

which is very difficult with so many conflicting demands and needs.   

 
“The social workers are always criticised at this point because they cannot please everybody.” 

 

Two Focus Groups identified the importance of life-story work for children and young 

people going into long-term fostering.  One issue around this is who does it; one team noted 

that foster carers should help with this, but often do not want to get involved.  It was 

recognised however, that it can be a very difficult, painful piece of work, so a lot to expect 

from carers.  Another team noted how important it was for social workers to do this work, 

but that they are so overrun at present it gets lost
14

: 

 
“It then re-emerges when the trail has gone cold; this is a constant thorn in our side.” 

 

 

Meeting basic needs 

 

One Focus Group identified the need to provide for basic physical needs and safety.  For 

LAC Education, the need at this stage is to get LACA into school within 20 days of them 

becoming Looked After: for certain ages – particularly year 11 - this can be extremely 

difficult because of the shortage of school places.   

 

Another need at this stage identified by two groups is for children to build trust – with social 

workers and carers. 

 

 

 

                                                 
14

 In addition to the very real pressures of workloads, it seems to me that the pain of this work for social 

workers – as for carers - may be unconsciously contribute to it getting overlooked.   

Page 50



 40 

3. ADOLESCENCE  

 

Identity 

 

Three Focus Groups identified needs to do with identity formation: identity issues are clearly 

accentuated for Looked After Children and Adolescents.  For unaccompanied minors identity 

is very complex, made harder at times through the necessary web of deceit that they have 

concocted about their lives.  Around this age young people become much more aware of their 

race and ethnic origin but they do not have role models to learn from and identify with.  

Issues of difference also compounds the sensitivity of adolescence.  Rejection – for instance 

in attempting to get a girlfriend - can therefore be particularly difficult. 

 

One Focus Group thought that foster carers are not always equipped to cope with the race 

and cultural issues which all come to the fore at this stage.  Addressing issues of sexuality is 

also an issue – one team were unsure if social workers talk to young people about these 

issues and organise support for them if necessary.   

 

One Focus Group commented that cultural differences, as well as generational differences 

between LACA and their carers, may arise at this time.  The amount of freedom allowed to 

adolescents for instance, is partly cultural.
15

   

 

One Focus Group commented on the importance of social workers helping children to: 

 
“… formulate a story to explain their situation and help them form an identity.  Yet this can only be 

achieved successfully after a long time of developing a relationship with the social worker – with 

social workers changing so regularly, this is very difficult.” 

 
“You’ve had so many houses that you’ve gone though and so many, I don’t know, you lose the 

value of a place of your own, you lose that whole thing, … and plus you lose your respect, your self 

respect in a way. When you keep moving from place to place you lose your self, and your self-

respect as well goes along with it, and once you lose that, I think that’s why most kids actually 

ended up in criminal stuff, because they lost themselves in that way.” (Suad) 

 

 

Being adolescent 

 

One Focus Group said that an issue at this stage for workers and carers is to distinguish 

between ‘normal’ adolescent behaviour and mental disturbance.  

 
“At this age it may be difficult to identify if problems are related to issues of mental health or of 

care and control.” 

 

As with other adolescents, vulnerability to mental illness can come to the fore at this stage 

for disabled youngsters, but for the Disabilities team there is the additional issue of 

distinguishing between the normal physiological changes of adolescence and changes caused 

by the disability (for instance as a result of medication).  For this team there is the continuing 

need to listen to young people and give them a chance to voice their opinions for their care, 

rather than workers just hearing the voice of parents.  Young people at this stage need: 

 
“…to express their hopes and wants for the future.  But this is in the painful context of the reality 

for the majority of these adolescents who will remain in a residential placement throughout their 

adult lives.”   

                                                 
15

 I imagine this is a particular issue where a child and foster carer come from very different cultures.  

Page 51



 41 

 

In the children’s home, staff noted the need to:  

 
“…address the usual issues with young people, including puberty and sexuality.  It is also 

important that staff provide positive role models for the adolescents.” 

 

One Focus Group commented on the difficulties faced by Looked After youngsters in 

relationships and felt that generally relationship issues are seriously neglected throughout the 

Service. 

 

One team thought that social workers do not work well with adolescence: 

 
“…they try, as is the nature of their job, to control the children, but adolescents won’t let you do 

that.   Social workers need to work in a way that works with adolescence, not against it.” 

 

 

Practical issues 

 

A particular pressure at this stage for unaccompanied minors is to earn money and so there is 

the temptation for young men around 16 years old, to leave services and work illegally (e.g. 

on building sites).  In these cases workers need to encourage them to remain in the service. 

 

For disabled adolescents practical difficulties, such as it becoming harder for carers to 

physically move those who are unable to move themselves (which also has health and safety 

implications), mitigates against respecting the adolescent’s autonomy and dignity.  There is 

also the practical issue of resources to provide meaningful packages of care.  For instance, an 

increase in Day Centres would mean it was possible to offer the young people more 

specialised packages, particularly in the transition to adult life. 

 

One Focus Group said that more suitable youth facilities in Haringey with a range of 

activities and services are needed: 

 
“A central venue with a range of activities would be very helpful.  This could also house some 

mental health services; more children would go if mental health services were in a neutral 

environment such as ‘shop front’ where there is no stigma attached.  Other health services could 

be here too.  Looked After Children do not have one person to turn to for health advice like a 

parent, so they need at least one place for this.” 

 

Information and education about health, drugs etc. was identified as a need at this stage by 

three Focus Groups.  

 

 

Transition 

 

One Focus Group identified the need for support with transition points associated with 

adolescence (school, exams, etc.).  For LAC Education, transition points are very significant 

and often times when difficulties occur.  As well as the critical transition between primary 

and secondary school, year 9 and the pressure of choosing GCSE options is a key time.  

Those with early birthdays who move into Leaving Care and therefore into independent 

living while studying for GCSEs face a particularly difficult transition. 

 

 

 

Page 52



 42 

4. LEAVING CARE 

 

 

Preparation for independent living 

 

Five Focus Groups identified the need to prepare LACA for independent living.  One team 

said that it was important that preparation is emotional as well as practical.  The Leaving 

Care service has to try to meet a wide range of needs, from straightforward financial support 

to: 

 
“…very complex and often high dependency needs…A key need is to fast track young people for 

independent living, so that they can cope with daily tasks such as cooking.”  

 

 

Going into Leaving Care 

 
“For myself, I do worry, because like I said to Haringey, I wasn’t ready for this whole semi-

independence thing, you need the support and I don’t feel that I’m really getting that from 

Haringey, so I’d rather have been with the family … because I was getting that when I was there 

and I’m still getting that with them anyway, so.” (Catherine). 

 

Social workers and RSWs are very aware of the added uncertainty and change moving to 

Leaving Care creates for an adolescent, who is already dealing with so much
16

.  Some teams 

raised the issue of how hard it can be to explain to youngsters that they are going into 

Leaving Care – some don’t understand, some refuse to talk about it.  This makes preparation 

very difficult.  On the other hand, some young people in the children’s home can’t wait to get 

to Leaving Care and be independent. 

 

One issue for workers is the lack of flexibility in moving young people to Leaving Care: 

 
“It might be a particularly difficult time in the kid’s life, when other factors are already making it 

hard for them to function successfully at school and at home.  In these cases postponing leaving 

care for a few months would be far better.” 

 

The financial imperative to move kids back into Borough at this stage was raised by several 

teams and is seen as a major disruption:  

 
“One thing that does not help is bringing kids from out of Borough (and there is a 90% chance of a 

child being placed in Kent at the moment, with private fostering agencies), into Borough when they 

go into Leaving Care, which is done to save money.”   

 

“This can be very detrimental to a child who has settled well into their placement.  Sometimes an 

issue can occur, such as a fight, that is seen as related to geography, so the child is moved, but it 

may have nothing to do with this.  Where a young person has never lived in Haringey, this change 

is even harder.”  

 

One team commented on the loss of continuity, not only in the change of social worker but 

the change in care plan which can happen when youngsters go into Leaving Care (again this 

might relate to bringing them back into Borough).  The impact of this is felt to waste a good 

deal of the work previously done.  Another Focus Group identified the particular need for 

continuity at this stage – of the care plan; of social worker; of placement.   

 

                                                 
16

 It is clear that workers also feel the pain of the transition. 

Page 53



 43 

An issue for the Leaving Care service is how hard it often is to engage with youngsters at this 

stage, due to their previous experience of the care system: 

 
“…these young people have been let down continually, usually experiencing little stability while in 

care.” 

 

Sometimes, it was noted, they engage better with housing workers simply because they are 

not social workers (particularly given the high numbers of social workers youngsters will 

have had by this point).   

 

Assessment and risk 

 

The needs assessment should be done by someone who knows the child well prior to them 

coming to Leaving Care, but the Leaving Care service has difficulties in getting progress 

reports, or any real evidence that work is occurring with the child.   

 

Anxiety around risk is a need which the Leaving Care service has to manage: 

 
“Some of the young people are very disturbed creating high levels of anxiety, particularly where 

they are suspected to have committed or be liable to commit sex offences.  The anxiety is generally 

from outside the Service; dealing with that and constantly balancing risk - including assessing how 

current the issue is - is part of the job.” 

 

 

Relationships 

 

One Focus Group identified the problematic nature of relationships for LACA, as particularly 

worrying when they are leaving care:  

 
“These youngsters do not have models of healthy relationships.  Foster carers are faced with their 

dysfunctional understanding of intimacy; they sometimes perceive abuse as love, refusing to allow 

either the foster carer or social worker to support them in leaving abusive relationships, and so 

putting themselves at risk of abuse and domestic violence.” 

 

One team commented on the high numbers of pregnancies amongst LACA, suggesting that 

more sexual health education is needed.  The increasing number of pregnancies amongst 

unaccompanied minors, many of whom get pregnant very soon after coming to this country, 

may be linked to the belief that it will help to secure asylum status.   

 

Education 

 
Encouraging good education achievement (and meeting performance targets) is difficult.  

Motivation is one issue; getting up in the morning for instance, when there is no-one to make 

you.  For unaccompanied minors - who can be highly motivated - there are barriers of 

language and the pressure of the ambiguity of their asylum status. 

 

Leaving 

 

The Leaving Care service identified the importance for young people to re-establish contact 

with family members at this stage: 

 
“The corporate parent doesn’t go to weddings years after the child has left care, it cannot replace 

family.”   

 

Page 54



 44 

This also relates to the need to ensure that young people have support networks set up, and 

the anxiety felt when young people do not have this in place before they leave care. 

 

For foster carers dealing with the emotional impact of a child or adolescent leaving a 

placement is important and painful, both for the child and the carer.  In the children’s home 

each leaving evokes feelings of loss and separation for all the other LACA, so there is a need 

to address the feelings brought up with those who are not leaving.  

 

The importance of liaison with other services was identified by one Focus Group:  

 
“The last few months before leaving care are crucial as often things blow-up for an adolescent at 

this point.  This is also just at the transition point between child and adult services, so liaison with 

other services – for example adult psychiatry – is important.” 

 

As they go into Leaving Care, unaccompanied minors have the added pressure of dealing 

with ambiguity around their asylum status:  

 
“This impacts on the social worker, who has the dual role of preparing the young person for 

possible independent living after care, while reinforcing the possibility that they may have to leave 

the country and enforcing Home Office decisions.”  

 

Premature leaving was seen as a major issue: 

 
“It can be very painful when a young person is 16 and being made to leave care when they are 

clearly not ready to be responsible for themselves.  It’s not easy taking on your own life at 16 years 

old.” 

 

“Young people are often extremely reluctant to move from stable foster care into semi-independent 

living.  The majority of them aren’t emotionally ready for this – they are forced into premature 

independence - but the Service pretends that they are ready because they have to be.  Many young 

people simply do not believe the support will end (they transfer their dependence on foster carers 

to Social Services).” 

 

The ending of care means that the Leaving Care service is “the end of the line”.  There is 

therefore some frustration at the lack of preparation for independence before young people 

come into Leaving Care, where there is such a pressure to get everything “done and dusted” 

before a youngster hits 18:   

 
“Yet the reality is that these young people are often very immature and cannot be expected to have 

done everything by the age of 18.  The normal age for leaving home is around 23, whereas for 

Looked After Children it is 17.” 

 

The Leaving Care service also pointed to the lack of provision when young people are 19, a 

year after care has officially ended, but an age when many mental health issues can emerge. 

 

 

 

Page 55



 45 

3.5 CONSULTANT’S OBSERVATIONS 

 

These observations are my personal views, based on my experience of running the Focus 

Groups.  That experience is limited, and I may have some misconceptions, but I hope my 

observations can add to the thinking about the needs and emotional well-being of Looked 

After Children and Adolescents in Haringey. 

 
I was repeatedly struck by just how enormously difficult and painful this work is, and how much 

commitment and involvement workers retain.  I wondered about the inevitable stress and strain and 

how much support is given to workers in dealing with the emotional effect of the work.  Clearly this 

is done through supervision and peer support, but I wondered for instance, when I heard about a 

team that had lost all its staff, how much work is done with teams to support them in thinking about 

the impact of the work and what is happening to and for the team. 

 

 

1. Understanding the system 

 

As an outsider coming into Haringey and into social services, I was initially confused: how 

did this system work, who did what, what did some terms, such as ‘link officer’ mean.  

Sometimes I found that just when I thought I had understood something, I discovered that I 

had not understood at all.  What made it more confusing was that this often happened after 

clarifying with one team what another team did, only to find this was not the case when I met 

the other team.  My guess is not that teams do not know what each other do (though of course 

that might also be true), but that it was often a case of language: we used terms differently 

without realising it, titles of teams are shortened which change the apparent meaning, or 

terms are used to convey what the intended practice is, rather than the reality.  So, for 

instance, I thought long term meant just that, when in fact it can mean very short term.  I 

discovered that the placements team are in fact the reviewing and placement team and do not 

place children; the referral team is actually the assessment and referral team and basically 

receive rather than make referrals.   

 

I also had to rapidly make sense of the different systems and cultures within the system as a 

whole, so trying to understand what something meant when it was said by Health as opposed 

to Social Services etc..   

 
What must it be like for children and young people, for parents, foster carers, different agencies 

and professionals coming into and trying to make sense of the Service?  

 

 

2. The environment 

 

While some of the backdrop against which Haringey is working was clearly expressed – 

financial constraints, low morale in social work generally and high turnover of social workers 

– what was spoken about less often, but nonetheless seemed to me to be very present as an 

emotional tone, was the ongoing impact of Victoria Climbie, with all the consequent guilt, 

blame, demoralisation, fears of using or allowing others to use, professional judgement.  Part 

of this was the feeling, which some spoke about, of Haringey not being trusted by the courts 

and the difficulties that come from that. 

 

In addition to the mirroring of dysfunctional warring families which is bound to get into the 

work, the effect of Victoria Climbie (and the degree of scrutiny and inspection which 

followed), must contribute to what felt to me a rather war-like environment.  Accusations of 

people doing this just for money (children accusing carers and workers, workers accusing 

carers); people feeling the need to insist on and spell out their rights (children to carers and 

Page 56



 46 

workers, carers to workers); courts distrusting Haringey; Guardians using tactical delays; 

battles and poor communication between Health and Social Services and between different 

parts of the CAMHS service etc..   

 

The 1999 Joint Review said that Haringey was in transition moving towards an empowering 

culture (1999, Joint Review, p. 19).  I imagine that a further effect of Victoria Climbie is the 

shift back towards a more inhibiting culture with centralised control.  This in turn makes it 

more difficult for workers to use their professional judgement and to own risk.  It is of course 

a vicious circle, which increases risk, and so anxiety, leading to greater fear of owning risk, 

and so on.  It seems likely that within this environment there is some collusion between 

management and workers for management to take even more control, which then only 

continues the vicious circle.  The turnover of social workers and the consequent lack of 

experience in the system must compound this, as must the climate of central control by 

government on all public bodies.   

 

 

3. Fact and fantasy 

 

It seems that there is not always clarity around what is fact and what is fantasy.  Certainly 

different teams have different perceptions about the facts, such as whether or not Haringey is 

currently taking considerably more children into care as a result of Victoria Climbie.  The 

lack of clear facts seems to enhance the confusion and chaos which must be in the system, 

due to the nature of the work and the disturbance that LACA bring with them.  While 

difficulties with information, communication and liaison, may in part arise from the chaos 

and confusion, they must certainly contribute to it.  

 

 

4. Splitting between teams  

 

It seems to me that different teams or parts of the system represent the different feelings and 

difficulties about the work within the system as a whole.  There is a striking split between the 

Leaving Care service and the rest of the Service.  Other teams often perceive Leaving Care as 

tough and uncaring; Leaving Care feels that sometimes other teams/carers are too soft on 

young people, doing them a disservice by not preparing them for the basics of independent 

living
17

.  Another split appears to be between social workers and foster carers – it seems that 

neither group care or do enough in the other’s eyes.  Within social services, the Fostering 

Link team stand up for carers, but feel that they themselves are unheard.  And indeed, they 

were not mentioned by other teams, which given their role, was noticeable.  I wonder if this 

reflects the lack of linking within the system, in which many teams remain fairly invisible to 

each other.  The Disabilities team also feel overlooked within the overall system.  In relation 

to link workers however, it may also be that they are seen as too close to carers, and are 

therefore distanced by other workers.  One area of unification amongst all the splits, seems to 

be in the common enemy of the courts and Guardians.   

 

Some of these splits must arise directly from the work, mirroring the splitting, side taking 

and wars within the families the children and young people come from.  It may also be that 

the resentments, blame and misunderstandings among teams, are exacerbated by the way the 

care system is carved up.  The structure
18

 imports and repeats the original experience of the 

                                                 
17

 Splitting around Leaving Care is likely to be influenced by the increase in anxiety which, feedback from the 

Focus Groups suggests, understandably increases for both young people and those around them, as youngsters 

move into this final stage of care.   

 
18

 I appreciate this is not just Haringey but is very common.  

Page 57



 47 

child taken into care.  Going into care means being taken away from care – as damaging as 

that care may have been.  It is about supreme loss.  And loss is then built into the care 

system: once in care, as soon as the assessment and referral stage is completed and the care 

order secured, the child is removed again – on to another team, another social worker.  Once 

they enter the final stage of care, they are removed again – on to the leaving care service – 

another team, another social worker, semi-independent living.  This is structural, regardless 

of any changes in social workers.  I am not suggesting that this can be avoided: the perfect 

structure does not exist and no structure can avoid the possibility of splitting between 

different parts of a service.  But my impression is that this system lacks ways or opportunities 

of thinking about what is behind the splits and managing the structure so that splitting is 

reduced. 

 

It may be that an unconscious aim of the splitting is to protect against some of the intolerable 

feelings caused by the work.  In the case of leaving care, it could be against the brutal reality 

of care ending, and the limits of what it has been possible to do for young people.  Worse 

still, the reality of the damage that the care system itself has caused.  By making Leaving 

Care the ones who push young people out, others can be spared some of that pain.  Likewise, 

Leaving Care can protect themselves from some of the intolerable feelings by blaming the 

previous lack of work.  In the case of foster carers and social workers, it may be that each 

blames the other as an unconscious way of protecting themselves against unbearable pain:  

the pain from the children’s unbearable pain and rage, which carers and social workers face 

the most and so absorb the most; and their own unbearable pain of not being able to repair 

the irrevocable damage done to these children, and the feelings of self blame, anger, 

impotence and incompetence that then ensues.   

 

It may be that workers feel terrible failure and disappointment about LACA who do not 

emerge well from care.  Writing about the need of staff for patients to get better, and the 

effect on them when this does not happen, Tom Main said: 

 
“These failures did more than disappoint – they left all concerned with mixed feelings of 

uneasiness, personal blame and defensive blaming of others.  They got under the skin and hurt.” 

(Main, 1957, p.27). 

“Whenever something goes wrong with certain distressed patients after lengthy and devoted care, 

it is not difficult to notice the … staff ailment…the blaming and contempt of others for their 

limitations of theory, ability, humanity or realism.” (Main, 1957, p. 29). 

 

If there is some idealising about what can be done, the feelings of disappointment and blame 

will be heightened.  So if, for instance, there is a belief that if only the right placement were 

found, all the damage would be fixed and the child would be alright, there will be greater 

disappointment and blame when it does not turn out like that.  In reality of course there is no 

ideal placement, no ideal foster carer, no ideal social worker, no miracle therapeutic 

intervention and the damage cannot be fixed.   

 

 

5. Fragmentation 

 

Related to the issue of splitting is the fragmentation of the service: the vast array of 

professionals and agencies involved in providing care causes fragmentation of that care and 

must add to the potential for splitting.  In this sense, it is likely to replicate and compound 

both the unhealthy external world LACA come from, and the disturbed internal world of 

these children and young people.  My feeling is that the lack of containment within the 

system for LACA, workers and carers contributes to fragmentation; the more disturbed a 

child is, or the more desperate a worker or carer is, more people/agencies are called in to 

help.  

Page 58



 48 

 

 

6. Mental health issues 

 

My impression is that potentially CAMHS could get completely overwhelmed by the needs 

in the system from LACA, workers and carers.  Needs arising from high levels of disturbance 

and by the impact of that disturbance throughout the system, which must create desperation, 

for someone to make things right.   

 

Along with potentially overwhelming need, I also suspect that CAMHS could be set up to 

fail (as perhaps social workers and carers are) by the system being overly optimistic about 

what mental health interventions can do.  Perhaps this is linked to some denial within the 

system about just how damaged these children and adolescents are. 

 

One of the anxieties seems to be about spotting mental illness, let alone dealing with it, 

without knowledge or training.  The feeling that you will be blamed for not spotting 

something must only make it worse.  

 

I am not sure if all those involved in providing care to LACA see emotional well-being as 

part of their brief, or whether to some extent this is left with mental health professionals.  

Given the pressures of the work, the extent of mental health issues and damage, this is very 

understandable, but the reality for the child or adolescent is that everyone throughout the 

system, whether they want to or not, has an impact on their emotional well-being.  

 

While some teams differentiated between the local CAMHS and the Tavistock Clinic, others 

spoke generally about mental health services.  It may be that there is confusion about the 

different services involved and/or that some parts of the system are not aware of changes in 

CAMHS provision in Haringey, and could be basing decisions for instance about referral, on 

outdated information. 

 

 

7. Resources 

 

Lack of resources is a very real problem.  I had the feeling however, that feelings about 

resources, particularly about money, might also symbolise the impossibility of the work and 

the insatiable needs (perhaps what is felt as greed at times), which resources cannot meet.  In 

this sense, money becomes a concrete thing on which to locate the frustration and despair 

about what cannot be done.
19

   

 

Money also seems to represent the conflict between doing this work as a vocation or a job.  

LACA in effect accuse carers and workers of only working for money; workers are infuriated 

by the vast amount of money which goes to private agencies and carers.  In this case money 

highlights inequity, but it also seems to represent what may be (unconsciously) seen as 

something rather dirty about this being just a job, rather than a vocation - done more for 

money, than love
20

.   

 

In the accusations about money, maybe what people are being accused of is also being needy.  

Perhaps it is okay for children to have needs, but not for workers or carers.  Perhaps when 

                                                 
19

 It is interesting to note in this context the difficulty in retaining social workers, despite Haringey’s high pay 

rates.   
20

 Given that the work must evoke a good deal of hate, I wonder if what also gets tangled up in this is the guilt 

associated with that.   

Page 59



 49 

workers complain about lack of resources, they are complaining in part, about the lack of 

care they receive in their work. 

 

Resource problems clearly hinder or stop work, but perhaps at times they also provide a 

reason for backing away from unbearable pain.  One example given of resources stopping 

work was not being able to take the time to talk to a child who begins to disclose or talk to 

them about the trauma of being taken into care.  This is acutely painful and at times resource 

constraints protect workers from taking on such unbearable pain, particularly when they are 

under such pressure and do not have sufficient support in dealing with it.   

 

 

8. Disadvantaged groups  

 

Every group of LACA is by definition disadvantaged, but within the enormity of 

disadvantage and deprivation, it would seem that a covert hierarchy exists, with some groups 

at a greater disadvantage within the system, than others.  The findings of the Focus Groups 

suggests that this stems either from implicit values about who deserves care, or is to do with 

complexity of needs.  The experience of the Youth Offending service is that offenders are 

seen as “less worthy”, resulting in a reluctance to help them.  It may also be that the existing 

pressure on services leads to passing around those LACA with other identifiers.  So, for 

example, a child with mental health needs who is an offender is passed to the YOT, partly 

because CAMHS does not have the resources to cope with the demand.   

 

The difficulty in accessing services for those with additional needs such as learning 

disabilities or organic problems, suggests that these LACA end up in effect get pushed down 

the hierarchy, perhaps because of the overwhelming amount of need and the additional time 

it would take workers already stretched too far, to set up other provision.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 50 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 4:  REPORT ON THE CONFERENCE: 

Bringing colleagues together 
 

 

 
4.1 Introduction 
The Conference was held on 30

th
 April 2004, at the TUC Conference Centre, Crouch End.  

The Conference was seen as an essential element in the Needs Assessment.  There is a wealth 

of knowledge about LACA within the various parts of the overall system that provides care; 

we became increasingly aware that the majority involved in the work had difficulties in 

perceiving and understanding the system as a whole.  Accordingly, we wanted to provide an 

opportunity to bring people together who work in different parts of the system, and to hear 

and report their thinking about the work and their place within it.   

 

4.2 Aims: 
The aims were two-fold:   

1. To provide a forum for dialogue and exchange between all those involved in the care 

of children and adolescents who are Looked-After.  

2. To identify and consider what needs to be provided for Looked After Children and 

Adolescents to ensure their emotional well-being.   

 

4.3 Who Attended?   
All those involved in the care of LACA in Haringey were invited.  On the day, 

representatives from many of the professions attended, although there were some 

professional groups who were not able to come. 

 

Professionals who attended:  
foster carers, link workers, social workers, teachers, school nurses, connexions workers, 

commissioners, managers; various health professionals including doctors, health visitors 

and nurses;  and various CAMHS professionals including psychiatrists, clinical 

psychologists, child and adolescent psychotherapists, social workers, family therapists and 

administrators.     

 

They represented a number of different services across the Borough:  

 

Services Represented:   
The fostering service, asylum team, LAC-CAMHS, residential service, the referral and assessment 

services in Tottenham and Hornsey, the long-term teams in Tottenham and Hornsey, disabled 

children’s team, LAC-Education, Teenage Intervention Service, LAC-Health, AOT, Sexual Health 

Service, the Tavistock Clinic, Leaving Care Team, Youth Offending Service, Teenager Pregnancy 

Unit, NCH Haringey Children’s Rights Service, NSPCC, Social Services, Family Placements,  etc.. 

 

 

96 people were registered for the conference.  On the day 86 attended.    

 

User Representatives – Looked After young people: 
They were represented through their video, described below, although we did not invite them to 

attend this particular conference in person.  The young people had a very powerful impact on the 

proceedings of the day.   

 

Page 61



 51 

The number of services and of professional groupings represented brings home the 

complicated nature of the service as a whole and the difficulty of thinking about it as a single 

functioning system.  The professionals themselves referred to its confusing nature.  Questions 

arise about what it must be like for the child or parent trying to understand the system, and 

what it must be like to have responsibilities for managing it.   

 

User Representatives/Professionals – The Foster-Carers: 
Foster carers were invited and a number attended and contributed on the day.    During the day, 

foster-carers were seen as part of the wider team of professionals looking after needy young 

people.  Sometimes they seem to be seen as part of the client system, and sometimes part of the 

professional system.   

 

 

 

4.4          Conference Content 
The Conference was designed to encourage the participation of the participants themselves.  

Therefore only two presentations were given, and the rest of the day included discussions in 

small and large groups.  To enable everyone to get the most of out of the discussions, the 

groups were allocated experienced group facilitators.   

 

We also wanted the voice of the young people themselves to be heard.  We decided the most 

effective way of doing this was to show a video made with young people who were leaving 

care, talking about their experiences:  “What is it like to be in Care?” was the theme of the 

video and the first Large Group discussion.  It was followed by discussions in small groups 

on the theme: “What is it like to Care?” 

 

In the afternoon there was a presentation by Jenny Sprince, Consultant Child and Adolescent 

Psychotherapist, “Towards an Integrated Network” describing an experience of bringing 

aspects of a service for LACA together.  The Large Group Discussion: “What should our 

Looked-After service include?” was followed by Small Group Discussions: “What can we do 

now?”.     

 

  
 

4.5 Was the Conference a success?  Results of feedback survey 
All participants were given an anonymous feedback form to complete.  25 forms were 

returned to us.  The full analysis of the feedback is available on request.  In summary:  

participants were asked to rate each element of the conference on a simple scale from 1 

(poor) to 5 (excellent).  They were asked to add additional comments if they wished, and 

many of them did, very helpfully.  We have used some of these comments in constructing 

this report.  Additionally, participants were asked to tell us what other topics they would have 

liked addressed, give ideas for future conferences, and any additional thoughts about the 

emotional needs of looked after children and the kinds of services required to meet these 

needs.  Again, some of the responses to these questions have been incorporated into the 

report.  Managers in Haringey, via the LACA Strategy Group were also given a full copy of 

the Conference Feedback Report, which included full details of the responses of participants.   

 

The ratings, which indicate that the majority of participants found the Conference relevant 

and helpful, are given below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 52 

 

1. How would you rate the relevance of the video presentation? 
Range of responses: 4-5  Average rating = 4.84   

2. How would you rate the content of the lecture and discussion? 
Range of responses: 2-5  Average rating = 4.00   

3. How would you rate the workshop sessions? 
                   Morning Workshop: what is it like to care? 

Range of responses: 2-5  Average rating = 3.68   

                  Afternoon Workshop:  What can we do now? 

Range of responses: 2-5  Average rating = 4.04   

4. How would you rate the Conference overall? 
Range of responses: 3-5  Average rating = 4.20  

                                                                                                                                   [ Key: 1= poor; 5 = excellent.]  

 

 

 

4.6 Themes that emerged 
The conference was remarkable for the amount of involvement of the participants and the 

degree of thoughtfulness about the content.  It is hard to do justice to this in a summary, and 

difficult to pull together themes that sufficiently convey the quality of the contributions.   

Some particular themes emerged in most groups; others themes were elaborated by one or 

two.  However there seemed to be an overall consistency about the fears and hopes, 

expressed through a richness of ideas.   

 

 

1.  Blame 

Everyone seemed to feel blamed!  Social Workers felt blamed by Foster Carers, who felt 

blamed by social workers; everyone felt blamed by managers who felt blamed by everyone; 

health workers did not do enough to satisfy social service workers or education, and social 

services felt that CAMHS did not pull their full weight;  carers felt blamed by the Looked 

After children and adolescents, who felt blamed for their problems and behaviour, etc. etc.. 

 

Everyone present seemed to also be aware of the enormous difficulty of the work for 

everyone, no matter where they were in the system.  So, although there was an understanding 

that things could and did go wrong, nevertheless there was a sense that it was somebody’s 

fault, and the feeling that everyone blamed you for what went wrong.   It was as if everyone 

was imbued with guilt that these children had suffered abuse or neglect.   

 

The only ones who did not get apportioned blame in this conference were the perpetrators of 

the abuse or neglect.  It was as if it was too dangerous to touch that topic.  We wondered if it 

was easier to work with families if the sense of blame could be projected into professional 

colleagues. Then the worker might feel freer to offer professional understanding and 

compassion to the perpetrators.  

 

We were aware of how difficult it is to maintain professional creativity and pride in an 

atmosphere of blame and shame.   

 

2.     Blame, shame and difficulty post-Climbie  

What was mentioned rarely, but seemed to be omnipresent in the background was the 

awareness of the trauma of the Victoria Climbie case and its aftermath in Haringey.  Workers 

complained of a culture of working in crisis and with crisis:   

 
“Haringey doesn’t plan anymore”;    “Nothing has changed” 

 

Page 63



 53 

Participants conveyed a sense that they were criticised for doing too much or for not doing 

enough.  There was a general feeling of not being able to get it right.   

 

3. Lack of communication between groups  
This was a recurrent theme.  But someone else was seen as having responsibility for 

communication.  Other groups were blamed for not communicating, and it was hard to look 

at one’s own contribution to the difficulty.  Tales of frustration about foiled attempts to get 

information were told.  Again, every part of the system seemed to be involved in this.   But 

the expectation was that someone else should put the situation right, probably the managers.   

 

We found ourselves wondering if the system of care, with so many teams working 

independently on their own contribution, aided or hindered easy communication between 

groups.  This is not helped by the two dominant organisations, Health and Social Services, 

having such different cultures and organisational systems.   

 

 

4.     Desire for communication between groups 

By contrast to this, all groups conveyed pleasure in actually being involved in something 

together, and requested more events like the conference where they could get together to talk 

about their work, and hear the different perspectives of different working groups of 

professionals.   The conference ended with a positive atmosphere, a sense that it is possible 

for professionals to connect with each other and with the children.   

 

Within the conference, workers pondered on the difficulty of working together to translate 

the concept of corporate parenting into something that is meaningful for a child in the care of 

a local authority.   

 

 5. Helplessness,  powerlessness and impotence 

This theme is linked to, but is separate from the theme of blame.  Many workers conveyed 

this sense of helplessness in the face of a system that they disliked but could not change.  

 

Many did not seem to fully understand the working of the complicated system of care with 

all the interconnecting groups and teams who might be involved in the care of any one child.  

There was a feeling that their contribution was diminished.   

 

In one group, no doubt expressing a feeling common to all the other groups, there was a 

sense that every person in the group felt overwhelmed by the degree of need that they faced, 

and their sense of powerlessness to make a real difference to the children’s lives.    
 

“All the different workers want to help, but despite this we fail, because no one person has ultimate 

responsibility.” 

 

One theme was the helplessness evoked by the system; another was the sense of frustration 

and powerlessness experienced in the face of the “destructiveness” of some of the young 

people.  But there was a general sense nevertheless of the importance of consistency and 

continuity.   
“It’s very important to stick with them through the good and the bad.” 

 

We were aware of how difficult this can be in a context of violent and destructive acting out; 

the repeated stories of staff turnover attest to this difficulty.    

 

 

 

 

Page 64



 54 

6.     Acknowledgement of contributions  

This should be mentioned, although the sense of blame was more powerful on the day than 

appreciation.  Nevertheless there were examples where people and services were praised.   
 

“The work of the foster carers is the essential underpinning to the success of the work of the other 

professionals and the child’s future.”   

 
“The Adolescent Outreach Team is a good example of multidisciplinary work even when there are 

huge amounts of anxiety.” 

 

 

 

7. Feeling unappreciated/unheard 

Workers and carers feelings about this echoed the views expressed by the young people 

themselves.  A foster carer spoke of his requests for support and how he did not received a 

response.  There was awareness of the knock-on effects of this:   

 

Lack of recognition from managers was cited as a factor in demoralisation and resignation.  

There was a dominant theme – “Whatever people do it is never quite enough.” 

 

Some conference members commented on the video, that the young people did not describe 

needing/wanting anything that cost financially.  We wondered whether this too expressed 

something on behalf the staff: the atmosphere was of a group who could recognise the 

difficulties of lack of resources, but who wanted something less concrete, that recognised 

their emotional needs as workers and people.   

 

8. Pain  

Throughout the day, the difficulty of the work came across.  Dealing with these young people 

had its price for the workers, who often seemed to feel alone with the painfulness of their 

experience.  Most feel overwhelmed by the multitude of emotional needs that the young 

people present as a consequence of being in care.  The plea of the young people in the video 

was, “Care for us”.  It seemed clear to us that the workers, in their various roles, did care.  

There was a wish to look after the children better, but a feeling of being unable to do so.  

There was a general sense of disappointment that their care, at times anyway, did not make 

anything better for the looked-after child. 

 

The majority of the participants were moved by the video, but it was agreed that it was very 

painful to put oneself in the place of the child, as their grief, loss and sadness is enormous.  

People spoke of different strategies they used to help them survive: cutting off emotionally, 

using professional procedures to maintain emotional distance, and in some case workers 

resorting to leaving their post.   

 

Many young people were described as feeling they are unworthy of love; they come into a 

placement fearing that this unworthiness will be discovered and they will be rejected by the 

carers, so they sabotage the placement first. 

 

We were aware of the difficulty of working without opportunities for a sense of satisfaction, 

achievement and a job well done.  But it is very difficult in this work – protecting a child 

may mean bringing him into care, which is painful for all involved, and mitigates the 

satisfaction related to the protection.   

 

“Workers are not valued, this affects the children.” 

“I feel I’m part of the abuse as well, because what we do is so unfair on the child.” 

Page 65



 55 

We thought that an additional aspect of the pain was the disappointment with themselves that 

staff carried because they came into the work with brave aspirations they felt that they had 

failed to achieve.   

 

 

9. Anger  

There was much less expression of this than might be expected in circumstances where the 

conference members were expressing some of the themes we are describing here.    One 

example discussed was the anger evoked when a Guardian “ordered” a foster carer to braid a 

child’s hair every week, irrespective of cost or the child’s wishes.  Perhaps this example 

expressed something about the sense of confusion about who is in charge of the care of the 

child, and what responsibilities, about what level of care, reside where in the complicated 

system.   

 

10. Retention of staff  

There was general recognition of the complaint made by the adolescents in the video that 

there was a big turn-over of social work staff.  This led a School Nurse to ask, “Why do 

social workers leave?”  The Social Worker replied,  “Because the pain is too much.” 

 

We wondered about the kind of support systems that might be necessary to contain staff, at 

all levels of the organisation including management, doing this form of work.   

 

 

11. Fragmentation and disruption 

Social workers spoke sadly of their relationships with the children breaking down – the other 

side of the coin from the young people’s complaints about not being able to retain their social 

workers.  There seemed to be a theme of “broken experiences”, whether with the children or 

between professionals.   

 

There was a recognition that many of these young people are already quite damaged by the 

time that they end up in care, but that the way the services are organised, especially the 

discontinuities in care caused by the frequent changes in social workers and placement 

changes, can cause further damage.  Many thought there was nothing which could be done to 

avoid this, no doubt influenced by their sense of helplessness described elsewhere.   

 
“It seems as soon as the young person begins to settle into a placement and a shift in their 

behaviour occurs, they have to move on.” 

 

 

12. Tensions between different irreconcilable needs/views 

A number of irreconcilable demands were noted, e.g. on the one hand the openness in the 

system and the rights of children to be at their care meetings, and on the other hand, the 

unfairness of this on the young people, their lack of privacy, and the disturbing nature of the 

meetings for them.   

 

We thought that this irreconcilable tension would get inside the workers, making the whole 

process of thinking about the child more uncomfortable and ultimately unrewarding for them, 

contributing, possibly, to staff turn-over.   

 

Other types of differing viewpoints were raised as problematic: e.g. the view of the child who 

feels she was never told of a proposed move and the view of the social worker who felt it had 

been on the table for months.  How might it be possible to hear the truth in both of these 

versions, so each teller feels heard, and neither is told, “You got it wrong”?  Again, we 

Page 66



 56 

thought that this might be very problematic for staff, who so often feel blamed and feel a 

need to defend themselves.   

 

 

 

13.  Some ideas for the future 

One group thought that the reorganisation of Children’s Services in 2005 offered an ideal 

opportunity to pilot some of the multidisciplinary approaches.   

 
“The next step is to find a way for professionals from different services to work together that could 

be recognised institutionally.”  
 

The model of working on a case together was suggested, or finding mechanisms for people to 

meet with other appropriate objectives.   

 
“Whatever model is agreed it must have at its centre the child, his or her social worker, and the 

foster carer or residential social worker.  It would also protect the child from having to interact with 

large numbers of adults in a relatively tangential way.”  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



 57 

 

 

 

 

5.1 The emotional context for the work
21

 

 

The Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team offers therapy to Haringey looked after 

children and adolescents and a therapeutic consultation service to carers, schools, residential 

homes and staff from other agencies. Much of the work of this team involves offering advice 

and support on how to manage the trauma and distress experienced by looked after children.  

 

Looked after children and adolescents are very different from other children as the loss of not 

being cared for by a birth parent remains with them long after the original move into care. It 

needs to be borne in mind, that whilst children may present with behavioural problems, they 

are often experiencing severe trauma due to the loss they experience coming into care or 

becoming a refugee. 

 

 

 

 

Moving the child into care is not a solution. Before coming into care, they will have 

experienced dysfunctional parenting and possibly abuse. Entering care reinforces feelings of 

rejection and anger and exacerbates pre-existing attachment disorders. Such feelings are 

further compounded by placement disruptions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Entering care is, in itself, also traumatic. Not enough recognition is given to the fact that it is 

very bizarre for a child to have to learn to live with strangers. As professionals we can 

become desensitised to how traumatic this must be for the child. For unaccompanied minors, 

these problems are compounded by language and cultural barriers – there is a real issue of 

‘aculturalisation’. 

 

The level of distress and disturbance is extreme and the pain for professionals can be 

unbearable. This can lead to denial about the extent of damage and disruption. It may be too 

painful for carers to accept that the child is not like other children of the same age and they 

may try to relate to the child as though they were less damaged than they are.  

 

 

 

 

                                                 
21

 This section is based on the focus group undertaken with the Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team. 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 5:  WORKING WITH EMOTIONAL WELL-BEING IN MIND: 
 

The voice of the Tavistock/Haringey LACA - CAMHS team 
 

Dealing with the emotional impact of the loss of birth parents remains a need throughout the life 

of a looked after child. Some of the effects emerge much later and often continue into adulthood. 

Training and supervision for carers is essential. They need psycho-educational work to develop 

understanding of the emotional needs of looked after children – including space to reflect on their 

own childhoods and experiences of parenting and the way in which the child’s disturbance may 

provoke their own vulnerabilities.  

Residential social workers have expressed despair at seeing children and adolescents moved from 

place to place and talked about the feelings of failure evoked in them as carers. They have also 

talked about feeling driven by challenging behaviour to ‘manage’ situations, rather than address 

the emotional needs of the child.  

Page 68



 58 

 

Professional staff may hide defensively behind the ‘cloak’ of their profession to avoid 

becoming too involved in other aspects of the child’s care. They can dis-empower each other 

as professionals. Denying their own expertise and knowledge, they can also believe that they 

need to refer the child to another agency.  

 

More professionals can also be brought into the system as a way of deflecting unbearable 

pain – with the extent of fragmentation reflecting the level of disturbance. The more trauma a 

child is experiencing, the more chaotic and prone to risk they become. Additional people are 

introduced in an attempt to provide containment and “share the burden.” This leads to further 

fragmentation.  In some cases, so many people are involved that communication between the 

professionals is lost.  

 

 

 

 

 

Staff find it hard to admit how damaged these children can be, as this highlights the fact that 

some are too damaged to “fix”. Such feelings can also lead to unrealistic expectations about 

the CAMHS service, with the notion that psychotherapy can somehow produce miracles and 

‘fix’ these children.  

 

 

5.2  Working with networks 
 

Work with networks is thus essential to any intervention with looked after children. 

Following referral, we generally convene a meeting with significant people in the network – 

carers, social workers, link workers and possibly others, such as educational staff and GALs. 

These meetings help clarify differences of view within the network and identify key areas 

that need to be addressed, including whether, when, where and in what context any 

therapeutic work might take place. Whilst therapeutic work is often offered to a child or 

young person individually, on occasion the intervention focuses primarily on professional 

consultations to social work staff. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work with these wider networks is also important for containing the inevitable anxieties 

aroused by this work. Conflicts and tensions within a case or family are often mirrored in the 

relationships amongst professionals.  Professional staff may become split and get caught up 

in apportioning blame, such that it is difficult to work or think together. Creating a neutral 

space to explore these dynamics and to think together can be particularly helpful in these 

complex and, often fraught, situations. 

“Heimi” was a highly disturbed young person, with a troubled placement history, an enmeshed 

and worrying relationship with his mother and an ambivalent relationship with his previously 

violent father.  Following several consultations, it was agreed that there needed to be a thorough 

assessment of the young person and his parents, including addressing his welfare in relation to 

contact and needs for permanence and placement stability.   It emerged that “Heimi”  had been 

seen for some years by another specialist hospital and, following liaison, this team agreed to 

undertake the assessment.  Whilst having no direct contact with the young person, members of the 

team played an active role in ‘unsticking’ an uncertain and conflictual situation and contributing 

to the development of a coherent plan to determine the young person’s needs.   By re-engaging a 

team previously involved with “Heimi” the additional disturbance of his getting to know yet 

another series of professionals was avoided.   

Containment remains a major issue throughout the life of a looked after child. Corporate 

parenting is a paradoxical and irresolvable difficulty – an institution cannot be a parent. There is 

a need for a small group of professionals to meet consistently and thus become the ‘face of the 

corporate parent’.  

Page 69



 59 

 

 

 

5.3    Working with foster and residential carers 
 

Work with foster and residential carers is also an essential component of work with looked 

after children and adolescents, with work in this area highlighting the following issues:  

 

• Developing understanding and strategies for managing challenging and disturbed 

behaviour with children and young people. 

• Coping with the impact of caring on the carer themselves and on their family. 

• Helping carers to understand and talk with children about their thoughts, feelings and 

past experiences and about contacts with birth families. 

• Processing feelings and experiences about children moving on and dealing with the 

aftermath of placement breakdowns. 

 

In our experience many carers have a real desire to understand more about the emotional 

needs of the children in their care and are keen to develop their own skills and abilities. Some 

carers feel that behavioural management is the primary issue and this is an area where we can 

offer structured cognitive/behavioural strategies. However, another important aspect of the 

work is identifying the day-to-day things carers can do in terms of developing a language for 

feeling with the children they care for and thinking about and containing their anxieties. 

Thinking about underlying emotions and interactions between carers and children/young 

people is often harder to explore and an area that can naturally arouse anxiety and 

defensiveness amongst carers.  

 

Work with kinship carers – including grandparents, older siblings and family friends who are 

caring for children – can raise particularly distressing and painful issues, as highlighted by 

the following example:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A small number of referrals have focused on processing the painful experiences associated 

with children moving on or the aftermath of breakdowns. This has proved particularly helpful 

– facilitating the carers’ understanding of such experiences, developing their resilience and 

thus also supporting their retention as foster carers.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work with an older sister “Mary” caring for her (much younger) half-sister “Susan” involved 

looking at behaviour management strategies, whilst also working to understand the meaning of 

“Susan’s” disturbing behaviour. We talked about the history with the birth mother and father, 

supporting “Mary” in helping the child to ask questions and begin to develop a story about why 

her parents had been unable to care for her.  We explored with “Mary” patterns of caring in the 

birth family and her hopes and worries about trying to parent little “Susan”.  We met with the 

social worker and link worker and supported “Mary’s” request for a respite carer. When 

“Mary”, herself still a very young woman,(19 or 20)  ultimately felt she could not offer “Susan” a 

permanent home, we joined her in talking to the child. We continue to work with both the child 

and her older sister whilst a permanent placement is sought.  

One carer, “Ayesha” wanted to talk about her feelings of loss and anxiety about a baby, “Maya”, 

who had been with her since birth and was now moving on to permanency.  “Ayesha” was 

churned up about how she and her family would experience the change and manage their feelings 

of loss and grief.  We talked with “Ayesha” and her birth child, thinking together about the 

importance of the job they had done with the baby and about how helpful it was that “Maya” was 

so cared for by the family. Thinking about “Maya’s” future placement allayed their anxieties and 

provided some reassurance.   

Page 70



 60 

When seeing a child or young person for therapy, it is always important to work with the 

carers, as they have the opportunity to support the child and help them manage the feelings 

that may be churned up by therapeutic work. Such meetings provide space to think about and 

understand the, often powerful and disturbing, feelings that these children may evoke in their 

carers, thus also reducing the risk of enactment.  Joint sessions for children and carers can be 

particularly helpful for exploring the relationship and communication between the child and 

carer and working together on behaviour and feelings.  They also enable clinicians working 

with the child individually to gather information and a holistic sense of the child within their 

day-to-day context.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inevitably, carers vary in their willingness and capacity to engage in this work. It is important 

to emphasise that this is not therapy, but rather an opportunity to support and think 

therapeutically about their work, the children they look after, and what this feels like (both 

for them and other family members).  Occasionally carers are wary of such meetings.  Others 

are less anxious and more comfortable about engaging in this work. Availability and time 

constraints can also limit the carer’s engagement in this process.   

 

Residential staff have an important role to play in supporting therapeutic interventions. Key 

workers may bring the young person to therapy.  On occasion they have joined the therapy 

session with us, when the child/young person has felt very anxious or preferred this.  Such 

joint work can be immensely important in bridging the gap between therapy and the child’s 

day-to-day life.  Liaison between therapists and residential staff is also crucial – providing 

staff with some awareness of the general progress of the therapy and therapists with 

information about the young person’s day-to-day issues.  As well as supporting the young 

person’s engagement in and use of therapy, such liaison encourages and acknowledges the 

residential workers’ understanding of the young people and their development of therapeutic 

skills.  

 

 

5.4    Clinical work with children and young people 
 

The therapeutic and clinical needs of looked after children and young people is at the core of 

the work undertaken by members of the team.   Thus, whilst our work encompasses a range 

of direct and indirect interventions with staff from the various agencies concerned with 

Haringey’s LAC population, our primary focus throughout is on interventions to improve the 

emotional well being of looked after children.  The following is an example where the foster 

carer was helped to understand problematic behaviour in her foster child:  

“Sonny”, a 7 year old boy, presented with sexualised and disruptive behaviour that had resulted 

in recurrent placement breakdowns.   He was described as constantly restless and uncontrollable, 

with a possible diagnosis of ADHD.  In a joint session with the foster carer and 2 therapists, 

“Sonny” started by drawing a picture of the world, as something very far away from him.  He 

asked what kept the world together. The therapist wondered whether he was asking what held 

people and things together – what were the rules of the world?  He looked thoughtful but said he 

didn’t like rules.  
 

Later,  “Sonny” said the world (pointing to his use of colour in his drawing) was white.  The 

therapists commented on the fact that he and his carer were both black, whilst they were white.  

He next coloured the white part brown – and all present acknowledged, it was an important 

colour.  
 

 In contrast to his usual behaviour “Sonny” was very focused and alert for all of this session.  At 

the end, he seemed exhausted and, hugging his foster carer, said he felt tired. 

 

 

Page 71



 61 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Refugee children: A number of refugee children have been referred to the project. These 

have ranged in age from 6 to 16 years. Half these referrals have focused on the assessment 

and suitability of kinship carers. The others have all involved separated children 

(unaccompanied minors), with emphasis being directed to the psychological distress caused 

by losses and traumatic experiences. In some cases, young people have reported symptoms 

associated with exposure to traumatic experiences, such as nightmares, flashbacks and 

depression. In other cases, such experiences have contributed to other difficulties, such as 

repeated placement disruptions or an inability to settle into school or college.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work with refugee children – particularly separated refugee children – has highlighted their 

enormous emotional and social vulnerability. There needs to be much greater awareness 

amongst professionals, including foster-carers, of the considerable traumas/losses these 

children have experienced and the effects on their psychological well-being. The loss of their 

culture, which gives them a sense of ‘who they are’, should not be underestimated. Where 

there is uncertainty about whether family members are alive or not, efforts need to be made 

to trace them, through the appropriate agencies. 

 

The social worker has a vital role, in being willing to listen to the young person. Often this 

can be a very difficult task and, in the face of these children’s narratives of cruelty and 

violence, it may feel easier to pass this task to another professional. The social worker also 

has an important function in providing the young person with support and advice, and 

“Carl”, a 13-year old Kosovan Albanian, was an unaccompanied minor who had recently arrived 

in this country.  Little was known about his background.   He seemed unable to provide much 

information to enable professionals to formulate a confident assessment of his needs. Some of this 

related to his highly confused, fragile and disturbed psychological state; but he was also wary 

about who he could trust in a foreign country, where he barely spoke the language and had no 

understanding of professional roles and the system he was now within.  

 

“Carl’s” disturbed behaviour had already led to 2 foster-placement disruptions and, during the 9 

months he attended therapy, there were 2 further disruptions.   There were no foster-carers in 

Kosova and he did not know how to relate to foster-carers.  He found the enormous pain of coping 

with so many losses in his life and the uncertainty of not knowing whether any family members 

were still alive in Kosova very difficult to bear and also very difficult to face and talk about. 

Whilst he remained unsettled, during the course of therapy, he became less fragile and anxious, 

more able to cope with his external situation and to talk about plans for his future. 

“Louis”, an 11 year old boy, had been born prematurely with a heart problem and spent much of 

his early months in hospital.   He had been in the same long term foster placement since he was 2 

/ 3 years and the plan was for him to remain there.  However, he presented with various problems. 

He had learning difficulties, linked to an inability to concentrate.  He was very fearful – 

frightened of injections, of getting his hair cut and so on.  Whilst the foster mother felt she knew 

“Louis”  well, she also felt he was, in part, a stranger to her.   In one session, it emerged that 

“Louis”  had been unable to ‘get’ the letter ‘a’.   He had learnt all the other letters (‘b’ to ‘z’), but 

not ‘a’ and, of course, this made it impossible to read.   The therapist talked about whether the 

missing ‘a’ somehow represented his missing early months and the months the foster carer also 

did not know. They also talked about whether his many fears might relate to his early months in 

an intensive care unit.   

 

Page 72



 62 

ensuring that they have proper access to health care, for their physical, mental health and 

educational needs; and where necessary, appropriate legal advice.  

 

In the case of separated refugee children there is no one who holds parental responsibility 

and, because of their experiences, lack of language, or knowledge about the system, they are 

a group who need help to communicate their wishes and feelings clearly, perhaps by the 

appointment of independent advocates. The need for these children to be provided with a 

sense of ‘belonging’, even when their legal status in this country remains undetermined, is 

very important.  

 

 

 

5.5    Work with Haringey’s residential homes 
 

Given the distressing and demanding nature of the work with looked after children and 

adolescents, it is often helpful for staff teams to have the opportunity for external sources of 

support and consultation. As part of the contract with Haringey Social Services, it was thus 

agreed to offer a programme of organisational consultancy to the two in-house children’s 

residential homes – Haringey Park and Muswell House – to focus on the following issues:  

 

• To ensure the units accommodated young people to their fullest capacity 

• To facilitate a reduction in placement breakdowns  

• To develop skills in managing change and understanding the change process 

 

Muswell House: In the work with Muswell House, the focus has been on the management of 

change, given the impending shift from a younger age group (8 to 12 years) to an adolescent 

intake (12 to16 years). The work involved role consultancy with the unit manager, meetings 

with the management team and team building with the whole staff team.   

 

Haringey Park: Within Haringey Park, the main objectives were improving and enhancing 

the functioning of the staff group, paying particular attention to team dynamics. The initial 

focus for work was on developing and strengthening the management team, before working 

with the staff group.    

 

Future needs: Staff in both units have responded well to the consultation work and spoken 

of its benefits.  The success of this work has also suggested its potential benefits for other 

staff groups. 

 

 

 

5.6    Training 
 

Requests for training have also highlighted a range of needs amongst professional staff. 

Thus, over the past year, members of the LACA CAMHS team have provided a range of 

support groups and training sessions to staff from different agencies within Haringey. In 

some cases, these sessions have been undertaken within the LACA CAMHS existing budget. 

In other cases, they have been funded extra-contractually.  Whilst throughout focusing on the 

emotional needs of looked after children, the specification for each course has been 

determined by the particular needs of each section or agency. 

 

Social Workers: Staff from the Asylum team, Fostering and Adoption team, Youth 

Offending Service, Children & Families teams and the Leaving Care team requested a three 

day training programme on ‘Child Development and Emotional Deprivation’. Attendance 

Page 73



 63 

was good and the feedback very positive – however, it was acknowledged that there was a lot 

to cover in the available time and a request for the opportunity for more discussion. 

 

Residential Staff: Over the last 6 months, members of the LACA CAMHS team have 

delivered ongoing training to staff at Muswell House Children’s Home. The initial training 

was intended to prepare them for the impending change to an adolescent intake. It aimed to: 

‘Give them knowledge, confidence and a measure of security in dealing with adolescents and 

to help bridge the gap between this new intake and the younger age of their previous 

residents’. The course included the impact of early childhood on adolescence, neuro-

biological influences and attachment research. The feedback was positive and the staff 

requested further half-day workshops. They have also consistently requested ongoing clinical 

discussion.  

 

Foster Carers: Training activities with foster carers have focused on the emotional needs of 

looked after children and adolescents and the particular needs of refugee children. We have 

also offered foster carers training on promoting the emotional well-being of children and 

young people.  

 

Asylum teams: The Asylum teams were offered a 5-session training programme by a multi-

disciplinary team of professionals from the Tavistock Clinic. This programme aimed to raise 

awareness of the vulnerability of this group of children and young people, given the context 

in which most of them come to this country, and to improve understanding of their mental 

health needs, taking into account the significance of race and culture.  

  

 

 

Summary and conclusion: Unmet needs 

 

In this chapter, we have described the types of clinical and consultative work undertaken by 

members of the Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team – with emphasis placed on work 

with carers and professionals as much as with looked after children and young people. Our 

hope is that this chapter will contribute to a greater understanding of the range of work 

undertaken by members of the team.  

 

In concluding, it is important to acknowledge the restrictions placed on the team’s activities 

by its limited size and resources. Whilst every effort has been (and will continue to be) made 

to offer a responsive and flexible service, there have been occasions when requests have 

severely stretched – or even exceeded – our capacity. The following provides some 

examples:  

 

1. The referral of a family of 4 children (in 3 placements) – all presenting with serious 

mental health needs – at one stage involved almost every member of our team. The 

clinical interventions offered to this family were inevitably informed by our capacity 

to respond (rather than solely by the level of clinical need). The more recent referral 

of a family of 5 children has presented similar challenges – with emphasis placed on 

offering consultations to the social workers and other key staff (rather than direct 

work with the children). 

 

2. There have been several referrals of looked after children and young people placed 

outside London – often where local mental health resources are limited or involve a 

lengthy waiting period. Whilst we have offered assessment appointments for some of 

these children and young people (generally at the Tavistock Clinic), any longer term 

work is obviously unrealistic. 

Page 74



 64 

 

3. Looked after children and young people in court proceedings have raised particular 

difficulties. We are not in a position to undertake assessments for the court, but have 

been prepared to offer therapeutic support to children and young people in 

proceedings. Whilst, in a few situations, this has presented no difficulties, more 

commonly, there has been a potential for some confusion and difficulty, with requests 

for information being dictated by court directives. 

 

4. The limited size of the team inevitably restricts the range of therapeutic provision. 

Work with LACA and their carers ideally requires therapeutic diversity – including, 

for example, psycho-educational and cognitive/behavioural – as well as 

psychotherapeutic modalities. As discussed in the final chapter, we would like to be 

in a position to extend the range of therapeutic services offered by the team.   

 

5. Finally, this report would confirm the need for increased consultation and training for 

primary care workers and, whilst we have undertaken some limited work to support 

tier 1 staff, these have generally been funded extra-contractually. We have also had to 

refuse some requests. Ideally, we would like to be able to offer this work as part of 

our primary activity. 

Page 75



 65 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.1 Summarising the needs assessment process 

 

This report describes an unusual and innovative approach to assessing the emotional needs of 

looked after children and their carers – with the objective, fact gathering, voice of policy 

makers and researchers being set alongside the subjective voice of young people, foster 

carers, social workers and other professionals. The process has been complex – combining 

different methodologies, drawing on the skills and experiences of staff from specialist 

agencies and throughout being intended as an interventional, as much as a solely fact 

gathering, project. Thus, whilst the statistics, definitions and policy framework (chapter 2) 

establish the objective boundary and framework for this assessment, the video, focus groups 

and conference materials (chapters 1, 3 and 4) vividly relate the subjective perceptions and 

experiences of all involved – with the conference providing an opportunity for bridging 

institutional boundaries and beginning a process of dialogue contextualised by the powerful 

experiences of looked after young people.  

 

However, whilst representing the end-point of this particular intervention, the conference 

report highlights the extent to which this is only the beginning of a necessarily ongoing 

process of communication and integration and one which needs to prioritise – not only the 

emotional well-being of looked after children and young people – but also those of the carers 

and workers involved in this work. Where the facts and figures provide an apparently rational 

and ordered framework for identifying need – the video, focus groups and conference reports 

reveal the intensely turbulent and distressing feelings of all involved, with the repeated 

trauma and pain of the children and young people seemingly reverberating through the 

system and impacting on the policies and structures, as much as the practices, of different 

professionals and staff groups. Thus, underlying the varying comments and complaints of 

different staff groups what we ultimately wirtnessed was – not only the distress – but also the 

commitment of staff to looked after children and young people and to the process of 

engaging in change.  

 

This final chapter brings together and summarises the key findings of this report, as the basis 

for a series of recommendations. 

 

 

6.2 Key findings 

The video of Haringey’s looked after young people powerfully highlighted not only the 

distress and trauma of looked after children and young people, but also their desire to be 

listened to and heard. To be fully appreciated this video needs to be seen and discussed. 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

CHAPTER 6:  RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

Looking to the Future 

 

At least sit down and listen them and try to work them out, they want it, you know, 

those kids in care do want to be heard. (Mehmet). 

 

Page 76



 66 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Care Stories:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the voice of Haringey’s young people 
Quantitative findings: The facts and figures 

 

The gap between provision and need for the mental health needs of looked after children and 

adolescents is a national (rather than solely local) problem, however difficulties in Haringey 

have been compounded by: 

 

• Demographic features – including, the diversity of the population and relatively high numbers 

of refugee and asylum seeking children 

• Placement characteristics – including the high level of placement disruptions 

• The historically low level of CAMHS provision for LACA 

 

The needs assessment exercise identified a significant shortfall in the provision of CAHMS 

services to support primary care workers in offering tier 1 provision or to enable a sufficient 

(and sufficiently diverse) response to the 203 LACA requiring tier 2 or 3 services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Level of need: 

• 344 LACA with mild emotional or behavioural difficulties requiring Tier 1 

provision 

• 161 LACA with common disorders requiring Tier 2 provision 

• 44 LACA with more severe, complex or persistent conditions requiring Tier 3/4 

provision 

 

Referrals to Tavistock/ Haringey LACA CAMHS team: 

• 88 referrals between May 2003 and August 2004 

• Giving an annual average of 66 referrals 

• Various requests for consultation and training, not all of which could be met 

Entering care: 

Is generally predicated on prior experiences of abuse 

Necessarily involves feelings of rejection and abandonment 

And involves moving to live with strangers 

 

Being fostered: 

Needs to be predicated on love, not money 

Interest and commitment make a significant difference 

 

Repeated losses and placement disruptions: 

Create a loss of trust and of self-respect 

That can result in challenging, including criminal, behaviours 

 

Social workers: 

Play an extremely important role in the life of looked after children 

Frequent changes of social workers cause disruption and undermine trust 

The involvement of too many professionals compounds these difficulties 

 

Therapy: 

Can be distressing and painful 

Takes a long time to get used to, but can be very helpful  

Page 77



 67 

 

Qualitative findings: feedback from the focus groups and conference 

 

 Resources 
Whilst this harsh short-fall in resources is real and provides the context for many of the 

difficulties and complaints raised by both young people and stakeholders, we argue that 

feelings about resources, particularly money, also symbolise the impossibility of the work 

and the insatiable needs which resources alone cannot meet (see chapters 3 & 4).    

 

The ongoing impact of Victoria Climbié 
Although often unspoken, the other harsh reality that we felt pervaded both the focus groups 

and conference was the ongoing impact of the death of Victoria Climbié.  Part of the impact 

of this is that everyone feels blamed; a sense of being criticised for doing too much or for not 

doing enough - a general feeling among workers of not being able to get it right. 

 

Splitting between teams 
We argue that this culture of blame and criticism mirrors the side taking and wars within the 

families of origin of looked after children and young people.  However, it also creates a 

splitting between different teams that was particularly evident from working across so many 

teams in the focus groups.   

 

Fragmentation 
The vast array of professionals and agencies also fragments care and adds to the potential for 

splitting. Many staff did not fully understand the working of the complicated system of care 

with all the interconnecting groups and teams. Facts and fantasy seem to get mixed up.  

Communication is a problem throughout the system. Lack of containment within the system 

also contributes to fragmentation. Ultimately, we wondered whether the system of care, with 

so many teams working independently, aided or hindered easy communication between 

groups. 

 

Helplessness, powerlessness and impotence 
Many of these difficulties were acknowledged and cited, not only by the young people but 

also by staff at all levels in the system. Powerlessness to influence the system was mirrored 

by helplessness in relation to the multitude of emotional needs that the young people present.   

 

 

Pain 
Dealing with these young people has its price for workers. The plea of the young people in 

the video was, “Care for us”. It seemed clear that the workers did care. There was a wish to 

look after the children better, but a feeling of being unable to do so and a sense of 

disappointment that their care, at times, did not make anything better. We wondered what 

kind of support systems might be necessary to contain staff, at all levels of the organisation 

including management, doing this form of work?   

 

Mental health issues 
Thus, both the focus groups and conference confirmed not only the high level of need, but 

also the lack of adequate resources to meet the mental health needs of looked after children 

and young people and support the carers and staff involved.  

 

 

Ideas for the future 
Finally, there was some – if muted – optimism about future possibilities. At the conference, 

all groups conveyed pleasure in being involved in something together, and the conference 

Page 78



 68 

ended with a positive atmosphere, a sense that it is possible for professionals to connect with 

each other and with the children.   

 

 

6.3 Recommendations 

 

In reporting our findings, we hope we have done justice to the thoughtful and wide-ranging 

discussions that took place in both focus groups and the conference. Translating these 

findings into recommendations has proved testing – particularly given the broader context of 

structural changes consequent on the Children’s Bill. However, this context could also 

provide an opportunity for incorporating within the new structures some of the key themes 

raised by the various stakeholders. We have organised these themes around 3 key principles 

which we argue should underpin the looked after system. We also argue that this project has 

highlighted the need for stakeholder involvement in the planning – as much as in the 

implementation – of any process of change. 

 

In the following, the 3 key principles are outlined – as the basis for a series of 

recommendations that span not only the LACA CAMHS team, but also broader aspects of 

the looked after system. We also address the need for follow-up work and for a 

comprehensive dissemination both of this report and of the video of Haringey’s looked after 

young people. 

 

 

Key principles 
 

1. Supporting Looked After Children and Young People’s emotional well-being 

 

And, in order to do this: 

 

2. Supporting workers and carers in providing care 

3. Strengthening the system: integration and containment through process  

and structure 

 

Whilst informed by all the components of this research, these 3 key principles ultimately 

derive from careful analysis of the voice of the stakeholders – the video of young people and 

the focus groups and conference discussions. What we heard throughout was a high level of 

concern about the pain and distress of all those involved in the looked after system – not only 

the children and young people, but also the carers and the staff from the many specialist 

agencies. Reverberating around the system, these feelings contributed to intense anxieties 

about blame and to the fragmentation and splitting between different parts of the system that 

was particularly evidenced within the focus groups. Some of these feelings would seem 

inevitable, given the nature of this work. However, we feel that the convergence of 

publication of this report with the imminent re-structuring of children’s services permits a 

unique opportunity to frame services in a way that might reduce fragmentation and provide 

increased containment to staff at all levels within the system.  

 

In the following these principles are applied:  

• firstly, to proposals for the development of the LACA CAMHS team,  

• secondly, to proposals for developing other parts of the looked after system since the 

findings suggest that it is important to consider further interventions,  

• and thirdly, to proposals for follow-up and dissemination of this report and the video.   

 

 

Page 79



 69 

Developing the LACA CAMHS team 

 

This needs assessment report has identified a significant shortfall in provision for the mental 

health needs of looked after children and for the support/ consultation needs of carers and 

staff – with the evidence from the statistical research being repeatedly confirmed within the 

focus groups and conference discussions.   We therefore recommend the following: 

 

Structural Recommendations:  
1. Supporting Haringey’s Looked After Children and Young People’s emotional well-

being will continue to require a specialist LACA CAMHS service. The complexity of 

need and of external circumstance amongst LACA and their difficulties in accessing 

universal CAMHS services has been well evidenced both locally and nationally. 

2. To provide a robust and responsive service that can combine offering support to 

primary care workers (tier 1) with direct services for LACA with mental health 

disorders (tier 2/3), the LACA CAMHS service needs to be increased and diversified – 

to include child and adolescent psychiatry, child psychotherapy, family therapy, CPN, 

psychology, social worker with mental health training.  We recommend that all workers 

should have a specialist training and/or interest in working with looked after children 

and adolescents, and in offering consultation to carers and staff. 

3. We recommend that the current service should be increased by 150% (at the least).  

Our current LACA CAMHS team offers a service to 17% of the LACA population.  

The recommended increase would bring the service to 42%.  With the additional 

service provided by the St Ann’s team, particularly the AOT this would bring service 

provision closer to the 67% prevalence rate of mental health need.  (See Chapter 2.)  

4. Integration with other services is critical. It is recommended that the new Senior 

Practitioners (Mental Health) be partially located within the LACA CAMHS team and 

that, reciprocally, (within the limits of our resources) each LACA CAMHS worker be 

attached to a particular children’s team for at least 1 session. This would facilitate 

mutual training across services and permit joint assessments and joint working. It 

would also help reduce splitting and projection across teams.   

5. It is  also recommended that close links be maintained with other Haringey CAMHS 

teams particularly the AOT – including involvement in relevant management and 

referral meetings. The current practice of employing some joint staff between the St 

Ann’s and LACA CAMHS team has provided a useful mechanism for linking and 

integrating services and, if possible, should be encouraged and extended to other 

Haringey CAMHS services.   

6. Clarity regarding lines of accountability and managerial responsibility is also 

essential. Funding for the Tavistock/Haringey LACA CAMHS team needs to be clearly 

allocated to the team – as do managerial responsibilities. Ideally, any additional 

discipline/clinical supervisory arrangements should be located within the service that is 

holding the managerial Lead.  At the moment this is the Tavistock Clinic.   

 

7. teams.  

 Service Recommendations:   
 

1. Increased diversity within the staff group would enable the LACA CAMHS team 

to extend the range of services provided both to LACA and to workers and carers, 

to include, for example: 

i) Parenting programmes, such as the Webster-Stratton groups or those 

for parents/carers of troubled adolescents. 

ii) Incorporating aspects of the Treatment Foster Care programme to 

support carers in taking more problematic young people. 

Page 80



 70 

iii) Extending the range of therapies and types of intervention for LACA –

for example, short term supportive and behavioural interventions and 

play therapy, alongside psychotherapy. 

iv) Providing earlier interventions to avoid placement breakdowns and 

developing an early screening programme. (See also below.) 

 

2. A larger team would increase accessibility of and to the team: 

v) It would be possible to provide more outreach facilities – for example, 

to the Leaving Care team and other disadvantaged groups 

vi) It would also be possible to provide CAMHS consultation to 

placement panels, adoption and fostering panels and other meetings 

where difficult decisions are being made about children.   

 

3. Further thought needs to be given to ways of meeting the mental health needs of 

various disadvantaged LACA, including: 

a. Those in court proceedings – given the potential for confusion between the 

role of the expert witness and the mental health specialist. 

b. Those in impermanent or out-of-borough placements – particularly where 

there is some difficulty in accessing local services. 

c. Those with additional needs – such as, learning difficulties or organic 

problems and those known to the YOT. 

 

 

Reducing placement breakdowns: 

 

Service recommendations: 

 

1. Closer involvement of CAMHS workers throughout the selection, assessment and 

engagement of foster carers.  

2. Involving CAMHS staff in assessment and training to improve subsequent take-up of 

CAMHS support in the event of difficulties. 

3. Developing more complex matching criteria. The proposed research into foster parent 

attachment patterns is intended to facilitate both matching and post-placement support 

services. 

4. Involving CAMHS workers in the matching processes – for example, through 

membership of relevant adoption and fostering and/or placement panels and through 

their availability to advise social workers on specific issues. 

5. Involving CAMHS in post-placement support for foster carers – with a CAMHS 

assessment being made an integral component of every new placement.    

6. Providing accessible support to foster carers on, for example, ways of handling 

particular behaviours. This could be available through a range of methods such as a 

telephone help-line and regular CAMHS in-put to carers meetings. 

7. Intervening sooner to avoid placement breakdowns by referral to the CAMHS service 

for work with LACA and/or carers or foster family. 

8. Developing the treatment foster care initiative to establish foster carers who could 

provide respite care for other foster carers or residential homes. 

 

Developmental/ consultancy recommendations: 

 
There is evidence from the focus groups, LACA CAMHS team and conference of a culture 

of disruption across both foster and residential care settings. In addition to the service 

recommendations outlined above, we therefore think there is a need for a specific 

consultancy/ training initiative. To some extent this has been piloted in the residential sector, 

Page 81



 71 

where the consultant has used some sessions to work with both homes to map placement 

moves with specific young people and to consider what steps might have been taken to 

reduce these disruptions. This model could be extended to include residential and foster 

carers together with their supervising social workers – with, for example, half day workshops 

permitting a combination of training and work discussions specifically focused on placement 

moves and disruptions.  

 

 

 

Developing other parts of the looked after children system: 
 

Supporting Looked After Children and Young People’s emotional well-being: 

 

We suggest consideration be given to the following:  

1. Establishing a smaller network of professionals and carers working directly  

with the child, thus providing a more integrated service with a limited number of people 

involved, so that LACA can relate to them and they can effectively work together. This 

would mean fewer workers providing more of the care; mirroring effective parenting and 

making the care environment more like a family.   

2. Given the very high turnover of social workers and the high rate of placement 

breakdowns, measures are put in place to try to provide LACA with a consistent adult figure 

throughout their care.  One suggestion was for children to have an outside visitor who moved 

with them through their time in care.   

3. Greater attention is paid to the information that LACA get, so that they automatically 

get sufficient, timely and accessible information about themselves, plans for their care, their 

options and where to get further and specific support. 

4. All those involved with LACA need to pay attention to emotional well-being – such 

that, identifying emotional well-being is a prioritised part of assessments, reviews and other 

progress reports undertaken by professionals (including, social workers, carers, health 

professionals, teachers, youth offending team, etc.). 

 

 

Supporting workers and carers in providing care 
 

We suggest consideration be given to the following measures – all of which might also help 

reduce staff turnover and sickness rates:  

 

1. Education and training: 

i) For all professionals and carers in child and adolescent development 

and mental health to address ways in which their role can contribute to children 

and adolescents’ emotional well-being. 

ii) Creating some common information about the system, the different 

agencies and roles within it and some common training and development 

programmes delivered across agencies and disciplines, would also promote 

integration.   

iii) For social workers, retention might be aided by the integration of post-

qualifying training into contracts. Such training could be specifically devised to 

focus on the needs of LACA and their carers.   

 

2. Clinical supervision and staff support:     

a. For social workers and other staff in other agencies. This would also provide 

opportunities for encouraging workers – particularly those at the front line – to 

acknowledge feelings and difficulties and learn from mistakes.  

Page 82



 72 

b. Having regular meetings for teams focusing on process issues (unconscious as 

well as conscious), providing opportunities to consider what is happening in 

and for the team, to disentangle fact from fantasy, explore the impact of the 

work, and issues such as role and the use of authority. 

 

3. Policy and procedures: 

i) Reviewing the allocation of work (and work loads), so that district 

social workers have the chance to include the more rewarding aspects of the 

work, such as life story work, which also enhances children’s emotional well-

being.   

ii) Developing a more empowering culture where professional judgement 

can be used and risk owned. This means supporting managers to relinquish 

some control when the demands on them from government lean in the opposite 

direction (i.e. greater control, blame when anything goes wrong etc.) and 

allowing for mistakes, so that people do not feel they have to cover up.  

 

 

Strengthening the system 
 

We suggest consideration is given to integration and containment through both structure and 

process: 

 

In thinking about structure, we suggest that it would be helpful to consider ways of 

promoting integration of disparate groups and mitigate against the inevitable tendency to 

mirror dysfunctional, fragmented warring families and disturbance: 

i) One way of doing this might be to create central groups, such as groups of 

practitioners from different agencies, with different roles, meeting to develop 

specific practice. In particular these groups could focus on questions of 

corporate parenting and on developing a model for practice that reduces the 

numbers of staff involved.   

ii) Creating greater links between different parts of the system, and considering 

ways of enhancing transition between parts. For example, could policies from 

long-term teams and Leaving Care be harmonised?  

iii) Strengthening procedures within the structure for communicating facts and 

looking  at ways  of helping the system to distinguish between fact and fantasy 

(including about different services/agencies within the system). 

iv) Working with  the effects of structure: having regular meetings across services 

providing opportunities to disentangle fact from fantasy, to increase 

communication and understanding and so reduce blame and splitting.  These  

multi-agency/ disciplinary meetings would have the task of keeping the whole 

system in mind seeing the parts of the system in relation to the whole – what 

each part formally contributes, what they represent and hold (consciously and  

unconsciously) for the system – and to think about ways of improving the 

effectiveness of the system in its task of providing for LACA.   

  

 

 

Disseminating the video and this report 

 

Given the richness of the video, focus groups and conference materials, we think it important 

to carefully address questions of dissemination: 

 

Page 83



 73 

1. Thus far, the video has only been seen by limited groups of staff – those who attended 

the conference and a few interagency groups. We think it important that it receives far 

greater exposure – including being borne in mind by those responsible for the re-

structuring (obviously with appropriate care in relation to confidentiality).  

 

2. In order to build on the work of this Needs Assessment and interest it has generated, 

the findings of this report more generally need a wide dissemination – not only to those 

who participated in the focus groups and/or conference – but also to staff at all levels 

within the looked after children network.  One way of doing this would be to have a 

dissemination conference.    This in itself would be an additional intervention to take 

the work forward.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

A final word:  A Needs Assessment is, by definition, the beginning of a process.  We are 

hopeful that Haringey will continue to develop this course of action.   

 
 

 

 

Page 84



 74 

 

 

 
We would like to acknowledge all those who have been involved one way or another in the 

giving or gathering of information, including those who attended and participated in the 

conference;  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

APPENDIX 1:        ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: 

 
 

 

The young people and foster carers who contributed to the video 

 

and staff involved in the production of the video, including: 
Michelle Duxbury;  Julia Granville;  Jenny Harding; Beth Miller;  

 Students from London Metropolitan University 
 

Gabriella Braun;  Molly Bodinetz;  Louisa McClean;  Aideen Lucey 

 

and all the participants in the focus groups; 

 

Staff involved in the conference,  including: 
Lorreine Archer; Molly Bodinetz; Gaby Braun; Agnes Bryan; Julia Granville; Justine McCarthy 

Woods; Molly Bodinetz; Louisa McClean; Khurshid Meehan; Jeannie Milligan; Deirdre Moylan; 

Margarita Orphanos; Beverley Shifrin; Robin Solomon;  Claudia Thomas;  Liz Webb 

The members of the Steering Group, who supported the work, by authorising and 

encouraging the participation of their staff groups: 

 

Alison Botham,   Shaun Collins,   Rachel Oakley   Clive Preece, 

And finally we would like to express a special thanks to Haringey Social Services, 

particularly David Derbyshire and Marion Wheeler for commissioning this report and 

supporting the work involved throughout. 

 

Page 85



 75 

 

 

 
Aldous et al (1999): Refugee Health in London: Key Issues for Public Health, Health of Londoners 

Project. 

 

Butler, J & Vostanis, P. (1998): ‘Characteristics of referrals to a mental health service for young 

people in care’, Psychiatric Bulletin, 22: 85-87. 

 

Dimigen, G., Del Priore, C., Butler, S., Evans, S., Ferguson, L. & Swan, M. (1999): ‘Psychiatric 

disorder among children at time of entering local authority care: questionnaire survey’, British 

Medical Journal, 319: 675-675. 

 

Health Advisory Service (1995): Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: Together We Stand. 

London: HMSO 

 

Hodes, M. (2002): ‘Implications for psychiatric services of chronic civilian strife: young refugees in 

the UK’, Advances in Psychiatric Treatment, Vol. 8, pp. 366-376. 

 

James, C. (2000): Report on Child Mental Health in the Looked After Population of the London 

Borough of Lewisham. 

 

Kurtz, Z. (1992): With Health in Mind. Action for Sick Children/ South West Regional Health 

Authority 

 

McCann, J.B., James, A., Wilson, S.& Dunn, G. (1996): ‘Prevalence of psychiatric disorder in young 

people in the care system’, British Medical Journal, 313: 1529-1530. 

 

Main, T. (1957): ‘The Ailment’ Address to Medical Section, British Psychological Society.  Published 

in:   Main, T., (1989) The Ailment and Other Psychoanalytic Essays Edited by Johns, J.,  Free 

Association Books  

 

Meltzer, H., Corbin, T., Gatward, R., Goodman, R. & Ford, T. (2004): The Mental Health of Young 

People Looked After by Local Authorities in England: Summary Report. Office of National Statistics. 

 

Murphy, D. et al (2002): ‘Mental health of refugees in inner-London’, Psychiatric Bulletin, Vol. 26, 

pp. 222-224).  

 

Phillips, J. (1997): ‘Meeting the psychiatric needs of children in foster care: social workers’ views’, 

Psychiatric Bulletin, 21: 609-611. 

 

Richardson, J. & Lelliott, P. (2003): ‘Mental health of looked after children’, British Journal of 

Psychiatry, 9: 249-256. 

 

Tunnard, J. (2000): Report for the Department of Health on Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services: Quality Protects – Year 2 Management Action Plans. London: Young Minds. 

 

Wallace et al (1997): Epidemiologically based needs assessment: Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health. Department of Health. 

 

Emotional Well-Being of Looked After Children and Adolescents 
 

APPENDIX 2:        REFERENCES: 

 
 

 

Page 86



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 1 

     Agenda item:  
 

   Children’s Services Advisory Committee                     On 5th January 2006 

 

Report Title: November 2005 Performance data for Children’s Services 
 

 
Report of: The Director of The Children’s Service 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Information 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To inform Members of CSAC of the Children’s Service performance against national 
and local indicators. 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Members of CSAC are asked to endorse the contents of the report. 
 

 
Report Authorised by:   Sharon Shoesmith 
           Director  
           The Children’s Service 

                
 
Contact Officer: David Holmes 
Telephone:          0208 489 3154 
E-mail:         david.holmes@haringey.gov.uk 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1 This paper contains children’s social care performance data for September and 
October including data relating to looked after children, child protection, referrals and 
assessments, family support and staffing.   

4. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development 

4.1 Not applicable 

5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

5.1 Not applicable 

 

6 

 

Agenda Item 6Page 87



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 2 

 

6. Background 

6.1 This paper contains children’s social care performance data for November including 
data relating to looked after children, child protection, referrals and assessments, family 
support and staffing.  

7. Description 

7.1 This report is the latest in a series of regular monitoring reports for CSAC 

8. Consultation 

Not applicable  

9. Summary and conclusions 

 
November 2005 data  

 
9.1  Referrals and Assessments 

 
9.1.1 239 referrals were received in November. 
 
9.1.2 61.2% of initial assessments were completed in timescale in November. The 

year to date position for initial assessments in timescale is 34%. Our outturn for 
2004/05 was 56%.  

 
9.1.3 76% of core assessments were completed in timescale in November. This 

indicator now forms part of the PAF (Performance Assessment Framework – 
PAF C64) set of indicators from April 2005. Our outturn for 2004/05 was 50.6%. 
The average of our comparator Boroughs was 55.4%. Our current year to date 
position is 61%. 

 
 
 

Intial Assessments Completed

69 60

101
130

157

7170

15 7 19

73

112

0

50

100

150

200

Jun-05 Jul-05 Aug-05 Sep-05 Oct-05 Nov-05

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
ts

Initial Assessments not completed w ithin target 

Initial Assessments completed w ithin target (7 days)

Core Assessments Completed

8
3

13 10 7 1010
3 3

23
20

31

0

10

20

30

40

Jun-05 Jul-05 Aug-05 Sep-05 Oct-05 Nov-05

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
ts

Core Assessments not completed w ithin target 

Core Assessments completed w ithin target (35 days)

 
        
 

  
 
 
 

Page 88



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 3 

 
 
9.2 Children Looked After  
 
9.2.1 The number of children looked after in November was 498. The age breakdown of 

children looked after is demonstrated in the graph below: 
 

Age Breakdown of LAC at 30th November 05

80
90

257

71

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

AGED 0 - 5 AGED 6 -10 AGED 11 - 16 AGED 17

 
  
9.2.2   At the end of November 92 LAC were unaccompanied minors. 
 
9.2.3 The following table demonstrates the differences in the total numbers of children 

looked after in comparison to the same period in the previous year. If we compare 
the number of children looked after at the end of November 2005 compared to the 
same time last year, we see that there are now 8 fewer looked after.  

 
 

  

475
480
485
490
495
500
505
510
515
520
525
530

Dec-

04

Jan-

05

Feb-

05

Mar-

05

Apr-

05

May-

05

Jun-

05

Jul-

05

Aug-

05

Sep-

05

Oct-

05

Nov-

05

Total LAC Total Previous Year LAC

  
       

9.2.4  In November 29 children started to become looked after and 36 ceased. Care 
proceedings were initiated on 5 children in November.  

 
9.2.5 98.4% of looked after children had a review in timescale in November. 
 
9.2.6 In November 423 children required a Personal Education Plan (PEP) and, of 

those, 93% had one in place.  
 

Page 89



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 4 

9.2.7 82% of looked after children had an up to date visit at the end of November. 
 
9.2.8 The proportion of children looked after placed in foster care or placed for 

adoption was 73 % in November. The proportion of children under 10 placed in 
foster care or placed for adoption (PAFC22) was 95% in November. Our outturn 
for 2004/05 was 98.4%, which put us into the top performance banding. From 
April 2005 this is no longer a PAF return. 

 
9.2.9 The percentage of children who communicated their views to a statutory review 

(PAF C63) in November was 98%. Our outturn for this indicator was 93.7% in 
2004/05 and our target for 2005/06 is 98%. 

-  
9.2.10 97.5% of looked after children had an allocated worker at the end of November. 

There were 12 looked after children without an allocated worker for a short 
period of time because 3 Social Workers left at the end of the month. These 
children have now all been re-allocated. Our outturn for 2004/05 was 98.8%. In 
2003/04 the average of our comparator boroughs was 97%. 

 
9.2.11 Children missing from care: See appendix 3 
 
9.3 Child Protection 
 
9.3.1 The number of children on the Child Protection Register went down to 207 in 

November. 
 

Children on the Child Protection Register

206

219

225 225

215

207

195

200

205

210

215

220

225

230

Jun-05 Jul-05 Aug-05 Sep-05 Oct-05 Nov-05

 
 

9.3.2 Excellent performance around children on the Child Protection Register who 
were reviewed in timescale has continued throughout the year to date, with 
100% of reviews being completed in timescale since April. The London average 
for this indicator in 2003/04 was 98%.  

 
9.3.3 The percentage of children on the Child Protection Register who were visited in 

timescale in November was 94%. This figure excludes those children registered 
in the last week of the month.  

 
9.3.4 There were no children on the Child Protection Register without an allocated 

social worker at the end of November. 
 

 

Page 90



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 5 

 
9.4 General overview of performance  
 
9.4.1 This report shows generally good or improved performance across the range of 

statistical responsibilities. Our performance around allocation of children looked 
after and children on the child protection register remains good, although we 
need to continue to carefully manage this area to ensure that cases are re-
allocated prior to workers leaving Haringey. We need to look closely at visits 
within timescale to looked after children and young people on the CPR. 

 
9.4.2 The number of family support cases without a named social worker was 27 at 

the end of November. 3 were in the District Teams, 22 in the Disabled Children’s 
Team and 2 in Unaccompanied Minors. This number has reduced significantly 
over the past 3 months. 

 
9.5 Key Thresholds 
 
9.5.1 From April 2004, four of the PAF indicators now form part of the key thresholds 

that limit the judgements made for children’s services if they are not met; these 
limits may in turn result in limits to star ratings. Current performance around 
these indicators is as follows: 

 
9.5.2 PAF A1 – Stability of Placements of looked after children. This indicator looks at 

those children with 3 or more placements in the year. Our outturn for 2004/05 
was 14.7%, which put us in the top performance banding (<16%). We have set a 
target to reduce this to 13% for 2005/06. Our performance at the end of 
November was 10.4%.  

 
9.5.3 PAF C20 – Reviews of Child Protection cases. This calculates the percentage of 

children due a review in the year, reviewed in timescale. The 2004/05 outturn for 
this indicator was 100%. The year to date position for this indicator is 100%. 

 
9.5.4 PAF A2 – Educational qualifications of looked after children. This indicator looks 

at all children aged 16+ who have left care in the year with one or more GCSEs 
at grades A*-G (or GNVQ equivalent). The 2004/05 outturn for this indicator was 
34.2%. Our plan for 2005/06 is 45%. The year to date figure at the end of 
November is 32.1%. 

 
9.5.5 PAF C23 – Adoptions of children looked after. By the end of March 2005 the 

percentage of children adopted was 5.1%. Our plan for 2005/06 is 6% 
(approximately 20 children). 11 children had been adopted by the end of 
November (3.5%) 

 
 
9.6  Staffing 
 
9.6.1 The staffing position in the Children’s District Teams for the end of November is 

summarised in the attached appendix 1, including a breakdown of agency staff 
in service for less than 3 months and more than 3 months. 

 

Page 91



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 6 

9.6.2 Both Service Managers are covered by permanent members of staff 
 
9.6.3 There are 6 Senior Team Manager posts, 4 are covered by permanent staff, and 

2 by agency workers. 
 
9.6.4 There are 14 Team Manager posts, 13 are covered by permanent staff, and 

someone is acting up into the other post. 
 
9.6.5 There are 15 Senior Practitioner posts, 7 are covered by permanent staff, 5 are 

covered by agency workers and 3 are vacant. 
 
9.6.6 There are 59 Social Worker posts, 27 are covered by permanent staff and there 

are 32 agency staff. 
 
9.6.7 There are 10 Social Work Assistant (SWA) posts, 8 are covered by permanent 

staff and 2 by agency staff. There are 4 Social Services Officer posts, 3.5 are 
covered by permanent staff and 0.5 by an agency worker 

 
10 Recommendations 
 
10.1 Members of CSAC are asked to endorse the contents of the report. 
 
11 Comments of the Director of Finance 
 
11.1 The activities mentioned above form part of the core activities of the authority for 

which budgetary provision in 2005/06 has been made. 
 
12 Comments of the Head of Legal Services 
 
12.1 Legal Services have been consulted on the contents of this Report and have no 

specific comments. 
 
13 Equalities implications 
 
13.1 The improving performance within the Children and Families branch of the 

Children’s Service assists socially disadvantaged service users, especially 
children. The trend around growing numbers of children subject to safeguarding 
concerns suggests that more of these service users are being appropriately 
protected. 

 
14 Use of Appendices / Tables / Photographs 
 
14.1 Appendix 1 – Staffing, including graph on agency staff – length of time in service 
14.2 Appendix 2 – Timescales for key indicators 
14.3 Appendix 3 -  Summary of children missing from care in last quarter 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 92



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 7 

 

Page 93



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 8 

Appendix 1 

Staffing for Children’s Services - Hornsey and Tottenham District Teams  

30 November 2005 

 
 Staffing 

Establishment 
Permanent Acting Short Term Contract Agency 

[started in the 
last 3 months] 

Vacant 

No of Service 
Managers 2 2     

No. of Senior 
Team Managers 6 4   

2 
[1] 

 

Nos of Team 
Managers 14 13 1    

No of Senior 
Practitioners 15 7   

5 
[1] 

3 

No of Social 
Workers 59 27   

32 
[17] 

 

 10 SWA 8 SWA 2 SWA   SWA No of Social 
Work Support 

Officers1 
14 

4  SSO 
11.5   3.5 

SSO 

  
2.5 
[2.5]  0.5 

SSO 

 
 SSO 

SWA – Social Work Assistant 
SSO – Social Services Officer 

                                            
1 On becoming vacant, Social Service Officer Posts are being converted to Social Work Assistant Posts 
 

P
a

g
e
 9

4



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 9 

Appendix 1 

Staffing for Children’s Services - Hornsey District Team  

30 November 2005 

 
 Staffing 

Establishment 
Permanent Acting Short Term 

Contract 
Agency 

[started in the 
last 3 months] 

Vacant 

No of Service 
Managers 1 1     

No. of Senior 
Team Managers 3 2   

1 
[0] 

 

Nos of Team 
Managers 7 6 1    

No of Senior 
Practitioners 8 4   

3 
[1] 

1 

No of Social 
Workers 28 14   

14 
[7] 

 

5 SWA 
3.5 
SWA 

2.5 
SWA 

   SWA No of Social 
Work Support 

Officers 
6 

1  SSO 
3.5 

   SSO 
  2.5 

[2.5] SSO 
 

  SSO 

SWA – Social Work Assistant 
SSO – Social Services Officer 

P
a
g
e
 9

5



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 10

Appendix 1 

Staffing for Children’s Services - Tottenham District Team 

30 November 2005 
 Staffing 

Establishment 
Permanent Acting Short Term 

Contract 
Agency 

[started in the 
last 3  months] 

Vacant 

No of Service 
Managers 1 1     

No. of Senior 
Team Managers 3 2   

1 
[1] 

 

Nos of Team 
Managers 7 7     

No of Senior 
Practitioners 7 3   

2 
[0] 

2 

No of Social 
Workers 31 13   

18 
[10] 

 

5  
SWA 

5  SWA   SWA 
    
SWA 

No of Social 
Work Support 

Officers 
8 

 3 SSO 
8 

 3  SSO 
   

  SSO 
 

   SSO 

SWA – Social Work Assistant 
SSO – Social Services Officer 
 

P
a

g
e
 9

6



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 11

 
 
 

Appendix 1a 
 
 
 

Agency Staff in Hornsey & Tottenham 

Breakdown of time in Service @ 30 November 2005

2
5

32

2.5
1 1

17

2.5
1

4

15

0
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Snr TM Snr Prac Soc. Wker SW Assist.

Total Number of Agency Staff Agency started in last 3 months

Agency started over 3 months

 
 
 
Of the 41.5 Agency staff employed, 21.5 started in the last 3 months (52%) and 20 (48%) have been employed for over 3 months 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

7



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 12

APPENDIX 2 
 

Timescales for key indicators 
 
 

Indicator Timescale for completion 
Initial Assessments  7 working days following the referral 
Core Assessments  35 working days following the completion of the 

initial assessment 
LAC Reviews in timescale Reviews due in a particular month – need to have 

taken place on or before the due date. Initial 
reviews have to take place by the 28th day of being 
looked after, the 3 month review is due 3 calendar 
months after the date IPR held and subsequent 6 
monthly reviews are held 6 calendar months from 
the last review. 

Up to date Care Plan All Care Plans must be reviewed at each LAC 
review. 

LAC Visits All looked after children to be seen at least every 42 
days, with the exception of children in long-term 
stable placements, where the manager can agree to 
3 monthly visits. 

Visits to children on the CPR Visits held in the calendar month 
Reviews of Child Protection cases The percentage of children who were due to have a 

review in the year, who were reviewed in timescale 
Stability of Placements Calculated monthly – looks at all children looked 

after who have had 3 or more placements in the 
year 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 9

8



 

CSAC October 2005/September & October monitoring data 13

 
 
 
Appendix 3 
 
Children Looked After missing from care between 1/9/2005 – 30/11/2005 
 

• Although these figures relate to children who were missing between 1/9/05 and 30/11/05, 3 had been missing since June 
and one since August. Three of these are no longer missing. 

 

• 17 children were reported as missing from care at some point between 1st September and 30th November 2005. 
 

• The vast majority of children were missing for a period of between 2 days and 2 weeks. 
 

• 15 of those reported missing were aged between 15 and 17 years old. One was 12 (this child returned to home country) and 
one was 14. 

 

• 2 children who went missing in June were found safe and well in their country of origin. 
 

• 5 children were still missing from care at 30th November: 
 
One has been missing since June, one since September, 2 since October and one since November (she returned in December).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

9



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

1 

     Agenda item:  
 

   Children’s Services Advisory Committee    On            5th January 2006 

 

Report Title: The Adoption and Children Act 2002 
 

Forward Plan reference number (if applicable): Not applicable  
 

Report of: Cecilia Hitchen, Deputy Director Children and Families 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Non key 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To provide members with a understanding of the key changes brought about by 
the implementation of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That members note the content of the report 
 

 
Report Authorised by:  Sharon Shoesmith 
    Director 
    The Children’s Service  
 
 
                                   
 

 
Contact Officer: Rachel Oakley, Service Manager Looked After Children, 
rachel.oakley@haringey.gov.uk  
 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1 The Adoption  & Children Act 2002 will be fully implemented on 30th December 
2005.  The Act comprehensively covers all areas of adoption activity and provides 
a clear framework by permanency planning and adoption support. This framework  
addresses the particular needs of children looked after, their birth families and 
those adopting them. 

 

7 

 
Agenda Item 7Page 101



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

2 

4. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 

4.1 Not applicable  
 

5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

5.1 Adoption and Children Act 2002 
5.2 Every Child Matters; Adoption and Children Act 2002 Training Practitioners 

Workbook 
5.3      http/.www.ecm.gov.uk/adoptionn2002training                               

6. Background 

6.1 The Adoption of Children Act 1926 was the first time adoption was regulated in 
England and Wales.  Prior to this adoption was carried out on an informal basis 
within families and between unmarried mothers and childless couples.  The Act 
provided a way for unmarried mothers to remove the stigma of having an 
illegitimate child by legally transferring the rights and responsibility of 
parenthood to a married couple.  

 
6.2 During the 1930s to 1960s, large numbers of children were adopted. This 

primarily involved middle class families adopting white, healthy babies born to 
unmarried mothers or those mothers jointly adopting their babies with a new 
husband. By 1968 numbers of adoption reached a peak of 25,000 - very few of 
these children were being adopted out of local authority care.   

 
6.3 The 1970s saw the beginnings of a era of significant social, cultural and 

technological change - legalisation of abortion, the introduction of the 
contraceptive pill and the beginning of a change in society’s view of unmarried 
mothers and single parenthood - which together brought about a reduction in the 
number of children available for adoption.  However, the number of childless 
couples seeking adoption remained stable and families started to look at 
adopting from outside the UK - a largely unregulated process.  At the same time 
it was identified that many older children, disabled children and sibling groups 
who would have benefited from adoption were drifting in the care system.  

  
6.4 The Adoption Act 1976 focused on the needs of children most likely to be 

adopted at the time – it did not provide specific provision for older children, failed 
to recognise the lifelong impact of adoption and did not address the welfare of 
children adopted from abroad. 

 
6.5 In 1991 the Children Act 1989 was implemented but it didn’t change the legal 

framework for adoption, the two sets of legislation worked in parallel but had 
significant differences in focus. In 1998 the number of adoptions had fallen to a 
low of 4,387 and the number of people looking to adopt from abroad was 
increasing.  

 
6.6 By the 2000s, adoption legislation was extremely outdated and failed to provide 

a flexible legal framework which was able to address the specific needs of the 

Page 102



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

3 

type of children requiring permanent new families  – children who have been 
removed from their parents and not children given up due to social stigma.  

 
6.7 In 2000 the Prime Minister commissioned a review of adoption on which there 

was extensive consultation with all the parties involved, after which the White 
Paper – ‘Adoption: A New Approach’ was produced.  The paper advocated 
reforming the existing system with a raft of new measures to make the adoption 
procedure more transparent and to synchronise the adoption legislation with the 
Children Act 1989.  Following this, the Adoption and Children Act was passed in 
2002, representing a comprehensive and radical overhaul of the legislation 
relating to adoption, permanency planning for children and young people and 
the provision of adoption  support services.  

 
6.8 Some of the key provisions in the Act have already been implemented. These 

included the introduction of increased regulation of intercountry adoption; the 
introduction of adoption support services; parental responsibility for unmarried 
fathers who jointly register the birth of their child with the mother; advocacy 
service for children and young people making complaints; the independent 
review of cases where prospective adopters are deemed unsuitable; 
Independent Reviewing Officers to chair statutory reviews for all Looked After 
Children and the extension of the definition of “significant harm” in care 
proceedings to expressly include the harm suffered from seeing or hearing the ill 
treatment of another.   

 
6.9 The Act incorporates many elements from good practice that have developed 

over time and are already in use to reform and modernise the adoption agenda.  
This means that many aspects formalise best practice and do not represent 
significant changes. The Act itself was only fully implemented on 30 December 
2005. 

7. Description 

 
7.1 The new primary legislation, the accompanying eight sets of regulations and 

additional guidance are extensive and prescribe in detail how the adoption 
agency conducts its day-to-day business. Below is an outline of the key 
principles and features that underpin the new legislation:  

 

• The needs of children are placed at the centre of the adoption process so 
elevating the child’s welfare, throughout his life, to the paramount consideration 
in all decisions made by the courts and adoption agencies in relation to 
adoption. The Act brings adoption legislation into line with the Children Act 
1989 and introduces a “welfare checklist” (see Appendix 1) which the courts 
and adoption service must consider when coming to decisions relating to the 
adoption of a child. The new welfare checklist places considerable emphasis on 
the family of origin, the child’s existing relationship with family members, the 
impact in later life of being adopted out of the family and the value of preserving  
relationships with birth relatives.  

 

• It highlights the need to avoid undue delay in reaching decisions about a child’s 
future when they cannot be cared for within their own birth family.  The concept 

Page 103



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

4 

of delay being prejudicial to the child’s welfare is taken from the Children Act 
’89.  The Act makes explicit the need to put in place and adhere to timetables 
throughout the adoption process.  It introduces the national adoption register 
and changes to the court system that are designed to increase the speed at 
which matters are dealt with and improve the efficiency of the courts.  

 

• It promotes the importance of planning for permanency – looking at the child’s 
welfare not only throughout childhood but beyond into adulthood  - and widens 
the placement options by extending residence orders to the age of 18 years 
(from 16), if appropriate, and by introducing an additional order for securing 
legal permanency called special guardianship.  

 

• It has the intention of encouraging more people to adopt looked after children 
by helping to ensure that appropriate flexible support and financial assistance  
is available from the point of placement, through childhood to adulthood. In the 
past many families and single people with the necessary personal attributes to 
successfully bring up a child who otherwise would have remained in care 
throughout their childhood were prevented from doing so because they lacked 
the resources that the care of such a child would demand.  In the past local 
authority support after the adoption order was granted was very limited and 
universal services often failed to recognise the very particular issues raised by 
adoption.   

 

• The Act acknowledges the lifelong impact of adoption on not only the child but 
also the birth family.  It introduces a more consistent approach to the release of 
sensitive and identifying information, which is held in adoption records.  It also 
introduces for the first time regulated intermediary services for birth parents to 
enable them to trace their adult adopted son or daughter.   

 

• It further tightens up controls and safeguards on inter-country adoption/adoption 
with a foreign element and changes the way in which children looked after in 
England can be placed permanently with relatives who are resident outside the 
UK.  

 
7.2 Article 8 –of the Human Rights Act 1998, “Right to respect for private and family 

life” aims to prevent unjustified interference by public authorities (in this case the 
adoption agency and the court) in the family life of an individual.  The removal of 
a child from its parents and the subsequent making of an adoption order, which 
is irrevocable, potentially represents a major infringement of the parents’ right for 
private and family life. However, as part of the formal parliamentary process 
(Section 19 (1) of the Human Right Act 1998) a “view” was taken that the 
intentions and provisions of the new adoption legislation were compatible with 
the Convention rights.   

 
7.3 There are three specific new provisions brought in with Act: 
 

• The Local Authority’s duty to maintain an adoption support service and for 
those effected by adoption to have an assessment of their needs. Haringey’s 
plans for implementing this aspect of the legislation were presented to 
Children’s Service Advisory Committee in September 2005.  

Page 104



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

5 

 

• New legal processes for the placement of children for adoption.  Previously 
children who were relinquished (given up for adoption by their parent/s) and 
children subject to a care order could be placed with adopters.  Under the Act a 
child cannot be placed for adoption under a Care Order. The Act provides two 
routes for a local authority to place a child for adoption – they can place a child 
with “parental consent” – either with specific adopters identified in the consent 
or with adopters chosen by the agency or with the authorisation of the court 
through a Placement Order.  Parents who wish for their child to be adopted 
must formally consent for adoption (after the child is six weeks old) witnessed 
by a CAFCASS officer. In such situations birth parents/relatives are offered 
independent counselling to support them in making a decision and to provide 
appropriate family information for the child in later life.  To obtain a Placement 
Order the child must either be subject to a care order, or meet Threshold 
Criteria for Care Proceedings (significant harm) or have no parent or guardian.  
The Placement Order gives the Local Authority parental responsibility for the 
child; it also gives prospective adopters parental responsibility once the child is 
placed with them. Parental responsibility is not taken away from the parents but 
it does not have the same level of influence as that of the Local Authority or the 
adopters.  

 

• The introduction of Special Guardianship – this is an entirely new order, which 
fits broadly in between a residence order and adoption order in terms of the 
carer taking responsibility for the children.  Special Guardianship provides legal 
permanence for those children who need security outside the looked after 
system but for whom adoption is not appropriate.  For instance older children 
who have enduring ties and significant levels of contact with their birth family; 
prospective carers who come from religious and cultural groups which have 
difficulties with adoption as it is set out in the law, and unaccompanied asylum-
seeking children who have attachments with their families abroad but need 
legal security in this country.  

8. Consultation 

8.1 Extensive consultation has taken place nationally to inform the direction of the 
new legislation and to assist with the development of the supporting regulations 
and guidance.  The consultation process included people who have been 
adopted, adoptive parents, birth parents and families and professionals from 
social care and legal backgrounds. At a local level, as part of the North London 
Adoption Consortium (Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey and Islington) 
adopters were consulted about the type of adoption support services they would 
welcome during a specially convened event on 3 December 2005.  

9. Summary and Conclusions 

9.1 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 and the supporting Regulations and 
Guidance will be fully implemented on 30th December 2005.  It provides a 
detailed framework for securing permanency for children who would otherwise 
continue to be looked after. 

 
9.2     The Act: 

Page 105



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

6 

• makes the child’s welfare the paramount consideration in decision making in 
the adoption process; 

• introduces a Welfare Check list which in addition to the considerations of the 
Children Act 1989 has a focus on the need to consider the life long impact of 
adoption for the child and the relationships which the child has and needs to 
continue to have with relatives;  

• promotes the importance of planning for permanence and highlights the 
need to prevent undue delay 

• widens the range of potential adoptive parents – through the introduction of 
adoption support assessments and services and allowing unmarried couples 
to adopt jointly 

• provides a more consistent approach to the release of information contained 
in adoption records.  

 
 
9.3 The Act brings in three specific new provisions: 

• The Local Authorities duty to offer an adoption support service to those 
whose lives are affected by adoption; 

• The creation of new legal process for the placement of children for adoption 
–“Parental Consent” and “Placement Orders” 

• The introduction of Special Guardianship – which together with Residence 
Orders and Adoption Orders provide a broader range of options for ensuring 
the legal security of children who are unable to live with their birth parents.  

 

10. Recommendations 

10.1 It is recommended that members note the content of the report.  

11. Comments of the Director of Finance 

11.1 Some of the key provisions have already been implemented and 22 adoption orders 
were assumed in the PBPR straddled over 2005/06 and 2006/07. The current 
performance indicates 20 adoptions to be finalised by March 2006 which is in line 
with the budget strategy for 2005/06 and as such, there are no specific financial 
implications arising from this report. The new requirement of “special guardianship” 
does, however, have financial implications but this can be contained within the new 
grant funding arrangement. 

12. Comments of the Head of Legal Services 

12.1 The new law is accurately summarised in this report. 

13. Equalities Implications 

13.1 In section 1.5 the act stipulates that “in placing the child for adoption, the 
adoption agency must give due consideration to the child’s religious persuasion, 
racial origin and cultural and linguistic background”.  This reinforces what is 
regarded as good social work practice and is in line with performance in 
Haringey 2004/05 where all but one child was placed for adoption with a family 
which broadly reflected the characteristics of their family of origin.  The Act also 
makes provision for unmarried couples to adopt jointly, this has the effect of 
increasing the potential pool of people coming forward to adopt and has the 

Page 106



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

7 

additional important advantage of allowing a child an equal legal relationship 
with both carers.   

14. Use of Appendices / Tables / Photographs 

  Appendix 1 – Welfare Check list – Adoption and Children Act 2005 section 1(4)  
 

Page 107



 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\4\AI00001485\CSAC20060105Item7AdoptionofChildrenAc
t20020.doc 

8 

APPENDIX 1 WELFARE CHECK LIST 
 
Adoption and Children Act 2005 section 1(4)   
 
The court or adoption agency must have regard to the following matters 
 

(a) the child’s ascertainable wishes and feelings regarding the decision 
(considered in the light of the child’s age and understanding 

(b) the child’s particular needs, 
(c) the likely effect on the chid (throughout his life) of having ceased to be a 

member of the original family and becoming an adoption person, 
(d) the child’s age, sex, background and any of the child’s characteristics which 

the court or agency consider relevant, 
(e) any harm (within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 (c41) which the child 

has suffered or is at risk of suffering, 
(f) the relationship which the child has with relative, and with any other person 

in relation to whom the court or agency considers the relationship to be 
relevant, including – 
(i) the likelihood of any such relationship continuing and the value to the 

child of its doing so, 
(ii) the ability and willingness of any of the child’s relatives, or of any such 

person, to provide the child with a secure environment in which the 
child can develop, and otherwise to meet the child’s needs, 

(iii) the wishes and feelings of any of the child’s relatives, or of any such 
person, regarding the child  

 
 

Page 108



     Agenda item:  
 

 The Executive         5 January 2006 

 

Report Title: The Annual Performance Assessment (APA) of the Children’s Service  

Report of: The Director of the Children’s Service 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Information 

1. Executive Member 
 
This report outlines the good progress made in the Children's Service.  It also 
indicates areas for improvement which have already been given appropriate attention 
and will be included in the Children and Young People's Plan 2006-9.  I am pleased to 
see a grading of 3 (out of 4) which compares very well with services across the 
country and across London. 
  

2. Purpose 

2.1 To provide the Executive with the final outcome of the Annual Performance 
Assessment of the Children’s Service.  The inspectorates request that this letter is 
presented to the formal committee of the Council.  

 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 That the areas for improvement are incorporated into the Children and Young 
People's Plan and progress reported through the agreed monitoring arrangements 
twice each year.  

 

 
Report Authorised by: Sharon Shoesmith 
    Director 
    The Children’s Service 
 
 

Signed:         
 
 

 
Contact Officer: Sharon Shoesmith  020 8489 3883 
 

8 

Agenda Item 8Page 109



 

4. Executive Summary  

 
The attached letter from Ofsted (Office for Standards in education) and CSCI 
(Commission for Social Care Inspection) outlines the developments the service has 
undertaken in response to the requirements of the Every Child matters agenda and the 
Children Act 2005.  It also presents four grades rated on a 1-4 scale with 1 being the 
lower limit.  These grades contribute to the overall CPA rating for the Council.   
 
The four grades shown on the last page of the letter are as follows: 
 

• children’s social care was rated as 2 representing an improvement from “serving some 
children well” and “adequate prospects” to “serving some children well” with “promising 
prospects”.  This grade was combined this year with the grades for Adult Social Care 
contributing to the recent award of 2 stars.   

• Education was rated 3; 

• capacity for improvement 3  

• overall grade for the Children’s Service 3.   
 
Across the country 77% of Children’s services were graded 3 or better and in London 25 
out of the 28 were rated 3 or better.   
  
This is a good result and with the forthcoming Joint Area Review (JAR) taking place 
between June and October 2006 the service expects to further improve on these grading 
particularly in children’s social care.   
 

5. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 

5.1  N/A 
 

6. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

� 'Every Child Matters’ and subsequent publication ‘Every Child Matters: Change for 
Children’ (the 2004 Children Act is the legislative basis) 

 

7. Background 

 
The APA takes place each year and is a key element of the improvement 
cycle. The ratings given to services for children and young people contribute 
to the star rating for social services and to the Council's overall 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA).  The APA is made up of the 
following stages:  

 

• submission of a self-assessment by the local authority; 

• an analysis undertaken jointly by OfSTED and CSCI of the self-
assessment, the performance indicators and all other relevant evidence; 

Page 110



• a meeting with the authority to discuss strengths,  areas for development,  
issues emerging from the analysis stage, and areas that might require 
further fieldwork in a future joint area review (JAR); 

• a letter summarising the issues discussed and providing judgements on 
which the published ratings will be based;    

• the rating of the overall contribution of the council's services to the five 
outcomes for children and young people which will be used by the Audit 
Commission to provide the rating for the children and young people's 
service block of the CPA.  

 
The self-assessment for Haringey Council was submitted in May 2005.  A 
copy was presented to the CYPSP at the June 2005 meeting.  We have now 
received the letter from the OfSTED/CSCI, but this is still confidential.  We will 
be able to highlight aspects of the letter at the meeting and share the full letter 
when it has been signed off.   
 
Joint Area Review 
 
The Joint Inspectorates have written to notify us that the indicative timetable 
for Joint Area Reviews (JAR) has now been agreed by the Secretary of State.  
According to this timetable Haringey's JAR will take place sometime between 
April 2006 and March 2007.  The inspectorates are currently reviewing the 
timetable in the light of their most recent assessments with a view to 
establishing whether any authorities should be inspected earlier or later.  They 
are expecting to issue the final timetable in December.   
 
It is expected that a number of areas highlighted during the APA will form the 
focus of the JAR.   
 
When we have more information about the date and focus of the JAR we will 
inform the CYPSP. 
 

8. Recommendations 
 
That Members recognise the positive developments in the report and 
acknowledge the work being done to support further developments. 
 

9. Summary and Conclusions 
 
Overall the APA shows a good outcome for the new Children’s Service.  
Action has already been taken to respond to the recommendations and to 
ensure the improvements are part of the new Children and Young People’s 
Plan 2006-9 

10. Legal and Financial Comments 

10.1Comments of the Director of Finance 
 
The Director of Finance has been consulted in the preparation of this report 
and has no specific comments to make.  

Page 111



 
 
 

10.2Comments of the Head of Legal Services 
 
The Head of Legal Service has been consulted in the preparation of this 
report and has no specific comments to make. 
 

11. Equalities Comments  
 
The APA makes judgements about how the service supports vulnerable 
children in terms of both social care and educational attainment.  

Page 112



 

Alexandra House 

33 Kingsway 

London WC2B 6SE 

 

 

 

 

T  08456-404045 

Email: edhelpline@ofsted.gov.uk 

 
  

    

 
 

Ms Sharon Shoesmith 

Director of Children’s Services 
The Children Service 
London Borough of Haringey 
48 Station Road, 
Wood Green  
London 
N22 7TY 
 
27 October 2005 
 
 
Dear Ms Shoesmith 
 
ANNUAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF LONDON BOROUGH OF 
HARINGEY COUNCIL’S EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE 
SERVICES 2005 
 
This letter summarises the findings of the meeting held on 27 June 2005 to 
assess the performance of the education and social care services within your 
authority. We are grateful for the information which you provided to support this 
process and for the time made available by yourself and your colleagues to 
discuss relevant issues. 
 
Being healthy 
 
Outcomes in this area are good, despite many children and young people in 
Haringey experiencing severe deprivation that impacts on both their health and 
well-being. The council’s strategy is based on a good local analysis; action is 
targeted at wards with the highest incidence of teenage pregnancy and 
vulnerable groups. There is considerable evidence of innovative practice and 
successful multi-agency working. Much has been achieved and there is a clear 
realisation regarding the further action needed to enable children and families to 
adopt healthier lifestyles, with robust systems for monitoring and responding to 
shortfall. 
 
Take-up of health services is satisfactory. Reducing health inequalities is 
recognised as a major challenge, particularly between the east and west of the 
borough. To this end, the impact of all council policies are evaluated. A multi-
agency partnership board works successfully to co-ordinate the promotion of 

Page 113



health and well-being of children and young people. It has agreed a 
comprehensive multi-agency improvement plan addressing key priorities, 
including establishing baseline data for evaluating outcomes. A multi-agency food 
and nutrition strategy has helped to reduce childhood obesity and is improving 
healthy eating. Children and young people are educated about sexual, substance 
and health risks and have access to impartial and confidential advice and 
guidance. Schools are also receiving additional support with policies for smoking, 
healthy and nutritious eating, physical activity and sport.  

 
Rates of conception among 15-18 year-old females remain high, although similar 
to comparable London boroughs. The conception rate for under-16s has 
remained fairly static, but 15 out of 19 wards have under-18 conception rates 
among the highest 20% in England, and several wards in the east have very high 
rates of teenage pregnancy. A number of successful initiatives have resulted in a 
reduction in the rate of conception, but further reductions present a major 
challenge to the authority. Nevertheless, multi-agency action is robust, wide-
ranging and well targeted.  Given the challenges, the council believe it is unlikely 
that the interim target for 2004 and the target for 2010 will be met. However, it is 
recognised that the local strategy has strengths and that clear action is being 
taken to respond to areas for improvement identified in the Teenage Pregnancy 
Unit feedback. 
 
Children and young people have access to an appropriate range of support for 
mental health problems and for counselling. Increased demand, some reflecting 
post-traumatic stress from the very large asylum seeker and refugee population, 
has been matched by increased investment. This includes the appointment of 
additional mental health and social work staff to work closely with GPs, schools 
and the adolescent outreach service.  Further work is underway to develop a 
single referral to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and to 
improve the range and location of CAMHS services. Children who are fostered 
receive age-appropriate guidance, support, advice and health care in line with 
their needs. 

 
Successful multi-agency working and the commissioning of specialist services 
have resulted in improved education and health outcomes. The views of 
vulnerable young people are taken seriously and they are involved in the 
recruitment of staff. 
 

Staying safe 
 

Overall, there is evidence that child protection services and systems to safeguard 
children are improving and outcomes are good. There has been a robust 
response to inspections by the former Social Services Inspectorate in previous 
years. As a consequence, formal child protection processes and systems have 
received significant attention. This has resulted in improvements in some key 
areas. All children on the Child Protection Register have a named social worker 
who is qualified. All reviews of children on the Child Protection Register are 
carried out within the required timescale.  
 

Page 114



There has been a fall in the length of time that children spend on the Child 
Protection Register, from 13.9% to 12.1%. This fall is welcome, although it 
remains above the level for all comparator groups. There has been an increase in 
the proportion of children on the Register who have been previously registered, 
from 5.6% to 8.3%, due to more robust scrutiny of individual cases by the council. 
The council have identified referral and assessment as an area for improvement. 
There has been a 13.7% fall in the proportion of initial assessments carried out 
within the required timescales and a slight fall in the proportion of core 
assessments completed to time. In both areas, the council’s performance is 
below that of all comparator groups. The proportion of referrals that were repeat 
referrals has increased by 8.6%; this remains well above the level of all 
comparator groups. It is recognised, however, that Haringey has a much higher 
proportion of referrals leading to an assessment than all comparators. The 
outturn for 2004/05 was 81.3%, an increase of 26.2% from 2003/04. It is likely 
that Framework-I, the council’s new management information system, should 
improve the council’s ability to monitor timescales and improve recording.  

 
The placement stability of looked after children has improved, and is now a very 
good level of performance, although the number of placement moves remains 
only slightly higher than the level found in all comparator groups. The long-term 
stability of looked after children has shown a slight improvement and remains 
slightly better than comparable authorities. 
 
The council recognises the need to improve the way it delivers better adoption 
outcomes, and progress is evident. The number of children adopted remains 
lower than similar authorities. There has been a 5.1% fall in the proportion of 
looked after children placed for adoption, and performance is significantly below 
the level of all comparator groups. There has also been a significant fall in the 
number of looked after children placed for adoption within 12 months of the best 
interest decision. The council has taken appropriate steps to improve adoption 
outcomes. It has introduced a specialist permanency ‘partnership’ team made up 
of adoption workers, designated lawyer and Independent Reviewing Officers. 
There have also been successful targeted adoption recruitment campaigns aimed 
at improving the number of black and minority ethnic carers. An adoption support 
service has also been established. The council has introduced a robust 
monitoring system to track individual adoption cases. 
 
There continues to be a high number of looked after children and young people 
living outside the council’s boundary. In particular, there are low numbers of 
younger children under the age of 10, living in foster placements in Haringey. The 
council report, however, that a number of looked after children live just outside 
the borough boundary. The council has successfully increased the number of 
children placed within the borough as part of its foster carer recruitment strategy 
but given the geographical area in which the council operates, it also recruits 
foster carers in neighbouring authorities, such as Enfield. In March 2005, 310 
looked after children were placed outside the borough, and of those children, 114 
were placed more than 20 miles away. There is evidence of a significant focus on 
increasing local placement resources. Importantly, social work visits to looked 
after children are monitored as part of the council’s performance management 
arrangements.  

Page 115



 
The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board drives and supports improvement. It 
views safeguarding in the broader context and not just child protection, including 
such areas as road safety, fear of crime and race discrimination. Importantly, 
performance information is increasingly interrogated and analysis used to review 
practice. 
 
Every school has trained, designated teachers for child protection and looked 
after children. The authority has significantly improved the range of single and 
multi-agency training opportunities for all designated teachers and governors. A 
comprehensive training programme, based partly on a needs analysis from 
schools, is in place and attendance monitored rigorously. 
 
Risks to safety are well identified and managed. Procedures have been 
established to ensure that any child without a school place is identified by the 
Children’s Service.  Robust systems are in place to monitor school attendance of 
looked after children, and importantly, this includes those children placed outside 
of Haringey. A school safe system operates in conjunction with the police, 
providing early warning of potential dangers to schools from members of the 
public. 
 
Good partnerships across a range of agencies, including the voluntary sector, 
promote a safe environment. There has also been innovative work with local faith 
communities.  Firm action is taken to challenge discrimination and harassment. 
Three-quarters of schools offer good or very good provision to pupils to ensure 
freedom from bullying and harassment. The council is taking a range of 
preventative and supportive action to reduce harassment and create a greater 
understanding of diversity and difference. There are a number of initiatives 
focussed on anti-social behaviour and race relations among young people. 
 
There is a good focus on youth crime prevention and there has been some 
success in reducing crime and unruly behaviour around school premises. 
Fostering services in Haringey meet regulatory requirements in relation to 
ensuring that children and young people are safe from harm. Similarly, the 
council’s residential settings have systems and procedures in place to promote 
safe care. 

 
Organisational changes in line with Every Child Matters, including the 
development of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, have been managed 
effectively and the focus on making sure children are safe has remained high on 
the agenda throughout the transition. 
 
Enjoying and achieving 

 
Outcomes in this area are good because of the value added to the achievement 
of children and young people. Although the overall level of achievement at Key 
Stage 1 through to Key Stage 4 is below national levels, the rates of improvement 
are higher than the national rates. Haringey continues to be among the most 
disadvantaged boroughs in England and faces multiple challenges, including a 

Page 116



large population of refugee and asylum seekers and a highly mobile school 
population.  
Early years’ provision is satisfactory or better overall, but attainment on entry to 
primary schools is well below national averages. Following the inspection of the 
LEA in September 2003, partnerships, provision, and support to providers have 
been strengthened. Actions imposed on new providers at registration are 
considerably lower than national averages. However, on inspection, actions 
imposed are above national averages and unacceptably high for out of school 
day care, where there has been a vast increase in provision to enable parents to 
continue in employment or take up new employment opportunities.  Inspection of 
nursery education reveals significant weaknesses, double the national average, 
for full day care. The authority acknowledges further improvement is necessary 
and action is underway, including a reconstruction of the early years’ service. 

 
Highly focused attention on attendance in schools, together with strong 
leadership and firm action from the authority, supported by a wide range of 
successful inter-agency partnerships and successful cross-service working, has 
resulted in improvement. Local targets have been met, although figures remain 
below those nationally. Significantly, Haringey no longer requires additional 
monitoring by the DfES. Both authorised and unauthorised absence has reduced, 
however, apart from authorised absence in secondary schools it still remains too 
high. Levels of permanent exclusion remain stable. The authority is aware of an 
over-reliance on the use of fixed term exclusion in some secondary schools as a 
strategy for managing behaviour. In response, a range of well targeted and 
specialist action is making a significant contribution to strategies for behaviour 
management. 

 
In 2003, the inspection of the LEA identified good provision for young people at 
the pupil support centre, but at the same time found weaknesses in provision for 
children with no school place. This has improved markedly. Statutory 
responsibilities are met, exclusion is carefully monitored and excluded pupils are 
well supported to continue their learning.  The percentage of pupils receiving 
alternative tuition because of permanent exclusion is above the national figure, as 
is the figure for those receiving alternative tuition for longer than one school year. 
However, more pupils are reintegrated into school.  

 
The performance of schools is thoroughly analysed and action to bring about 
improvement is well targeted. Levels of attainment are low, although the 
performance of higher attaining pupils is closer to the national figures. 
Nevertheless, pupils’ make satisfactory gains in their learning in primary schools 
and above average gains in secondary schools, particularly at Key Stage 4. 
Standards at Key Stage 1 have kept pace with improvements nationally, but 
remain below national figures and mostly below those of similar authorities. At 
Key Stage 2, standards overall have improved faster than the national rate, but 
also remain below comparators. In secondary schools, standards are below 
averages, although significantly improved against national figures at both Key 
Stages 3 and 4. All secondary schools met the government’s floor targets for 
2006 in 2004.  Performance at post-16 is improving but too many young people 
do not continue into education, employment or training and too many leave 
school without qualifications. In response, plans are underway for transforming 

Page 117



provision in secondary schools. The rate of improvement, above the national 
rates for improvement, evidence the added value made by the council to pupils 
who may come less well equipped than their counterparts elsewhere. 
 
Underachievement of specific ethnic groups, for example, from the African, 
African Caribbean (particularly boys), Kurdish and Turkish communities, has a 
significant impact on achievement overall. A range of well targeted action 
addresses variations in the performance of schools and patterns of under-
performance within key groups of children and young people, including those 
from ethnic minorities, looked after children, Traveller pupils and boys. However, 
the local priority target for improving minority ethnic attainment is unlikely to be 
met, despite this good intervention, and progress is of concern to the authority.  
 
Monitoring, challenge intervention and support, including for the school in special 
measures, together with actions to improve school and subject leadership, are 
appropriate. These are supplemented by the provision of performance data, the 
focus on self-evaluation and opportunities for school partnerships. Schools have 
improved with a sharp decrease in the percentage of parents appealing against 
their secondary school place. Results have risen and the number of schools 
requiring special measures has reduced, but some schools causing concern 
remain fragile. Recruitment and retention of school staff remains a critical issue 
and continues as a key priority.  
 
A range of wider learning and recreational opportunities are offered to children 
and young people to broaden their experiences, but the authority recognises that 
take-up could be higher. Sure Start, Children’s Centres, schools and good 
provision for family learning promote both formal and informal opportunities for 
parents to support their children’s learning and to engage in learning of their own. 
 
Children and young people, who are looked after, including care leavers, are 
helped to enjoy and achieve. In 2003, the inspection of the LEA identified 
weaknesses in the attainment and attendance of looked after children, and 
unsatisfactory support. This has been addressed. All looked after children have 
access to specific educational support and all have a personal education plan. 
Levels of attainment are now carefully monitored and have improved. The 
percentage of children leaving school with a qualification has increased. Levels of 
absence from school for looked after children have reduced. The educational 
needs of children who are fostered are met. 
 
Two-thirds of pupils with statements are educated in mainstream schools, with 
statutory assessment completed very promptly. The progress of pupils with 
learning difficulties and/or disabilities is carefully tracked and a number of 
initiatives are taking place to improve their attainment, including transforming 
special schools.  
 

Page 118



Making a positive contribution 
 
Services are good. Overall, considerable work is taking place to enable children 
and young people to make a positive contribution. This work is well focussed and 
reflects the diverse nature of communities and the challenges faced by the 
authority. Plans for the future are realistic and robust. 
 
All secondary schools and approximately half of the authority’s primary schools 
have participation forums or school councils. Seven secondary schools take part 
in the Youth Forum and 32 schools participate in the Junior Citizen’s programme. 
Young people are represented on the steering group for the new Haringey 
Secondary Strategy.  The Youth Service has been successful in engaging with 
hard to reach groups of children and involved them in activity planning. The 
Connexions Service together with the Youth Service has trained groups of young 
people as inspectors of youth facilities and provision, awarding kite marks to 
those assessed as providing quality services to young people. 
 
The Children’s Fund participation project is supporting a panel of young people, 
the ‘participation crew’, to feedback the views of other children and young people 
on the provision of services in Haringey. A participation tool kit is being 
developed for use across the authority. 
 
Exposure Youth Media, an interactive web site for young people, funded by 
Haringey, provides young people with the opportunity to express their opinions.  
Although there is some good and innovative work, the council recognises the 
need to develop a more coherent strategy for young people’s participation, and 
have started to review current activity. A significant amount of work has already 
been completed and planning is at an advanced stage.  
 
Work is also taking place with looked after children to encourage participation 
and to listen to their views. There have been consultation events, and a 
consultation day to explore young people’s views of the Change for Children 
process. Such events have involved members and the lead member for children 
and young people. A high proportion of looked after children were able to 
contribute views to their statutory review. The Leaving Care Service has also 
contributed to a number of initiatives, including a Leaving Care Handbook and 
DVD, and through the recruitment of volunteers. 
 
The proportion of looked after children who received a final warning, reprimand or 
conviction decreased from 5% to 2.9% last year. This remains slightly above the 
level for similar authorities, though performing against the national average. The 
council has developed a range of services to work with looked after children to 
reduce the risk of offending behaviour. This includes the use of co-ordinated 
intervention packages and prioritised preventative work.   
 
The council’s fostering service and residential care units have robust systems 
and protocols in place to ensure that children are encouraged to maintain 
contacts with family and friends. They also promote children’s opinions being 
sought in relation to important decisions. 
 

Page 119



Achieving economic well-being 
 
Outcomes are adequate in this area. The council recognises what needs to be 
improved. Its vision and strategy links educational achievement to the well being 
of children and young people and engaging with parents and communities. This 
builds on action that has already resulted in nearly 20% more students studying a 
range of vocational courses at Key Stage 4, demonstrating improved 
achievement, motivation, attendance and punctuality, although performance 
remains well below that of similar authorities. Action encompasses plans for 
transforming provision in secondary schools, further increasing the range of 
vocational opportunities, and improving provision for work-based learning. Much 
has already been done to reduce numbers of young people not in education, 
employment or training, including forging stronger partnerships and thorough 
capital investment. Funding has secured for a sixth form centre to open in 2007. 
This will serve the particular needs of secondary schools in the east of the 
borough where levels of deprivation are high and rates of attainment are lower. 
Secondary schools are already working in partnership to develop vocational 
courses at Key Stage 4, providing pathways to the new centre and the 
Connexions service has located personal advisers in schools in the east of the 
borough to encourage young people to remain in education and training.  
 
Care leavers are well supported to continue in education or training. For children 
and young people who are looked after, all services in regulated settings have 
met the required standards with only minor shortfalls.  
 
Children and young people make a significant contribution to local communities, 
to some of the services designed to support them and in decisions that affect 
their lives, for example through individual care plans. Nevertheless, internal 
review indicates the need for greater collaboration between services and a 
coherent strategy for children and young people’s participation. This work, which 
includes a participation strategy for young people leaving care and for care 
leavers, is well in hand.  
 

Page 120



SUMMARY  
 

 
Strengths 

 
Areas for improvement 
 

Being healthy: 

• Good analysis supporting strong 
multi-agency working and planning 

• A multi-agency food and nutrition 
strategy has helped to reduce 
childhood obesity and is improving 
healthy eating 

• Children and young people are 
educated about sexual, substance 
and health risks 

• A number of successful initiatives 
have reduced teenage conception 

• Children and young people have 
access to a range of support for 
mental health problems and 
provision reflects the needs of the 
diverse population, including a large 
asylum seeker and refugee 
population. 

Being healthy: 

• Further reduce teenage pregnancy     
through the targeting of vulnerable 
groups, and wards with the highest 
conception rates  

• Develop further work on establishing 
a single referral point to CAHMS 

• Reduce health inequalities across 
the borough 

• Improve sexual health and the 
prevention of drug misuse 

• Work with children and families to 
adopt healthier lifestyles 

• Establish baseline data for 
evaluating outcomes of the multi-
agency improvement plan. 

• Health checks and health planning 
for all looked after children. 

Staying safe: 

• All children on the Child Protection 
Register are allocated to a qualified 
social worker 

• All children on the child protection 
register are reviewed within the 
required timescales 

• All schools have trained, designated 
teachers for child protection and 
looked after children 

• There are good procedures in place 
to identify children without a school 
place and the school attendance of 
looked after children is monitored 
carefully 

• A school safe system is in place 

• There is a range of initiatives to 
reduce discrimination and 
harassment. 

Staying safe: 

• Action to improve adoption 
outcomes 

• Reduce the timescales for 
completion of initial and 
comprehensive assessments 

• Take action to reduce the number of 
children, particularly those under 10, 
living outside the borough boundary. 

Page 121



Enjoying and achieving: 

• A range of well targeted and 
specialist action is making a 
significant contribution to strategies 
for behaviour management 

• Exclusion is carefully monitored and 
excluded pupils are well supported 
to continue their learning 

• The performance of schools is 
analysed and action to bring about 
improvement is well targeted. 

Enjoying and achieving: 

• Raise levels of attainment, 
particularly in underachieving and 
ethnic groups 

• Improve the quality of provision in 
early years’ 

• Reduce absence from schools 

• Reduce levels of fixed-term 
exclusion from school 

• Address the recruitment and 
retention of school staff. 

Making a positive contribution: 

• Work to enable children and young 
people to make a positive 
contribution is well focussed and 
reflects the diverse nature of the 
community 

• The Youth Services and the 
Connexions Service have worked 
effectively with hard to reach groups 

• There is a range of innovative work, 
such as the Children’s Fund 
participation project and Exposure 
Youth Media 

• strong commitment to enable the 
participation of looked after children 

• the level of offending behaviour of 
looked after children has improved. 

Making a positive contribution; 

• Continue to develop a more 
coherent strategy for young people’s 
participation. 

Achieving economic well-being: 

• The council’s vision and strategy is 
clear, particularly in linking 
educational achievement to the well-
being of children and young people; 
and engaging with parents and 
communities. 

• Action has begun to make significant 
improvement. 

• The proportion of young people in 
education, employment or training, 
including care leavers has continued 
to improve. 

Achieving economic well-being: 

• Further improve provision for young 
people aged 14 - 19, specifically in 
opportunities for vocational and 
work based learning 

 

 
 

Service management 
 
The council has a strong vision and high aspirations for children’s services 
underpinned by clear strategic planning. There is a strong focus on outcomes, 
sustaining progress and improving performance, in considerably challenging 

Page 122



areas. Local priorities are clear, realistic and reflect national priorities. Resources 
are well targeted to priority areas. 
 
Strong governance and good leadership from members is supported by strong 
leadership at Director and senior management level. The initial stages of the 
Change for Children programme have been managed carefully and effectively. 
Plans for implementation over the next two years are effective. The 
organisational transition, in particular, has been managed carefully with a strong 
focus on maintaining quality services, especially safeguarding. There is a strong 
performance management culture that enables the council to identify strengths 
and areas for improvement. Additionally, performance data and analysis is well 
used to inform and drive change.  
 
There is a determined drive to raise expectations with schools and the wider 
community. This is matched by concerted action to improve the well being of all 
children and young people, with a strong focus on vulnerable groups 
 
Budget monitoring is rigorous, and financial management is strong. Significantly, 
children’s social care expenditure, which had significant challenges in previous 
years, came within budget in 2004-05. 
 
There is evidence of strong and developing partnership working, across the 
council, as much in evidence across council departments as with external 
agencies, such as health and in particular with the police. There is some 
innovative work with the faith communities and the diverse communities that 
Haringey represents. 
 
The council restructured the senior management team and recruited experienced 
senior managers on competitive salaries.  Although recently appointed, they are 
managers with proven track records and are potentially a strong senior 
management team, which is already beginning to impact on the development of 
services. 
 
The recruitment and retention of social care staff in particular, continues to be a 
challenge but no more so than elsewhere. Only 12.8 % of directly employed staff 
left Haringey’s employment in the course of the year, as compared to 15.8% in 
similar authorities. Only 2.8% of posts were vacant on 30 September 2004, as 
compared with 17.6% in similar authorities. Haringey has a clear workforce 
strategy and is involved in the sector’s workforce development group. 
 

Page 123



Areas for exploration in the joint area review: 
 
Being healthy 
 
Healthy life-styles are promoted for children and young people:  
 

• Action being taken to further reduce teenage pregnancy.  
 

Looked after children’s health needs are addressed:  
 

• Action to ensure looked after children receive health checks and health 
planning. 

 
Staying safe 
 
The incidence of child abuse and neglect is minimised:  
 
Agencies collaborate to safeguard children according to the requirements of 
current government guidance:  
 

• Action being taken to improve adoption outcomes 

• Referral and assessment – timescales for completion of initial and 
comprehensive assessments.  

 
Enjoying and achieving 
 
Early years provision promotes children’s development and well-being and helps 
them meet early learning goals:  
 

• Quality of early years’ provision. 
 

Children and young people are enabled and encouraged to attend and enjoy 
school and to achieve highly:  

 
Educational provision is made for children who do not attend school:  

 

• Reduction of levels of school absence  

• Levels of permanent exclusion.  
 

Action is taken to ensure that educational provision 5-16 is of good quality:  
 

• Levels of attainment, particularly in underachieving and ethnic groups.  

Page 124



Making a positive contribution 
 
Children and young people are encouraged to participate in decision making and 
in supporting the community:  

 

• Continue to develop a more coherent strategy for young people’s 
participation.  

 
Achieving economic well-being 
 
Action is taken to ensure that 14-19 education and training is planned and 
delivered in a coordinated way, and to ensure that education and training (16-19) 
is of good quality:  

 
Children and young people who are looked after are helped to achieve economic 
well-being:  
 

• Provision for young people aged 14-19, specifically in opportunities for 
vocational and work based learning 

• Reducing the proportion of young people not in education, employment 
or training, including care leavers. 

 
 

Final judgements 
 
Please see your final annual performance assessment judgements attached at 
the end of the letter. 

 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 

 

 

FLO HADLEY 

Divisional Manager 
Office for Standards in Education 

 

JONATHAN PHILLIPS 

Director – Quality, Performance and 
Methods 
Commission for Social Care Inspection 
 

 

Page 125



 

 

APA final judgements 2005:  London Borough of Haringey Council 

 

 

Areas for judgement 

 

Final judgements
1
 

The contribution of the local authority’s social care services in 
maintaining and improving outcomes for children and young people  

2 

The contribution of local authority’s education services in maintaining and 
improving outcomes for children and young people. 

3 

The contribution of the local authority’s children’s services in maintaining 
and improving outcomes for children and young people. 

3 

The council’s overall capacity to improve its services for children and young 
people 

 

3 

 
 

                                            
1 Social Care judgements use CSCI’s descriptors as follows: 

LSIF Ratings Local Services Inspectorate 

Forum 

(LSIF) Descriptors 

CSCI RATINGS 

Serving People 

Well 

CAPACITY TO 

IMPROVE 

DESCRIPTOR 

 

4 
A service that delivers well 
above minimum requirements 
for users 

 

Overall serving 

people well 

 

Very good 

 

3 

A service that consistently 
delivers above minimum 
requirements for users 

 

Serving most people 

well 

 

Good/promising 

 

2 
A service that delivers only 
minimum requirements for 
users 

 

Serving some 

people well 

 

Adequate  

 

1 
A service that does not deliver 
minimum requirements for 
users 

 

Not serving people 

well 

 

Inadequate  

 

Page 126



 

Report: Formal Bodies & Member Only Executive - Regulatory Reports 1 

     Agenda item:  
 

   Children's Service Advisory Committee                       On 5th January 2005 

 

Report Title: Framework-i Update 
 

Forward Plan reference number (if applicable):  
 

Report of: The Director of The Children's Service 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Information 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To provide members with a briefing on the Training and Support provided to 
Children's Services staff prior to and since the implementation of Framework-i. 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That members note the report 
 

 
Report Authorised by:  Sharon Shoesmith 
    Director  
              The Children's Service 

                                            
 
Contact Officer:  Cecilia Hitchen 
   Telephone: 020 9489 1496 
   Email: Cecilia.Hitchen@haringey.gov.uk 
 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1 This paper provides members with a briefing on the Training and Support provided to 
Children's Services staff prior to and since the implementation of Framework-i. 

 

4. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 

4.1 Not applicable 
 

10 

 
Agenda Item 9Page 127



 

Report: Formal Bodies & Member Only Executive - Regulatory Reports 2 

5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

5.1 Not applicable 
5.2 [Also list reasons for *exemption or confidentiality (if applicable)] 
Not Applicable 

 

6. Background 

Framework-i was implemented in July 2005 across Adult Social Services and Children 
and Families. A comprehensive training package was provided to support the 
implementation. 
 

7. Description 

Considerable thought and planning went into the e-Care training strategy including 
researching other Boroughs experiences, meeting regularly with the system supplier, 
as well as liasing with staff who had experience of other similar Haringey projects and 
Training in general. 
 
e-Care worked with OD&L on the ECDL Programme to give staff the opportunity to 
increase their IT skills in preparation for Framework-i's introduction.  A lack of 
appreciation of the level of change coming and a difficulty in finding time to undertake 
the learning among other issues, unfortunately meant that few staff progressed far with 
this programme. 
 
To ensure identification with our way of working, internal staff were recruited as 
Trainers and sent on courses covering Training theory and Framework-i. 
 
Corelogic's Training Consultant rated Haringey's Training programme as the best 
Framework-i training programme to date. 
 
 
Post Go Live Support 
 
Floorwalking succeeded in tackling localised issues that were preventing day to day 
work being completed. Now that Framework-i has been in use for a few months and 
has reached a level of stability it is important to consider the needs of each service / 
team.  To this end, e-Care has been meeting with Service Managers to address the 
individual needs of their service and ensure a viable programme of support is 
implemented to support these and get usability up to a reasonable level that ensures a 
fair and proper reflection of the Borough's performance. 
 
These issues are being logged within a RAG report.  Actions will be tailored to 
particular service needs as well as the Directorate's priorities and may comprise of 
workshops, classroom training, floorwalking, support documentation, etc.  e-Care are 
also assisting the service in the planning of their own required actions, e.g. nominating 
and encouraging realistic system superusers, discussing Framework-i issues in team 

Page 128



 

Report: Formal Bodies & Member Only Executive - Regulatory Reports 3 

meetings, ensuring e-Care communications are received, read and followed up by 
staff, etc. 
 
Some issues found in these RAG reports are being worked on already, but planning 
will be complete and work start in earnest from w/c 7th November. 
 

8. Consultation 

Not Applicable 
 

9. Summary and Conclusions 

 
− 360 Childrens staff were trained before Go Live.  
− As at Go Live, 31 Childrens staff were on our waiting list to be trained.  Some of 

these missed the courses they had been allocated for a variety of reasons and/or 
were not able to be booked in the timescale or were new starters. 

− Floorwalking took place for 5 weeks after Go Live. 
− 69 mainly new starters from Childrens were trained after Go Live. 
− Attendees graded the Childrens courses overall at 86% and their trainers at 90% 
− 86% of course attendees felt the course met their professional objectives. 
− 90% of attendees felt positive about Framework-i after their training.  
− 15% of attendees felt compelled to add a compliment to their Evaluation Form. 
− 30% of staff were anxious that they should receive further support or training, which 

has always been acknowledged as being required. 

10. Recommendations 

10.1 That members note the contents of this report 

11. Comments of the Director of Finance 

11.1 A £157K capital grant from Children and Families has already been provided to this 
project and there are no financial implications, over and above those stated above 
associated with this report. 

12. Comments of the Head of Legal Services 

12.1 The Head of Legal Services has been consulted on the content of this report and has 
no specific comments to make. 

13. Equality Implications 

13.1 There are no equality implications at this stage of the project. However, we will 
continue to monitor this area and liaise with the Children's Service Equalities Officer 
to ensure that all equality implications are considered. 

14. Use of Appendices / Tables / Photographs 

14.1 Appendix 1 - eCare Training Report on Children's Service 
 

 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



CSAC20060105Item9Appendix10.xls 1.Key to Sheets 2 & 3

Key to Pre Go Live and Post Go Live Classroom Training Figures

Example Course Example Code Duration Content

Assessment & Care Mgt CH1 Day one of a 2 day course Generic system training

Assessment & Care Mgt CH1 Day two of a 2 day course Specific workflow training relevant to the attendees

Assessment & Care Mgt CH5 Course cancellation Cancellation due to system/other irresolvable problem

Repeat Day 2 A&CM CH5 1 day course Repeated 2nd day of cancelled course

Childrens Homes CH32 1 day course

Specific workflow training for teams only requiring one day 

to cover their usage of the system (i.e. where they utilise 

fewer part of the system in their day to day work)

Managers Processes CH41 1 day course Managers Specific role on the system

Directors Processes DIR 1 day course Directors & ADs Specific role on the system

Performance PERF2 1 day course Generic system training

Basic GL22 1 day course Generic system training

Page 1 of 1 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
1



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

     Agenda item:  
 

 Children’s Service Advisory Committee:  5 January 2006                 

 

Report Title: Safeguarding Children in Education 
 

Forward Plan reference number (if applicable): N.A 
 

Report of: Director of theChildren’s Service 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Information 

1. Purpose 

To update Members on progress towards implementing the DfES guidance ‘Safeguarding 
Children in Education’, specifically in relation to the responsibilities of schools.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That Members note the report 
2.2 That Members note that additional guidance has been published by the DfES in relation to 

safeguarding children that has implications for education settings; 
2.3 To note that the London Child Protection Committee issued draft guidance for schools and 

other settings on 16th December 2005 that will have implications for how schools manage 
safeguarding responsibilities; 

2.4 To request a further report in 2006 that addresses the implications of the full range of this 
guidance in relation to safeguarding in education. 

 
Report Authorised by:  Sharon Shoesmith 
    Director  
                                                The Children’s Service 

    

 
Contact Officer: Jan Doust, Head of Access and Pupil Support.  
Tel: 0208-489-3150. Email: jan.doust@haringey.gov.uk 
 

3. Executive Summary 

        This report sets out the current position in relation to the implementation of the revised 
responsibilities of schools, following the publication of the DfES guidance ‘Safeguarding in 
Education’ in the autumn 2004. The report also makes reference to additional guidance on 
the Children Act 2004, published by the DfES during 2005. The report makes reference to 
guidance published very recently by the DfES and the London Child Protection Committee 
that will have further implications for the context within which schools and other education 
establishments manage safeguarding responsibilities. Given that this guidance was 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 133



 

 2 

published much too late to be properly included in this report, this should be considered an 
interim progress report, with a more comprehensive report to be made available during 
2006. 

4. Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 

No changes in policy are indicated. However, the guidance provides clarification on existing 
responsibilities. 

 

5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

 

Safeguarding Children in Education, DfES, 2004 
Child Protection: Preventing Unsuitable People from Working with Children and Young Persons in the 
Education Service, DfES 2002 
Working Together to Safeguard Children, DoH, Home Office, DfEE, ODPM, LCD, 2003 
London Child Protection Procedures (edition 2), London Child Protection Committee, 2004 
Draft London Procedures (Education) London Child Protection Committee, October 2004 
Children Act 2004, Section 10, Inter-Agency Co-operation to Improve the Well-Being of Children 
Children Act 2004, Section 11, Guidance on the Duty to Safeguard and Promote the Welfare of 
Children 
DfES Draft Consultation – Working Together to Safeguard Children (2005) 
London Child Protection Committee: Safeguarding Children in Education Draft for Consultation, 
December 2005-12-21  
London Child Protection Committee: Competence Matters – December 2005 
DfES Safeguarding Children – Safer Recruitment and Selection in Education Settings, July 2005 
DfES Managing Allegations Against Teachers and Others, November 2005 

 

6.   Background 

Safeguarding Children in Education was published in September 2004. A report was provided 
to Members that set out the requirements of this guidance. This included much more 
prescriptive requirements for schools and other education establishments. It was agreed that 
a progress report should be provided for Members on the implementation of these 
responsibilities. 

7.   Description 

This report sets out the original responsibilities described in Safeguarding Children in 
Education. It describes the current position in relation to schools implementation of these 
responsibilities. The report makes reference to a number of pieces of associated guidance 
that has been issued since the publication of Safeguarding – Children in Education and to 
other guidance that is imminent. Therefore the report highlights the need for more 
comprehensive report to Members once the implications of all associated guidance has been 
properly considered. 

8.   Consultation 

 

This report reflects guidance issued by the DfES. This is subject to statutory consultation 
periods and where appropriate, Haringey has responded to each consultation opportunity. 

9.   Summary and Conclusions 

The recommendations set out in Safeguarding Children in Education are being implemented 
in most schools in Haringey. All schools have received information and have been offered 
training for these responsibilities. Schools are audited twice per year against the requirements 

Page 134



 

 3 

of the guidance and challenged where their practice falls below the expected level. This 
guidance now needs to be set within the full range of safeguarding guidance that has been 
issued or is expected imminently to support the Children Act 2004, including procedures 
issued by the London Child Protection Committee. This will need to be assimilated into a 
comprehensive local strategy to ensure that schools work with the full range of partners to 
ensure that children and young people are safeguarded. 

10. Recommendations 

10.1 That members note the report; 
10.2 That Members note that this is an interim report and that a fuller report that encapsulates the 

full range of associated guidance will be produced in 2006; and 
10.3 That Members note that a very high proportion of schools have met the requirements of the 

existing guidance and Children’s Service staff are continuing to secure the full compliance of 
all schools. 

11. Comments of the Director of Finance 

This is a report for information. There are no new financial implication’s arising from this 
report. 

12. Comments of the Head of Legal Services 

This is a report for information.  It accurately describes new   duties for the schools introduced 
by the Children Act 2004.  

13. Equalities Implications 

This is a report for information, it does not raise any issues that specifically affect any 
sections of the community. 

14. Use of Appendices / Tables / Photographs 

No appendices or photographs have been used. A table has been used in paragraph 10 to 
show the current position in schools in relation to DfES requirements. 

 
The Report 
 
1. The Department published ‘Safeguarding Children in Education’ for Education and Skills 

(DfES) in September 2004. This gives guidance under section 175 of the Education Act 2002. 
The guidance discusses the duty of local education authorities (LEAs) and education 
establishments to have arrangements to carry out their functions with a view to safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children (Section 175 of the Education Act 2002, Section 157 for 
independent schools). It also identifies their responsibilities for child protection arrangements, 
replacing existing guidance in Circular 10/95 ‘Protecting Children from Abuse: The Role of the 
Education Service’.   

 
2. The Department for Education and Skills (DfES) indicated that it would be updated as 

necessary in response to new developments, such as the development of integrated children's 
services. This has not happened to date. Therefore, for the purpose of this report, reference is 
still made to the LEA, in line with the guidance, although these responsibilities now reside 
within Haringey Children’s Service. 

 
3. The guidance applies to: 

 

•    LEAs 

• Governing bodies and headteachers of maintained schools 

• Governing bodies and headteachers of non-maintained schools 

Page 135



 

 4 

• Proprietors and headteachers of independent schools, including city academies and city 
technology colleges 

• Corporations and principals of FE colleges; and 

• All staff within any of these organisations who have a lead responsibility for 
safeguarding children 

 
4. The guidance established a shared objective that all staff in the education service must aim to 

keep children safe by rigorous recruitment, challenge of poor practice, taking action on 
concerns and contributing to work with partner agencies. Failure to have safeguarding 
arrangements in place or failure to have regard to this guidance may be grounds for the 
Secretary of State to take action against an LEA, governing body or proprietor. 
 

5. Training on the revised guidance was provided for all schools, through governors’ briefings, 
headteacher meetings and specific events delivered within the Network Learning Community 
arrangements. 
 

6. Members received a report on ‘Safeguarding Children in Education’ in December 2004. It was 
agreed that Members should receive a progress report on the implementation of the guidance 
during 2005. This report provides an update of progress in relation to the implementation of the 
guidance in relation to school responsibilities.  
 

7. Since the publication of ‘Safeguarding Children in Education’, the DfES has also published a 
number of other documents related to the wider responsibilities to safeguard children. These 
include the Children Act 2004 Section 10 guidance on ‘Co-operation to Improve the Well-being 
of Children and Young People’, Section 11 guidance on ‘Arrangements to Safeguard and 
Promote the Welfare of Children and Young People, and draft guidance on the role of Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards. All of this guidance has very significant implications for the 
context within which schools provide services to children and young people and the ways in 
which they work with partner agencies. 
 

8. The DfES are also in the process of revising the guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’. The consultation period on this guidance ended in October 2005 and final guidance 
is expected early in 2006. This will set out very clearly the responsibilities of the full range of 
agencies that work with children and young people .  
 

9. It will be very important to take account of the full range of government guidance on the multi-
agency framework for safeguarding children. Some aspects of this guidance are due for 
imminent publication, therefore, this report does not address the implementation of central 
responsibilities as it will be appropriate to consider these within the context of the revised 
‘Working Together’ document. Additionally other guidance has been published very recently, 
and too late to include within the remit of this report. 
 

10. The following table sets out the current position in relation to the key operational 
responsibilities within schools, as set out in the guidance: 
 
Schools must: Current position (December 2005) 
have a child protection policy in place in 
accordance with local inter-agency 
procedures; 

Over 85% of schools now have a child 
protection policy. Headteachers and Chairs of 
governors continue to be reminded of their 
responsibility to have an up to date policy in 
place. 

operate safe recruitment procedures; The Local Safeguarding Children Board 
recently undertook a consultation on minimum 
standards for recruitment of staff. The 

Page 136



 

 5 

consultation period ended on 9th December 
2005. Schools were involved in the 
consultation process and governing bodies 
will be invited to adopt this guidance when it is 
finalised. 

have procedures for dealing with allegations 
against members of staff and volunteers; 

The DfES published revised guidance on 
dealing with allegations against professionals 
in November 2005. Local procedures that 
reflect this guidance are being prepared and 
will be agreed by the LCSB in early 2006.  

have a designated member of staff from the 
schools leadership team to take lead 
responsibility for child protection issues; 

100% of schools have a designated teacher 
for child protection. 

ensure that the designated member of staff 
undertakes inter-agency training at the 
standard required by the local ACPC and that 
they attend refresher training every two years; 

The LSCB and LEA (now Children’s Service) 
offer a comprehensive training programme 
that would enable all schools to meet the 
training requirements on staff.  

ensure that the headteacher and all other staff 
who work with children undertake appropriate 
training to enable them to fulfil their child 
protection responsibilities effectively and 
receive refresher training every three years; 
and 

The LSCB and LEA (now Children’s Service) 
offer a comprehensive training programme 
that would enable all schools to meet the 
training requirements on staff. 

nominate a member of the governing body to 
be responsible for liasing with the LEA and/or 
partner agencies in the event of an allegation 
against the headteacher. 
 

Over 70% of schools have a designated 
governor for child protection. Governors are 
reminded each term, through the Directors 
letter to governors, of their responsibilities for 
child protection.  

 
 

11. There are considerable training implications arising from the guidance ‘ Safeguarding in 
Education’ as well as the Children Act 2004 Section 11 guidance on the ‘Arrangements To 
Safeguard and Promote The Welfare of Children’. These have implications, both for schools 
and other agencies working with children, young people and families. The London Child 
Protection Committee launched ‘Competence Matters’, a London Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Children Training Framework for consultation on 16th December 2005. This was too close to 
the submission dates for reports to include detail here. However, this framework sets out a 
number of proposals that would enable training requirements to be addressed on a pan-
London as well as local basis. 
 

12. At the time of writing the last report for Members (December 2004), the London Child 
Protection Committee was preparing single agency guidance on the role of education 
establishments in relation to safeguarding children. This was published in draft form on 16th 
December 2005. This was too late to be properly incorporated into this report. A further report 
will be available to Members setting out the implications of this guidance when it is published in 
final form. 

 
13. This report is being written at a time of transition as the DfES publishes a suite of statutory 

guidance in relation to the Children Act 2004. Some of the original timescale for the publication 
of this guidance e.g. dealing with allegations against professionals has been extended and the 
documents have been published later than expected. Other guidance such as that relating to 
safe recruitment is still awaited. This has had an impact on our planning, as our local 
arrangements must reflect the statutory position. Therefore, this report only partially addresses 
the full implementation of arrangements to safeguard children in education. It is recommended 

Page 137



 

 6 

that a further report that addresses the implications of the full range of statutory guidance is 
made available to Members during 2006. 
 
 

Page 138



 

 1 

  Agenda item:  
 

   Children’s Service Advisory Committee                     On    5th January 2006 

 

Report Title: Annual Report on Discriminatory Incidents 

Report of: Director of Children’s Services 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Information 

Purpose 

1.1 To inform CSAC about the number of discriminatory incidents reported in Haringey 
schools in the academic year 2004/5. 

 
1.2 To provide an analysis in relation to the number and nature of incidents by type, by 

pupil, by adult, by victim and perpetrator/suspects and by age, gender and by 
sanctions, and to identify trends in incidents from the data gathered. 

 
1.3 To outline a programme of action to be taken by the Children’s Service and schools 

in response to this analysis of discriminatory incidents. 
 

Recommendations 

 
1.4 To note the analysis of data contained in this report. 
 
1.5 To endorse the proposal, to update and merge of the Children’s Service guidance on 

Bullying with the existing ‘Dealing with Discriminatory Incidents in Haringey Schools’ 
procedure.      
 

1.6 That data on incidents of discrimination and bullying are reported to the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board on a regular basis together with the action being taken 
to reduce such incidents.  

 

 
Report Authorised by:  Sharon Shoesmith 
    Director  
    The Children’s Service 
 

     
 
Contact Officer:   Leon Joseph, Equalities Officer  
Telephone:    020 8489 3884 
 

[No.] 

 Agenda Item 11Page 139



 

 2 

 

Executive Summary 

1.7This report looks at the number and type of discriminatory incidents reported to and 
recorded by Haringey schools for the academic year 2004/5 and compares this with data 
collected in 2003/4. Appendix 1 attached 
 
 
1.8 The number of schools submitting discriminatory incident data to the Children’s 

Service has increased from 67% in 2003/4 to 69% in 2004/5. 
 
1.9 Racially motivated incidents have been the most frequently reported incidents for the 

past three years, followed by incidents based on the victim’s gender. 
  
1.10 The ages of victims most frequently experiencing discriminatory incidents in 2004/5 

are pupils aged 9, 10, and 12 years old. The ages of suspects most frequently 
recorded in discriminatory incidents in 2004/5 are pupils aged 9, 10, 12 and 13 years 
old.  

 
1.11 In primary schools in 2004/5 the ethnic group with the most recorded number of 

victims were African pupils. The group most frequently recorded as suspects in 
primary schools in 2004/5 are pupils of White British ethnicity. 

 
1.12 The group most frequently recorded, as victims in secondary schools in 2004/5 are 

pupils White British pupils with 44% (29) of incidents. In secondary schools in 
2004/5, pupils of White British ethnicity were most frequently recorded as suspects 
with 25% (26) of incidents.  

 
1.13 In 2004/5 male pupils accounted for 38% of victims and female pupils accounted for 

62% of victims. As suspects, male pupils accounted for 68% of incidents and female 
pupils for 32%. 

 

Reasons for any change in policy or for new policy development (if applicable) 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

 
Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
The Children’s Act 2004 ‘Every Child Matters’ (Staying Safe) 
DfES - Circular 10/99 - legal responsibilities to prevent bullying including that related to 
sexual orientation 
 
 

 

2. Background 

 
2.1 As part of the Children’s Service’s responsibility to combat racism an annual report 

based on the discriminatory data submitted by schools is produced. This report 
highlights: 

 

Page 140



 

 3 

� the key trends identified in the 2003/4 academic year compared with 2004/5 
� significant trends identified by analysis of data submitted by schools 

 
2.2 Discriminatory incidents recorded in schools cover pupils and adults and are 

categorised in the following way; racial, homophobic, disability, sexual and religious 
discrimination. All schools are required to submit discriminatory incident data as part 
of the following local agreements and statutory legislation; 

 
� LEA Discriminatory Policy & Procedure  
� Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
� DfES Circular 10/99 Social Inclusion-Dealing with Racial and Sexual Harassment. 

This requires of the School Governors to annually report to the LA the number of 
racist incidents recorded by the school. 

 
3. Key Findings 
 
3.1 The data supporting these key findings is in appendix 1. In the academic year 2004/5 

there has been a small increase in the number of discriminatory incident returns 
made by schools to the Children’s Service.  In 2003/4 the percentage of schools 
submitting data was 67% this figure has risen to 69% in the academic year 2004/5. 

 
3.2 Details of those schools who have not returned will be passed on to the School 

Improvement Partner and will form part of each school’s annual ‘Self Evaluation’ 
discussion.  

 
3.3 In the 2004/5 academic year we saw a decrease in the total number of incidents 

reported by schools. 180 incidents were recorded in 2004/5 compared to 256 in 
2003/4. Whilst there has been a decrease in recorded incidents submitted, the 
distribution of incidents by age of victims/suspects and gender remain largely in line 
with data recorded in the previous year. 

 
3.4 As in the last three years the types of incident most frequently perpetrated are racial 

discrimination, sexual discrimination and homophobic discrimination/bullying. 
 
4. Analysis 
 
4.1 Of the 180 incidents recorded by schools in 2004/5, the type of incident most 

frequently recorded were racially motivated, followed by incidents categorised as 
sexual, homophobic, religious and disabled discrimination. This represents a 29% 
reduction from the previous year. However, incidents remain static in their percentage 
share when compared to the previous academic year.  

 
4.2 The 29% reduction of discriminatory incidents reported by schools is to be welcomed 

and is due to better recording of incidents and raised awareness by teaching staff in 
tackling discriminatory incidents between students. However, schools and the 
Children’s Service must remain vigilant in combating discriminatory incidents. As with 
incidents of bullying it is accepted that there is some underreporting of incidents. 

 
4.3 In 2004/5 the ethnic group with the largest number of victims recorded in primary 

schools are African pupils followed by Caribbean pupils. This contrasts with 2003/4 
when Caribbean pupils were the largest ethnic group as victims in primary schools 
followed by African pupils. In secondary schools the ethnic group with the largest 

Page 141



 

 4 

number of victims recorded are White British pupils, followed by Caribbean and 
Kurdish pupils.   

 
4.4 When analysing primary schools data on ethnicity of suspects/perpetrators 2004/5 

with 2003/4, the ethnicity of pupils recorded most frequently as suspects/perpetrators 
remain the same as the previous academic year with White British, Caribbean, and 
African pupils most frequently recorded. Pupils with Turkish ethnicity have seen a 
reduction in the number being recorded as suspects/perpetrators. 

 
4.5 The data for ethnicity of suspects/perpetrators in secondary schools has seen some 

variation from the previous academic year. Pupils of White British ethnicity are now 
most frequently recorded as suspects, followed by pupils of Caribbean ethnicity. This 
highlights a change from the previous year when pupils of Caribbean ethnicity were 
most frequently recorded as suspects/perpetrators.  

 
4.6 When comparing the data submitted on ethnicity with the school census data the fact 

that not all schools have submitted data does have a significant effect on what can be 
interpreted. Some schools may not have participated or have consistently submitted 
‘nil returns’. Others may be very rigorous in recording incidents. As a result of this it 
may appear that a specific ethnic group is more likely to be either a victim or 
perpetrator than may actually be the case. Therefore the need for 100% schools’ 
participation and awareness on what constitutes a discriminatory incident remains a 
priority. 

 
4.7 The number of incidents involving adult/teacher (1) has remained static from the 

previous year. 

5. Summary  

 
5.1 Schools’ participation with the Children’s Service discriminatory incident policy is 

progressing year on year from under 38% in 2001/2 to almost 70% in 2004/5. 
However, achieving the target set by the Children’s Service of all schools reporting 
incidents to the service by 2005 will take longer to be achieved. This target will now 
be reset for 2007. The downward trend of reported incidents in 2004/5 will be tracked 
and compared with annual data 2005/6 to show trends in the number and nature of 
recorded incidents.  

6. Conclusions 

 
6.1 The Children Act 2004 and Every Child Matters has seen the introduction of five new 

integrated outcomes for children and young people. The five outcomes; Be Healthy, 
Stay Safe, Enjoy and Achieve, Make a Positive Contribution and Achieve Economic 
Well Being. In the new  framework the combatting of discrimination and bullying are 
brought together under the heading  of the ‘Stay Safe’.The inspection framewok 
reads:  

 
‘Staying safe, so that they (children and young people) are safe from 
maltreatment, neglect, violence and sexual exploitation; safe from accidental 
injury and death; safe from bullying and discrimination; safe from crime and 
anti-social behaviour in and out of school; have security and stability and are 
cared for’.  

 

Page 142



 

 5 

6.2 Every Child Matters and the new OfSTED inspection framework places a clear 
responsibility on Children’s Services and schools to ensure children and young 
people learn in a safe and stable environment. This is supported by research 
undertaken by the Children’s Commissioner for England, Professor Al Aynsley-Green, 
who has identified the reduction of bullying of children and young people as one of his 
key priorities.  
 
'I want to see the treatment of bullying mainstreamed in schools so that by the 
time the children become adults, they know how to cope with it and defeat it. 
'I have had hundreds of in-depth conversations with children since accepting 
this post and I can tell you that the one thing every child I have met has been 
affected by, with virtually no exceptions, is bullying,' 

 
Professor Al Aynsley-Green, Children’s Commissioner for England, November 13, 2005 
The Observer 

 

6.3 The Children’s Commissioner’s comments are supported by local research carried out 
with children and young people in Haringey as part of the consultation exercise to 
develop the Children and Young People’s Service Plan 2006/9 who state that bullying 
and staying safe at school is key priority that needs to be addressed in both primary 
and secondary schools in Haringey. This view is confirmed by a recent survey carried 
out by the Children’s Service with pupils from primary and secondary schools who 
were asked the following; Is there any bullying in your school? 79% of pupils who 
responded to the question said ‘Yes there was’. 

 
6.4 DfES guidance states that every school in Haringey should have an anti–bullying 

policy and statement that should be displayed prominently around the school. The 
policy should be familiar to pupils, parents, staff and the Governing body, who should 
receive termly reports on incidents.  

 
6.5 In response to Anti-Bullying week in November 2005, we saw Haringey schools 

positively challenging all forms of bullying through a range of curriculum based 
activities. However, more work needs to be undertaken by the Children’s Service to 
ensure that school based activities to combat bullying are sustained and meet both 
DfES guidance and the outcomes identified in the ‘Stay Safe’ section of ‘Every Child 
Matters’.  

 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 To ensure that Haringey Children’s Service and schools contribute to the outcomes 

contained in the ‘Stay Safe’ section of the Children and Young People’s Plan,  it is 
recommended that the data on discriminiatory incidents and bullying in schools is 
reported to the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board on a regular basis,  together with 
actions to be taken to reduce discriminatory incidents.  

  

 8. Comments of the Director of Finance 

 
8.1 The Director of Finance has been consulted on the content of this report and has no 

specific comments to make. 

Page 143



 

 6 

9. Comments of the Head of Legal Services 

 
9.1 The Head of Legal Services has been consulted on the content of this report and has 

no specific comment to make. 

10  Equalities Implications 

 
 10.1 Discriminatory incidents inevitably affect all those involved negatively. All pupils and 

adults in Haringey have the right to learn and work in an environment free from 
discriminatory behaviour and make a ‘Positive Contribution’. In working with schools 
to develop and implement a combined bullying and discriminatory incident policy the 
Children’s Service is ensuring that it carries out its role in ensuring that children and 
young people are safe from bullying and discrimination.  

 
10.2 The continued guidance, collection and analysis of data ensures the Children’s 

Service continues to support schools compliance with the Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 (specific duty) as defined by the Commission for Racial 
Equality. In addition the programme of action also aims to ensure that the Children 
Service meets the OfSTED inspection criteria contained in ‘Every Child Matters’. 

11 Use of Appendices / Tables  

11.1  Appendix 1 provides a detailed analysis of discriminatory incidents recorded in 
2004/5 and is accompanied by graphs as supporting evidence.    

 
 

Page 144



 

 7 

Appendix 1: Discriminatory Incidents – Data 
 
 
Number of pupil related incidents (see chart 1) 
 
In 2004/5 180 pupil related incidents were recorded compared with 256 for the same period 
in 2003/4. This represents a 29% reduction in incidents from the previous year.  The 29% 
reduction of discriminatory incidents reported by schools is to be welcomed particularly as 
the school population is larger than the previous year. We believe the reduction is due to 
better recording of incidents and raised awareness by teaching staff in tackling 
discriminatory incidents between students. The number of schools participating in the LEA 
recording procedure has risen slightly from 67% in the previous year to 69% this year. The 
Children’s Service target is to have 100% of Haringey schools participating in the 
boroughwide policy. 
 
Type and Nature of incidents (see charts 2, 3, 4 and 5) 
 
Of the 180 incidents recorded by schools in 2004/5, 111 were racially motivated. This 
represents 62% of all pupil-related 2003/4. Sexual, religious and disabilities discrimination 
remains static in their percentage share when compared to 2004/5.  
 
Of the 180 incidents recorded the most frequently perpetrated are ‘comments of a 
discriminatory nature’ with 41% (75) incidents for the period and discriminatory abuse which 
also recorded 36% (65) incidents for the period. Compared with 2003/4, when comments of 
a discriminatory nature accounted for 44% (120) incidents and discriminatory abuse 
accounted for 25% (69) incidents. Whilst recognising there has been a significant reduction 
in recorded incidents (see above) the distribution of incidents by nature remains static.  
 
Age of Victims and Suspects (see charts 6 and 7) 
 
The ages of victims most frequently experiencing discriminatory incidents in 2004/5 are 
pupils aged 8,9 and 10. This is a change from 2003/4 when pupils aged 12 and 13 most 
frequently experienced discriminatory incidents.  In 2004/5 the age of pupils most frequently 
recorded as suspects are pupils aged 9, 10, 12 and 13 years old. This age group represents 
50% of all suspects/perpetrators in incidents recorded. 
 
Analysis of the data collected between 2003/4 and 2004/5 identifies a small shift in ages of 
victims from secondary school to primary school. However, the number of incidents has 
remains static in addition there has been no significant change from the previous year in age 
groups most frequently identified as suspects/perpetrators.  
 
 
Ethnicity of Suspects/Perpetrators (see charts 8 and 9)  
 
The group most frequently recorded as suspects/perpetrators in primary schools in 2004/5, 
are pupils of White British ethnicity with 25% (26) of incidents. Caribbean pupils are 
recorded as suspects in 23% (24) of incidents. African pupils are recorded as 
suspects/perpetrators in 15% (16) incidents and pupils classified as ‘Any other whites’ were 
suspects/perpetrators in 9% (9) incidents. This picture remains largely the same as the 
previous year. 
 
In 2004/5, secondary schools pupils most frequently recorded as suspects/perpetrators were 
of White British ethnicity with 24% (21) incidents. This is followed by pupils with Caribbean 

Page 145



 

 8 

ethnicity with 18% (16) incidents. African pupils and White and Black Caribbean pupils 
recorded 9% (8) incidents each. The main change in this category is the reduction of 
suspects/perpetrators from the ‘Any other black’ category. In 2003/4 suspect/perpetrators 
accounted for 12% (20) allegations of incidents this has fallen to 2% (2) incidents in 2004/5. 
 
Ethnicity of Victims (see charts 10, 11, 12 and 13) 
 
In primary schools in 2004/5 the ethnic group with the most recorded number of victims were 
African pupils with 22% (24) of incidents, compared to 2003/4 when Caribbean pupils were 
victims in 20% (25) of incidents. This is followed by pupils of Caribbean ethnicity with 21% 
(22) of incidents recorded. 
 
In 2004/5 primary school pupils of White British ethnicity were recorded as victims in 17% 
(18) of incidents followed by pupils of Turkish ethnicity who were recorded as victims in 14% 
(13) incidents compared to 2003/4 when Turkish pupils were victims in 12% (15) of incidents 
recorded in this category.  
 
In the primary setting the ethnic groups with the highest number of recorded victims remains 
the same as the previous year with all groups apart from pupils classifying themselves as 
‘Any other black’ and ‘Any other white’ seeing reductions in real terms.  
 
The groups most frequently recorded as victims in secondary schools in 2004/5 are pupils of 
White British ethnicity with 44% (29) of Incidents. This is compared to 2003/4 when pupils in 
the category ‘Any other ethnic group’ were recorded as victims 16% (18) of incidents. This is 
followed by Pupils from Caribbean and Kurdish ethnicity White British pupils with incidents 
9% (6).  
 
This sees a significant shift from the previous year when pupils of Caribbean ethnicity were 
victims in 25% incidents (41) of incidents recorded and White British pupils accounting for 
11% (18).  
 
It should be noted that only 69% primary and secondary submitted data in the 2004/5 
academic year. However when analysing victims and perpetrator data by ethnicity the ethnic 
groups most frequently identified remain below the current school population totals.  Current 
school population by ethnicity is identified in charts 12 and 13.  
 
Gender of Victims (see chart 14) 
 
In 2004/5 males were recorded as victims in 38% (59) of incidents reported compared with 
2003/4 where male pupils were recorded as victims in 52% (78) of incidents. Females were 
recorded as victims in 62% (95) incidents in 2004/5 compared to 48% (71) incidents 2003/4.  
 
Gender of Suspects/Perpetrators  
 
In 2004/5 male pupils were recorded as suspects/perpetrators in 68% (130) incidents 
compared to 2003/4 which saw male pupils recorded in 78% (193) incidents as 
suspects/perpetrators. In the same period female pupils were recorded as 
suspects/perpetrators in 32% (62) incidents, whereas in 2003/4 female pupils were recorded 
as suspects/perpetrators in 22% (56) incidents.  
 
 

Page 146



 

 9 

 
 

Chart 1 - Number of Pupil Related Incidents/School Returns 2003/04 v 2004/05

91%

60%

84%

64%

80%

73%

64%

40%

71%

81%

64%

73%

67%

53%

86%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pri (54 of 63) Sec (10 of 11) Spec (3 of 5) Pri (53 of 63) Sec (7 of 11) Spec (3 of 5) Pri (46 of 63) Sec (7 of 11) Spec (2 of 5) 03/04 Pri (141

of 198)

04/05 Pri (153

of 189)

03/04 Sec (21

of 33)

04/05 Sec (24

of 33)

03/04 Spec

(10 of 15)

04/05 Spec (8

of 15)

Autumn Spring Summer
Total

Chart 2 - Type and number of Pupil incidents 03/04 v 04/05

57%

62%

15%
12%

4% 3%

17% 18%

7%
5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Racial 03/04

(146)

Racial 04/05

(111)

Homophobic

03/04 (39)

Homophobic

04/05 (21)

Disability 03/04

(9)

Disability 04/05

(6)

Sexual 03/04

(43)

Sexual 04/05

(33)

Religious 03/04

(19)

Religious 04/05

(9)

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

to
ta

l 
in

c
id

e
n

ts

Pupil Incidents 2003/04 - 256 Cohort - 70038             Pupil Incidents 2004/05 - 180 Cohort - 73236

Page 147



 

 10 

Chart 3 Type and Number of Adult incidents 03/04 v 04/05

70%

100%

10%

20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Racial 03/04

(7)

Racial 04/05

(1)

Homophobic

03/04 (1)

Homophobic

04/05 (0)

Disability

03/04 (0)

Disability

04/05 (0)

Sexual 03/04

(2)

Sexual 04/05

(0)

Religious

03/04 (0)

Religious

04/05 (0)

Page 148



 

 11 

 Chart 4 - Nature and number of Pupil discriminatory incident 03/04 v 04/05

9%

10%

4%

3%

1%

25%

36%

9%

7%

44%

41%

4%

0%

1%

0%

3%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Physical attack 03/04 , 25

Physical attack 04/05 , 18

Physical threat 03/04 ,12

Physical threat 04/05 , 6

Discriminatory graffiti 03/04 , 2

Discriminatory graffiti 04/05 , 0

Discriminatory abuse 03/04 , 69

Discriminatory abuse 04/05 , 65

Disrespect towards differences 03/04 , 25

Disrespect towards differences 04/05 , 12

Comments of a discriminatory nature 03/04 , 120

Comments of a discriminatory nature 04/05 , 75

Refusal to co-operate due to religion, gender,

disability,ethnic 03/04 , 11

Refusal to co-operate due to religion, gender,

disability,ethnic 04/05 , 0

Discriminatory literature 03/04 , 0

Discriminatory literature 04/05 , 2

Other 03/04 , 1

Other 04/05 , 5

Percentage of total incidents

Page 149



 

 12 

Chart 5 Nature and Number of Adult discriminatory incident 03/04 v 04/05

18%

27%

36%

100%

18%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Physical threat -

03/04, 2

Physical threat -

04/05, 0

Discriminatory

abuse - 03/04, 3

Discriminatory

abuse - 04/05, 0

Comments of a

discriminatory

nature - 03/04, 4

Comments of a

discriminatory

nature - 04/05, 1

Refusal to co-

operate due to

religion, gender,

disability,ethnic  -

03/04, 2

Refusal to co-

operate due to

religion, gender,

disability,ethnic  -

04/05, 0

Discriminatory

literature - 03/04,

0

Discriminatory

literature - 04/05,

0

Chart 6 -  Age group of victims of discrimination 2004/05

0%

1%

2%

3%

6%

10%

14%

12%

1%

13%

14%

4% 4%

14%

2%

1%

3%

5%

7%

10%

16%

11%

2%

9%

7% 7%

2%

3%

15%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

<
4
, 
1
 p

u
p
ils

<
4
, 
 3

 p
u
p
ils

4
, 
2
 p

u
p
ils

4
, 
1
 p

u
p
ils

5
, 
5
 p

u
p
ils

5
, 
6
 p

u
p
ils

6
, 
6
 p

u
p
ils

6
, 
1
0
 p

u
p
ils

7
, 
1
4
 p

u
p
ils

7
, 
1
3
 p

u
p
ils

8
, 
2
3
 p

u
p
ils

8
, 
1
9
 p

u
p
ils

9
, 
3
1
 p

u
p
ils

9
, 
3
0
 p

u
p
ils

1
0
, 
2
7
 p

u
p
ils

1
0
, 
2
1
 p

u
p
ils

1
1
, 
3
 p

u
p
ils

1
1
, 
4
 p

u
p
ils

1
2
, 
2
8
 p

u
p
ils

1
2
, 
1
6
 p

u
p
ils

1
3
, 
3
2
 p

u
p
ils

1
3
, 
1
4
 p

u
p
ils

1
4
, 
1
0
 p

u
p
ils

1
4
, 
1
4
 p

u
p
ils

1
5
, 
9
 p

u
p
ils

1
5
, 
4
 p

u
p
ils

1
6
, 
1
 p

u
p
ils

1
6
, 
5
 p

u
p
ils

1
7
, 
0
 p

u
p
ils

1
7
, 
0
 p

u
p
ils

A
d
u
lt
/T

e
a
c
h
e
r,

 3
2

A
d
u
lt
/T

e
a
c
h
e
r,

 2
8

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

to
ta

l 
v

ic
ti

m
s

2003-04 2004-05

Primary Age Secondary Age

Page 150



 

 
1

3
 

C
h

a
rt 7

 -  A
g

e
 o

f d
is

c
rim

in
a
tio

n
 s

u
s
p

e
c

ts
/p

e
rp

e
tra

to
rs

 2
0

0
4

/0
5

1
%

4
%

4
%

1
1
%

1
3
%

1
1
%

3
%

2
0
%

1
6
%

9
%

8
%

1
%

1
%

4
%

5
%

8
%

9
%

1
5
%

1
3
%

5
%

1
1
%

1
1

%
1

0
%

7
%

3
%

0
%

5
%

1
0
%

1
5
%

2
0
%

2
5
%

3
0
%

3
5
%

4
0
%

4
5
%

5
0
%

<4, 1 pupils

<4, 2 pupils

4, 1 pupils

4, 1 pupils

5, 2 pupils

5, 8 pupils

6, 10 pupils

6, 10 pupils

7, 11 pupils

7, 16 pupils

8, 29 pupils

8, 17 pupils

9, 34 pupils

9, 30 pupils

10, 29 pupils

10, 25 pupils

11, 8 pupils

11, 10 pupils

12, 53 pupils

12, 21 pupils

13, 44 pupils

13, 21 pupils

14, 24 pupils

14, 19 pupils

15, 21 pupils

15, 14 pupils

16, 1 pupils

16, 5 pupils

17, 0 pupils

17, 0 pupils

Percentage of total suspects

2
0
0
3

-0
4

2
0

0
4

-0
5

P
rim

a
ry A

g
e

S
e
c
o

n
d

a
ry A

g
e

P
a
g
e
 1

5
1



 

 14 

 
Chart 8      

Ethnicity of Suspects/Perpetrators in Pupil initiated incidents - 
Primary Schools 

  

      

Ethnicity 2004/05 
Number 

2004/05 
Percentage 

2003/04 
Number 

2003/04 
Percentage 

Difference 

White British 26 25% 29 22% 3% 
White Irish 2 2% 1 1% 1% 
Greek/Greek Cypriot 4 4%   4% 
Turkish Cypriot 3 3% 1 1% 2% 
Kurdish 1 1% 3 2% -1% 
Turkish 2 2% 16 12% -10% 
Any other White 9 9% 9 7% 2% 
White and Black Caribbean 3 3% 4 3% 0% 
White and Black African   2 1% -1% 
White and Asian 2 2%   2% 
Any other Mixed 1 1% 4 3% -2% 
Indian 4 4% 1 1% 3% 
Pakistani 1 1%   1% 
Bangladeshi   1 1% -1% 
East African Asian     0% 
Any other Asian     0% 
Caribbean 24 23% 26 19% 4% 
African 16 15% 10 7% 8% 
Any other Black 2 2% 8 6% -4% 
Chinese     0% 
Any other Ethnic group 4 4% 2 1% 2% 

      
Chart 9 
Ethnicity of Suspects/Perpetrators in Pupil initiated incidents – 
Secondary Schools 

  

      

Ethnicity 2004/05 
Number 

2004/05 
Percentage 

2003/04 
Number 

2003/04 
Percentage 

Difference 

White British 21 24% 18 11% 13% 
White Irish 1 1% 2 1% 0% 
Greek/Greek Cypriot 2 2% 2 1% 1% 
Turkish Cypriot 2 2% 3 2% 0% 
Kurdish 5 6% 10 6% 0% 
Turkish 3 3% 6 4% 0% 
Any other White 5 6% 9 5% 0% 
White and Black Caribbean 8 9% 6 4% 5% 
White and Black African 4 5% 6 4% 1% 
White and Asian   1 1% -1% 
Any other Mixed 1 1% 6 4% -2% 
Indian 1 1% 1 1% 1% 
Pakistani 2 2% 1 1% 2% 
Bangladeshi     0% 
East African Asian     0% 
Any other Asian 4 5% 6 4% 1% 
Caribbean 16 18% 41 25% -7% 
African 8 9% 21 13% -4% 
Any other Black 2 2% 20 12% -10% 
Chinese 1 1%   1% 
Any other Ethnic group 2 2% 7 4% -2% 

Page 152



 

 15 

 
Chart 10    Ethnicity of Victims in Pupil initiated incidents - Primary Schools  

      

Ethnicity 2004/05 
Number 

2004/05 
Percentage 

2003/04 
Number 

2003/04 
Percentage 

Difference 

White British 18 17% 16 13% 4% 
White Irish 3 3% 3 2% 0% 
Greek/Greek Cypriot 1 1%   1% 
Turkish Cypriot   3 2% -2% 
Kurdish 1 1% 3 2% -1% 
Turkish 14 13% 15 12% 1% 
Any other White 2 2% 12 9% -8% 
White and Black Caribbean   1 1% -1% 
White and Black African 2 2% 2 2% 0% 
White and Asian 1 1%   1% 
Any other Mixed 3 3%   3% 
Indian 1 1% 2 2% -1% 
Pakistani 3 3% 4 3% 0% 
Bangladeshi     0% 
East African Asian 2 2% 2 2% 0% 
Any other Asian 1 1% 2 2% -1% 
Caribbean 22 21% 25 20% 1% 
African 24 22% 22 17% 5% 
Any other Black 4 4% 13 10% -6% 
Chinese 1 1%   1% 
Any other Ethnic group 4 4% 2 2% 2% 

      
Chart 11   Ethnicity of Victims in Pupil initiated 
incidents - Secondary Schools 

   

      

Ethnicity 2004/05 
Number 

2004/05 
Percentage 

2003/04 
Number 

2003/04 Percentage 

White British 29 44% 17 15% 29% 
White Irish 5 8% 5 4% 3% 
Greek/Greek Cypriot 1 2% 3 3% 1% 
Turkish Cypriot   6 5% 5% 
Kurdish 6 9% 4 4% 6% 
Turkish   4 4% 4% 
Any other White 3 5% 11 10% 5% 
White and Black Caribbean 3 5% 6 5% 1% 
White and Black African 1 2% 4 4% 2% 
White and Asian 2 3%   3% 
Any other Mixed 1 2% 3 3% 1% 
Indian 2 3% 6 5% 2% 
Pakistani   7 6% 6% 
Bangladeshi   2 2% 2% 
East African Asian     0% 
Any other Asian 1 2% 4 4% 2% 
Caribbean 6 9% 5 4% 5% 
African 5 8% 1 1% 7% 
Any other Black   6 5% 5% 
Chinese   2 2% 2% 
Any other Ethnic group 1 2% 18 16% -14% 

 
 
 

Page 153



 

 
1

6
 

                                
  

C
h

a
rt 1

2
 P

rim
a

ry
 E

th
n

ic
ity

 2
0

0
5

2
%

2
%

3
%

2
%

1
%

7
%

1
4

%

4
%

3
%

5
%

5
%

2
%

1
9

%

2
%

3
4

%

1
%

4
%

1
%

1
%

4
%

1
0

%

3
%

1
%

1
%

5
%

1
%

2
0

%

1
%

0
%

2
%

1
%

7
%

0
%

7
%

1
%

4
1

%

0
%

0
%

5
3

%

0
%

1
0

%

2
0

%

3
0

%

4
0

%

5
0

%

6
0

%

Any Other Ethnic Background

Asian - Any Other Asian

Asian - Bangladeshi

Asian - Indian

Asian - Pakistani

Asian - Total

Black - Caribbean

Black - Ghanaian

Black - Nigerian

Black - Other Black African

Black - Somalian

Black - Zairian/Congolese

Black African - Total

Black - Other Black

Black - Total

Chinese

Mixed - Any Other Mixed

Mixed - White and Asian

Mixed - White and Black African

Mixed - White and Black Caribbean

Mixed - Total

Other - Kurdish

Other - Latin/South/Central American

Other - Vietnamese

Other - Total

White - Albanian

White - British

White - Greek Cypriot

White - Gypsy/Roma

White - Irish

White - Kosovan

White - Other White

White - Traveller of Irish Heritage

White - Turkish

White - Turkish Cypriot

White - Total

Not Obtained

Refused

First Language not English

Page 154



 

 
1

7
 

  

C
h

a
rt 1

3
 S

e
c

o
n

d
a

ry
 E

th
n

ic
ity

 2
0

0
5

4
%

2
%

3
%

3
%

1
%

8
%

1
4

%

3
%

2
%

6
%

4
%

1
%

1
6

%

2
%

3
2

%

0
%

3
%

1
%

2
%

4
%

9
%

4
%

1
%

1
%

6
%

0
%

2
1

%

2
%

0
%

1
%

1
%

6
%

0
%

6
%

2
%

3
9

%

2
%

1
%

4
6

%

0
%

5
%

1
0

%

1
5

%

2
0

%

2
5

%

3
0

%

3
5

%

4
0

%

4
5

%

5
0

%

Any Other Ethnic Background

Asian - Any Other Asian

Asian - Bangladeshi

Asian - Indian

Asian - Pakistani

Asian Total

Black - Caribbean

Black - Ghanaian

Black - Nigerian

Black - Other Black African

Black - Somalian

Black - Zairian/Congolese

Black African Total

Black - Other Black

Black Total

Chinese

Mixed - Any Other Mixed

Mixed - White and Asian

Mixed - White and Black African

Mixed - White and Black Caribbean

Mixed Total

Other - Kurdish

Other - Latin/South/Central American

Other - Vietnamese

Other Total

White - Albanian

White - British

White - Greek Cypriot

White - Gypsy/Roma

White - Irish

White - Kosovan

White - Other White

White - Traveller of Irish Heritage

White - Turkish

White - Turkish Cypriot

White Total

Not Obtained

Refused

First Language Not English

Page 155



Page 156



 

 19 

 

Chart 14- Percentage and number of victims and suspects by gender 2002/03 v 2004/05

52%

38%

48%

62%

78%

68%

22%

32%

21%

100%

79%

56%

44%

100%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Male

Victims

03/04, 78

Male

Victims

04/05, 59

Female

Victims

03/04, 71

Female

Victims

04/05, 95

Male

Suspects

03/04, 193

Male

Suspects

04/05, 130

Female

Suspects

03/04, 56

Female

Suspects

04/05, 62

Male

Victims

03/04, 3

Male

Victims

04/05, 1

Female

Victims

03/04, 14

Female

Victims

04/05, 0

Male

Suspects

03/04, 5

Male

Suspects

04/05, 0

Female

Suspects

03/04, 4

Female

Suspects

04/05, 1

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

Pupil Incidents Adult Incidents

Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Mental Health Needs of Looked After Children
	CSAC_2006.01.05_Mental Health Needs of LAC Presentation

	6 November 2005 Performance data for the Children's Services
	7 The Adoption and Children Act 2002
	8 APA Assessment Report: Children's Services
	9 Framework i - Update
	CSAC_2006.01.05_Item 9_Appendix 1

	10 Safeguarding Children In Education
	11 Discriminatory Incidents

